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(ii) Where a designated contract market
itself generates the cash settlement price se-
ries, the designated contract market should
establish calculation procedures that safe-
guard against potential attempts to artifi-
cially influence the price. For example, if
the cash settlement price is derived by the
designated contract market based on a sur-
vey of cash market sources, the designated
contract market should maintain a list of
such entities which all should be reputable
sources with knowledge of the cash market.
In addition, the sample of sources polled
should be representative of the cash market,
and the poll should be conducted at a time
when trading in the cash market is active.

(iii) The cash-settlement calculation
should involve appropriate computational
procedures that eliminate or reduce the im-
pact of potentially unrepresentative data.

(2) Speculative Limits: Specific rules and
policies for speculative position limits are
set forth in part 151 and/or part 151, as appli-
cable, of the Commission’s regulations.

(3) Intraday Market Restrictions: Des-
ignated contract markets or swap execution
facilities should have in place intraday mar-
ket restrictions that pause or halt trading in
the event of extraordinary price moves that
may result in distorted prices. Such restric-
tions need to be coordinated with other mar-
kets that may be a proxy or a substitute for
the contracts traded on their facility. For
example, coordination with NYSE rule 80.B
Circuit Breaker Trading Halts. The des-
ignated contract market or swap execution
facility should adopt rules to specifically ad-
dress who is authorized to declare an emer-
gency; how the designated contract market
or swap execution facility will notify the
Commission of its decision that an emer-
gency exists; how it will address conflicts of
interest in the exercise of emergency author-
ity; and how it will coordinate trading halts
with markets that trade the underlying price
reference index or product.

(4) Settlement Method. The designated con-
tract market or swap execution facility
should follow the guidance in paragraph
(c)(4) (Contract Terms and Conditions Re-
quirements for Futures Contracts Settled by
Cash Settlement) of this appendix C to meet
compliance, or paragraph (b)(2) (Contract
Terms and Conditions Requirements for Fu-
tures Contracts Settled by Physical Deliv-
ery) of this appendix C, as appropriate.

[77 FR 36717, June 19, 2012]
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SOURCE: 76 FR 69430, Nov. 8, 2011, unless
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Subpart A—General Provisions
Applicable to Derivatives
Clearing Organizations

§39.1 Scope.

The provisions of this subpart A
apply to any derivatives clearing orga-
nization as defined under section la(15)
of the Act and §1.3 of this chapter
which is registered or deemed to be
registered with the Commission as a
derivatives clearing organization, is re-
quired to register as such with the
Commission pursuant to section 5b(a)
of the Act, or which voluntarily applies
to register as such with the Commis-
sion pursuant to section 5b(b) or other-
wise.

[76 FR 69430, Nov. 8, 2011, as amended at 83
FR 7996, Feb. 23, 2018]
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§39.2 Definitions.

For the purposes of this part:

Activity with a more complex risk pro-
file includes:

(1) Clearing credit default swaps,
credit default futures, or derivatives
that reference either credit default
swaps or credit default futures and

(2) Any other activity designated as
such by the Commission pursuant to
§39.33(a)(3).

Back test means a test that compares
a derivatives clearing organization’s
initial margin requirements with his-
torical price changes to determine the
extent of actual margin coverage.

Business day means the intraday pe-
riod of time starting at the business
hour of 8:15 a.m. and ending at the
business hour of 4:45 p.m., on all days
except Saturdays, Sundays, and any
holiday on which a derivatives clearing
organization and its domestic financial
markets are closed, including a Federal
holiday in the United States, as estab-
lished under 5 U.S.C. 6103.

Customer account or customer origin
means ‘‘customer account’” as defined
in §1.3 of this chapter.

Depository institution has the meaning
set forth in section 19(b)(1)(A) of the
Federal Reserve Act (12 TU.S.C.
461(b)(1)(A)).

Enterprise risk management means an
enterprise-wide strategic business
process intended to identify potential
events that may affect the enterprise
and to manage the probability or im-
pact of those events on the enterprise
as a whole, such that the overall risk
remains within the enterprise’s risk
appetite and provides reasonable assur-
ance that the derivatives clearing orga-
nization can continue to achieve its ob-
jectives.

Fully collateralized position means a
contract cleared by a derivatives clear-
ing organization that requires the de-
rivatives clearing organization to hold,
at all times, funds in the form of the
required payment sufficient to cover
the maximum possible loss that a
party or counterparty could incur upon
liquidation or expiration of the con-
tract.

House account or house origin means a
clearing member account which is not
subject to section 4d(a) or 4d(f) of the
Act.
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Key personnel means derivatives
clearing organization personnel who
play a significant role in the oper-
ations of the derivatives clearing orga-
nization, the provision of clearing and
settlement services, risk management,
or oversight of compliance with the
Act and Commission regulations in
this chapter, and orders promulgated
thereunder. Key personnel include, but
are not limited to, those persons who
are or perform the functions of any of
the following: Chief executive officer;
president; chief compliance officer;
chief operating officer; chief risk offi-
cer; chief financial officer; chief tech-
nology officer; chief information secu-
rity officer; and emergency contacts or
persons who are responsible for busi-
ness continuity or disaster recovery
planning or program execution.

Stress test means a test that compares
the impact of potential extreme price
moves, changes in option volatility,
and/or changes in other inputs that af-
fect the value of a position, to the fi-
nancial resources of a derivatives
clearing organization, clearing mem-
ber, or large trader, to determine the
adequacy of the financial resources of
such entities.

Subpart C derivatives clearing organiza-
tion means any derivatives clearing or-
ganization, as defined in section la(15)
of the Act and §1.3 of this chapter,
which:

(1) Is registered as a derivatives
clearing organization under section 5b
of the Act;

(2) Is not a systemically important
derivatives clearing organization; and

(3) Has become subject to the provi-
sions of subpart C of this part, pursu-
ant to §39.31.

Systemically important derivatives
clearing organization means a financial
market utility that is a derivatives
clearing organization registered under
section 5b of the Act, which is cur-
rently designated by the Financial Sta-
bility Oversight Council to be system-
ically important and for which the
Commission acts as the Supervisory
Agency pursuant to 12 U.S.C. 5462(8).

Trust company means a trust com-
pany that is a member of the Federal
Reserve System, under section 1 of the
Federal Reserve Act (12 U.S.C. 221), but
that does not meet the definition of de-

§39.3

pository institution as set out in this
section.

U.S. branch or agency of a foreign
banking organization means the U.S.
branch or agency of a foreign banking
organization as defined in section 1(b)
of the International Banking Act of
1978 (12 U.S.C. 3101).

[85 FR 4850, Jan. 27, 2020]

§39.3 Procedures for registration.

(a) Application for registration—(1)
General procedure. An entity seeking to
register as a derivatives clearing orga-
nization shall file an application for
registration with the Secretary of the
Commission in the format and manner
specified by the Commission. The Com-
mission will review the application for
registration as a derivatives clearing
organization pursuant to the 180-day
timeframe and procedures specified in
section 6(a) of the Act, and may ap-
prove or deny the application. If the
Commission approves the application,
the Commission will register the appli-
cant as a derivatives clearing organiza-
tion subject to conditions as appro-
priate.

(2) Application. Any entity seeking to
register as a derivatives clearing orga-
nization shall submit to the Commis-
sion a completed Form DCO, which
shall include a cover sheet, all applica-
ble exhibits, and any supplemental ma-
terials, as provided in appendix A to
this part (application). The Commis-
sion will not commence processing an
application unless the applicant has
filed the application as required by this
section. Failure to file a completed ap-
plication will preclude the Commission
from determining that an application
is materially complete, as provided in
section 6(a) of the Act. Upon its own
initiative, an applicant may file with
its completed application additional
information that may be necessary or
helpful to the Commission in proc-
essing the application.

(3) Submission of supplemental informa-
tion. The filing of a completed applica-
tion is a minimum requirement and
does not create a presumption that the
application is materially complete or
that supplemental information will not
be required. At any time during the ap-
plication review process, the Commis-
sion may request that the applicant
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provide supplemental information in
order for the Commission to process
the application. The applicant shall
provide supplemental information in
the format and manner specified by the
Commission.

(4) Application amendments. An appli-
cant shall promptly amend its applica-
tion if it discovers a material omission
or error, or if there is a material
change in the information provided to
the Commission in the application or
other information provided in connec-
tion with the application. An applicant
is only required to submit exhibits and
other information that are relevant to
the application amendment when filing
a Form DCO for the purpose of amend-
ing its pending application.

(6) Public information. The following
sections of all applications to become a
registered derivatives clearing organi-
zation will be public: First page of the
Form DCO cover sheet (up to and in-
cluding the General Information sec-
tion), Exhibit A-1 (regulatory compli-
ance chart), Exhibit A-2 (proposed
rulebook), Exhibit A-3 (narrative sum-
mary of proposed clearing activities),
Exhibit A-7 (documents setting forth
the applicant’s corporate organiza-
tional structure), Exhibit A-8 (docu-
ments establishing the applicant’s
legal status and certificate(s) of good
standing or its equivalent), and any
other part of the application not cov-
ered by a request for confidential treat-
ment, subject to §145.9 of this chapter.

(6) Extension of time for review. The
Commission may further extend the re-
view period in paragraph (a)(1) of this
section for any period of time to which
the applicant agrees in writing.

(b) Stay of application review. (1) The
Commission may stay the running of
the 180-day review period if an applica-
tion is materially incomplete, in ac-
cordance with section 6(a) of the Act.

(2) Delegation of authority. (i) The
Commission hereby delegates, until it
orders otherwise, to the Director of the
Division of Clearing and Risk or the
Director’s designee, with the concur-
rence of the General Counsel or the
General Counsel’s designee, the author-
ity to notify an applicant seeking reg-
istration as a derivatives clearing orga-
nization that the application is materi-
ally incomplete and the running of the
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180-day period under section 6(a) of the
Act is stayed.

(ii) The Director of the Division of
Clearing and Risk may submit to the
Commission for its consideration any
matter which has been delegated in
this paragraph.

(iii) Nothing in this paragraph pro-
hibits the Commission, at its election,
from exercising the authority dele-
gated in paragraph (b)(2)(i) of this sec-
tion.

(c) Withdrawal of application for reg-
istration. An applicant for registration
may withdraw its application sub-
mitted pursuant to paragraph (a) of
this section by filing such a request
with the Secretary of the Commission
in the format and manner specified by
the Commission. Withdrawal of an ap-
plication for registration shall not af-
fect any action taken or to be taken by
the Commission based upon actions,
activities, or events occurring during
the time that the application for reg-
istration was pending with the Com-
mission.

(d) Amendment of an order of registra-
tion. (1) A derivatives clearing organi-
zation requesting an amendment to an
order of registration shall file the re-
quest with the Secretary of the Com-
mission in the form and manner speci-
fied by the Commission.

(2) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall provide to the Commission,
upon the Commission’s request, any
additional information and documenta-
tion necessary to review a request to
amend an order of registration.

(3) The Commission shall issue an
amended order of registration upon a
Commission determination, in its own
discretion, that the derivatives clear-
ing organization would maintain com-
pliance with the Act and the Commis-
sion’s regulations in this chapter upon
amendment to the order. If deemed ap-
propriate, the Commission may issue
an amended order of registration sub-
ject to conditions.

(4) The Commission may decline to
issue an amended order based upon a
Commission determination, in its own
discretion, that the derivatives clear-
ing organization would not continue to
maintain compliance with the Act and
the Commission’s regulations in this
chapter upon amendment to the order.
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(e) Reinstatement of dormant registra-
tion. Before accepting products for
clearing, a dormant derivatives clear-
ing organization as defined in §40.1 of
this chapter must reinstate its reg-
istration under the procedures of para-
graph (a) of this section; provided, how-
ever, that an application for reinstate-
ment may rely upon previously sub-
mitted materials that still pertain to,
and accurately describe, current condi-
tions.

(f) Vacation of registration—(1) Re-
quest. A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion may have its registration vacated
pursuant to section 7 of the Act by sub-
mitting a request to the Secretary of
the Commission in the format and
manner specified by the Commission. A
vacation of registration shall not affect
any action taken or to be taken by the
Commission based upon actions, activi-
ties or events occurring during the
time that the derivatives clearing or-
ganization was registered with the
Commission. The request shall include:

(i) The date that the vacation should
take effect, which must be at least
ninety days after the request was sub-
mitted;

(ii) A description of how the deriva-
tives clearing organization intends to
transfer or otherwise unwind all open
positions at the derivatives clearing or-
ganization and how such actions reflect
the interests of affected clearing mem-
bers and their customers;

(iii) A statement that the derivatives
clearing organization will continue to
maintain its books and records for the
requisite statutory and regulatory re-
tention periods after its registration
has been vacated; and

(iv) A statement that the derivatives
clearing organization will continue to
make its books and records available
for inspection by any representative of
the Commission or the United States
Department of Justice after its reg-
istration has been vacated, as required
by §1.31 of this chapter.

(2) Notice to registered entities. The
Commission shall fulfill its obligation
to send a copy of the request and the
order of vacation to all other reg-
istered entities by posting the docu-
ments on the Commission website.

(g) Request for transfer of open inter-
est—(1) Submission. A derivatives clear-

§39.4

ing organization seeking to transfer its
positions comprising open interest for
clearing and settlement to another
clearing organization shall submit
rules for Commission approval pursu-
ant to §40.5 of this chapter.

(2) Required information. The rule sub-
mission shall include, at a minimum,
the following:

(i) The underlying agreement that
governs the transfer;

(ii) A description of the transfer, in-
cluding the reason for the transfer and
the impact of the transfer on the rights
and obligations of clearing members
and market participants holding the
positions that comprise the derivatives
clearing organization’s open interest;

(iii) A discussion of the transferee’s
ability to comply with the Act, includ-
ing the core principles applicable to de-
rivatives clearing organizations, and
the Commission’s regulations in this
chapter, as applicable;

(iv) The transferee’s rules marked to
show changes that would result from
acceptance of the transferred positions;

(v) A list of products for which the
derivatives clearing organization re-
quests transfer of open interest; and

(vi) A representation by the trans-
feree that it is in and will maintain
compliance with any applicable provi-
sions of the Act, including the core
principles applicable to derivatives
clearing organizations, and the Com-
mission’s regulations upon the transfer
of the open interest.

(8) Commission action. The Commis-
sion may request additional informa-
tion in support of a rule submission
filed under paragraph (g)(1) of this sec-
tion, and may grant approval of the
rules in accordance with §40.5 of this
chapter.

[76 FR 69430, Nov. 8, 2011, as amended at 85
FR 4851, Jan. 27, 2020]

§39.4 Procedures for implementing de-
rivatives clearing organization
rules and clearing new products.

(a) Request for approval of rules. A reg-
istered derivatives clearing organiza-
tion may request, pursuant to the pro-
cedures of §40.5 of this chapter, that
the Commission approve any or all of
its rules and subsequent amendments
thereto, including operational rules,
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prior to their implementation or, not-
withstanding the provisions of section
5c(c)(2) of the Act, at any time there-
after, under the procedures of §40.5 of
this chapter. A derivatives clearing or-
ganization may label as ‘‘approved by
the Commission’ only those rules that
have been so approved.

(b) Self-certification of rules. Proposed
new or amended rules of a derivatives
clearing organization not voluntarily
submitted for prior Commission ap-
proval pursuant to paragraph (a) of
this section must be submitted to the
Commission with a certification that
the proposed new rule or rule amend-
ment complies with the Act and rules
thereunder pursuant to the procedures
of §40.6 of this chapter.

(c) Acceptance of mew products for
clearing. (1) A dormant derivatives
clearing organization within the mean-
ing of §40.1 of this chapter may not ac-
cept for clearing a new product until
its registration as a derivatives clear-
ing organization is reinstated under
the procedures of §39.3 of this part; pro-
vided however, that an application for
reinstatement may rely upon pre-
viously submitted materials that still
pertain to, and accurately describe,
current conditions.

(2) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion that accepts for clearing a new
product that is a swap shall comply
with the requirements of §39.5 of this
part.

(d) Orders regarding competition. An
applicant for registration or a reg-
istered derivatives clearing organiza-
tion may request that the Commission
issue an order concerning whether a
rule or practice of the organization is
the least anticompetitive means of
achieving the objectives, purposes, and
policies of the Act.

(e) Holding securities in a futures port-
folio margining account. A derivatives
clearing organization seeking to pro-
vide a portfolio margining program
under which securities would be held in
a futures account as defined in §1.3 of
this chapter, shall submit rules to im-
plement such portfolio margining pro-
gram for Commission approval in ac-
cordance with §40.5 of this chapter.
Concurrent with the submission of
such rules for Commission approval,
the derivatives clearing organization
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shall petition the Commission for an
order under section 4d(a) of the Act.

[76 FR 69430, Nov. 8, 2011, as amended at 83
FR 7996, Feb. 23, 2018; 85 FR 4852, Jan. 27,
2020]

§39.5 Review of swaps for Commission
determination on clearing require-
ment.

(a) Eligibility to clear swaps. (1) A de-
rivatives clearing organization shall be
presumed eligible to accept for clearing
any swap that is within a group, cat-
egory, type, or class of swaps that the
derivatives clearing organization al-
ready clears. Such presumption of eli-
gibility, however, is subject to review
by the Commission.

(2) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion that wishes to accept for clearing
any swap that is not within a group,
category, type, or class of swaps that
the derivatives clearing organization
already clears shall request a deter-
mination by the Commission of the de-
rivatives clearing organization’s eligi-
bility to clear such a swap before ac-
cepting the swap for clearing. The re-
quest, which shall be filed electroni-
cally with the Secretary of the Com-
mission, shall address the derivatives
clearing organization’s ability, if it ac-
cepts the swap for clearing, to main-
tain compliance with section 5b(c)(2) of
the Act, specifically:

(i) The sufficiency of the derivatives
clearing organization’s financial re-
sources; and

(ii) The derivative clearing organiza-
tion’s ability to manage the risks asso-
ciated with clearing the swap, espe-
cially if the Commission determines
that the swap is required to be cleared.

(b) Swap submissions. (1) A derivatives
clearing organization shall submit to
the Commission each swap, or any
group, category, type, or class of swaps
that it plans to accept for clearing. The
derivatives clearing organization mak-
ing the submission must be eligible
under paragraph (a) of this section to
accept for clearing the submitted swap,
or group, category, type, or class of
swaps.

(2) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall submit swaps to the Commis-
sion, to the extent reasonable and prac-
ticable to do so, by group, category,
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type, or class of swaps. The Commis-
sion may in its reasonable discretion
consolidate multiple submissions from
one derivatives clearing organization
or subdivide a derivatives clearing or-
ganization’s submission as appropriate
for review.

(3) The submission shall be filed elec-
tronically with the Secretary of the
Commission and shall include:

(i) A statement that the derivatives
clearing organization is eligible to ac-
cept the swap, or group, category, type,
or class of swaps for clearing and de-
scribes the extent to which, if the Com-
mission were to determine that the
swap, or group, category, type, or class
of swaps is required to be cleared, the
derivatives clearing organization will
be able to maintain compliance with
section 5b(c)(2) of the Act;

(ii) A statement that includes, but is
not limited to, information that will
assist the Commission in making a
quantitative and qualitative assess-
ment of the following factors:

(A) The existence of significant out-
standing notional exposures, trading li-
quidity, and adequate pricing data;

(B) The availability of rule frame-
work, capacity, operational expertise
and resources, and credit support infra-
structure to clear the contract on
terms that are consistent with the ma-
terial terms and trading conventions
on which the contract is then traded;

(C) The effect on the mitigation of
systemic risk, taking into account the
size of the market for such contract
and the resources of the derivatives
clearing organization available to clear
the contract;

(D) The effect on competition, in-
cluding appropriate fees and charges
applied to clearing; and

(E) The existence of reasonable legal
certainty in the event of the insol-
vency of the relevant derivatives clear-
ing organization or one or more of its
clearing members with regard to the
treatment of customer and swap
counterparty positions, funds, and
property;

(iii) Product specifications, including
copies of any standardized legal docu-
mentation, generally accepted contract
terms, standard practices for managing
any life cycle events associated with

§39.5

the swap, and the extent to which the
swap is electronically confirmable;

(iv) Participant eligibility standards,
if different from the derivatives clear-
ing organization’s general participant
eligibility standards;

(v) Pricing sources, models, and pro-
cedures, demonstrating an ability to
obtain sufficient price data to measure
credit exposures in a timely and accu-
rate manner, including any agreements
with clearing members to provide price
data and copies of executed agreements
with third-party price vendors, and in-
formation about any price reference
index used, such as the name of the
index, the source that calculates it, the
methodology used to calculate the
price reference index and how often it
is calculated, and when and where it is
published publicly;

(vi) Risk management procedures, in-
cluding measurement and monitoring
of credit exposures, initial and vari-
ation margin methodology, methodolo-
gies for stress testing and back testing,
settlement procedures, and default
management procedures;

(vii) Applicable rules, manuals, poli-
cies, or procedures;

(viii) A description of the manner in
which the derivatives clearing organi-
zation has provided notice of the sub-
mission to its members and a summary
of any views on the submission ex-
pressed by the members (a copy of the
notice to members shall be included
with the submission); and

(ix) Any additional information spe-
cifically requested by the Commission.

(4) The Commission must have re-
ceived the submission by the open of
business on the business day preceding
the acceptance of the swap, or group,
category, type, or class of swaps for
clearing.

(6) The submission will be made
available to the public and posted on
the Commission Web site for a 30-day
public comment period. A derivatives
clearing organization that wishes to re-
quest confidential treatment for por-
tions of its submission may do so in ac-
cordance with the procedures set out in
§145.9(d) of this chapter.

(6) The Commission will review the
submission and determine whether the
swap, or group, category, type, or class
of swaps described in the submission is
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required to be cleared. The Commission
will make its determination not later
than 90 days after a complete submis-
sion has been received, unless the sub-
mitting derivatives clearing organiza-
tion agrees to an extension. The deter-
mination of when such submission is
complete shall be at the sole discretion
of the Commission. In making a deter-
mination that a clearing requirement
shall apply, the Commission may im-
pose such terms and conditions to the
clearing requirement as the Commis-
sion determines to be appropriate.

(c) Commission-initiated reviews. (1)
The Commission, on an ongoing basis,
will review swaps that have not been
accepted for clearing by a derivatives
clearing organization to make a deter-
mination as to whether the swaps
should be required to be cleared. In un-
dertaking such reviews, the Commis-
sion will use information obtained pur-
suant to Commission regulations from
swap data repositories, swap dealers,
and major swap participants, and any
other available information.

(2) Notice regarding any determina-
tion made under paragraph (c)(1) of
this section will be made available to
the public and posted on the Commis-
sion Web site for a 30-day public com-
ment period.

(3) If no derivatives clearing organi-
zation has accepted for clearing a par-
ticular swap, group, category, type, or
class of swaps that the Commission
finds would otherwise be subject to a
clearing requirement, the Commission
will:

(i) Investigate the relevant facts and
circumstances;

(ii) Within 30 days of the completion
of its investigation, issue a public re-
port containing the results of the in-
vestigation; and

(iii) Take such actions as the Com-
mission determines to be necessary and
in the public interest, which may in-
clude requiring the retaining of ade-
quate margin or capital by parties to
the swap, group, category, type, or
class of swaps.

(d) Stay of clearing requirement. (1)
After making a determination that a
swap, or group, category, type, or class
of swaps is required to be cleared, the
Commission, on application of a
counterparty to a swap or on its own
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initiative, may stay the clearing re-
quirement until the Commission com-
pletes a review of the terms of the
swap, or group, category, type, or class
of swaps and the clearing arrangement.

(2) A counterparty to a swap that
wishes to apply for a stay of the clear-
ing requirement for that swap shall
submit a written request to the Sec-
retary of the Commission that in-
cludes:

(i) The identity and contact informa-
tion of the counterparty to the swap;

(ii) The terms of the swap subject to
the clearing requirement;

(iii) The name of the derivatives
clearing organization clearing the
swap;

(iv) A description of the clearing ar-
rangement; and

(v) A statement explaining why the
swap should not be subject to a clear-
ing requirement.

(3) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion that has accepted for clearing a
swap, or group, category, type, or class
of swaps that is subject to a stay of the
clearing requirement shall provide any
information requested by the Commis-
sion in the course of its review.

(4) The Commission will complete its
review not later than 90 days after
issuance of the stay, unless the deriva-
tives clearing organization that clears
the swap, or group, category, type, or
class of swaps agrees to an extension.

(5) Upon completion of its review, the
Commission may:

(i) Determine, subject to any terms
and conditions as the Commission de-
termines to be appropriate, that the
swap, or group, category, type, or class
of swaps must be cleared; or

(ii) Determine that the clearing re-
quirement will not apply to the swap,
or group, category, type, or class of
swaps, but clearing may continue on a
non-mandatory basis.

§39.6 [Reserved]

§39.7 Enforceability.

An agreement, contract or trans-
action submitted to a derivatives
clearing organization for clearing shall
not be void, voidable, subject to rescis-
sion, or otherwise invalidated or ren-
dered unenforceable as a result of:
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(a) A violation by the derivatives
clearing organization of the provisions
of the Act or of Commission regula-
tions; or

(b) Any Commission proceeding to
alter or supplement a rule under sec-
tion 8a(7) of the Act, to declare an
emergency under section 8a(9) of the
Act, or any other proceeding the effect
of which is to alter, supplement, or re-
quire a derivatives clearing organiza-
tion to adopt a specific rule or proce-
dure, or to take or refrain from taking
a specific action.

§39.8 Fraud in connection with the
clearing of transactions on a de-
rivatives clearing organization.

It shall be unlawful for any person,
directly or indirectly, in or in connec-
tion with the clearing of transactions
by a derivatives clearing organization:

(a) To cheat or defraud or attempt to
cheat or defraud any person;

(b) Willfully to make or cause to be
made to any person any false report or
statement or cause to be entered for
any person any false record; or

(c) Willfully to deceive or attempt to
deceive any person by any means what-
soever.

Subpart B—Compliance with Core
Principles

§39.9 Scope.

The provisions of this subpart B
apply to any derivatives clearing orga-
nization, as defined under section 1a(15)
of the Act and §1.3 of this chapter,
which is registered or deemed to be
registered with the Commission as a
derivatives clearing organization, is re-
quired to register as such with the
Commission pursuant to section 5b(a)
of the Act, or which voluntarily reg-
isters as such with the Commission
pursuant to section 5b(b) or otherwise.

[76 FR 69430, Nov. 8, 2011, as amended at 83
FR 7996, Feb. 23, 2018]

§39.10 Compliance with core prin-
ciples.

(a) To be registered and to maintain
registration as a derivatives clearing
organization, a derivatives clearing or-
ganization shall comply with each core
principle set forth in section 5b(c)(2) of
the Act and any requirement that the
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Commission may impose by rule or reg-
ulation pursuant to section 8a(b) of the
Act; and

(b) Subject to any rule or regulation
prescribed by the Commission, a reg-
istered derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall have reasonable discretion in
establishing the manner by which it
complies with each core principle.

(c) Chief compliance officer—(1) Des-
ignation. Each derivatives clearing or-
ganization shall establish the position
of chief compliance officer, designate
an individual to serve as the chief com-
pliance officer, and provide the chief
compliance officer with the full respon-
sibility and authority to develop and
enforce, in consultation with the board
of directors or the senior officer, appro-
priate compliance policies and proce-
dures, to fulfill the duties set forth in
the Act and Commission regulations.

(i) The individual designated to serve
as chief compliance officer shall have
the background and skills appropriate
for fulfilling the responsibilities of the
position. No individual who would be
disqualified from registration under
sections 8a(2) or 8a(3) of the Act may
serve as a chief compliance officer.

(ii) The chief compliance officer shall
report to the board of directors or the
senior officer of the derivatives clear-
ing organization or, if the derivatives
clearing organization engages in sub-
stantial activities not related to clear-
ing, the senior officer responsible for
the derivatives clearing organization’s
clearing activities. The board of direc-
tors or the senior officer shall approve
the compensation of the chief compli-
ance officer.

(iii) The chief compliance officer
shall meet with the board of directors
or the senior officer at least once a
year.

(iv) A change in the designation of
the individual serving as the chief com-
pliance officer of the derivatives clear-
ing organization shall be reported to
the Commission in accordance with the
requirements of §39.19(c)(4)(x).

(2) Chief compliance officer duties. The
chief compliance officer’s duties shall
include, but are not limited to:

(i) Reviewing the derivatives clearing
organization’s compliance with the
core principles set forth in section 5b of
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the Act, and the Commission’s regula-
tions thereunder;

(ii) In consultation with the board of
directors or the senior officer, resolv-
ing any conflicts of interest that may
arise;

(iii) Establishing and administering
written policies and procedures reason-
ably designed to prevent violation of
the Act;

(iv) Taking reasonable steps to en-
sure compliance with the Act and Com-
mission regulations relating to agree-
ments, contracts, or transactions, and
with Commission regulations pre-
scribed under section 5b of the Act;

(v) Establishing procedures for the
remediation of noncompliance issues
identified by the chief compliance offi-
cer through any compliance office re-
view, look-back, internal or external
audit finding, self-reported error, or
validated complaint; and

(vi) Establishing and following appro-
priate procedures for the handling,
management response, remediation, re-
testing, and closing of noncompliance
issues.

(3) Annual report. The chief compli-
ance officer shall, not less than annu-
ally, prepare and sign a written report
that covers the most recently com-
pleted fiscal year of the derivatives
clearing organization. The annual re-
port shall, at a minimum:

(i) Contain a description of the de-
rivatives clearing organization’s writ-
ten policies and procedures, including
the code of ethics and conflict of inter-
est policies; provided that, to the ex-
tent that the derivatives clearing orga-
nization’s written policies and proce-
dures have mnot materially changed
since they were most recently de-
scribed in an annual report to the Com-
mission, and if the annual report con-
taining the most recent description
was submitted within the last five
years, the annual report may instead
incorporate by reference the relevant
descriptions from the most recent an-
nual report containing the description;

(ii) Review each core principle and
applicable Commission regulation in
this chapter including, in the case of
systemically important derivatives
clearing organizations and subpart C
derivatives clearing organizations, reg-
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ulations in subpart C of this part, and
with respect to each:

(A) Identify, by name, rule number,
or other identifier, the compliance
policies and procedures that are de-
signed to ensure compliance with each
core principle and applicable regula-
tion in this chapter;

(B) Provide an assessment as to the
effectiveness of these policies and pro-
cedures;

(C) Discuss areas for improvement,
and recommend potential or prospec-
tive changes or improvements to the
derivatives clearing organization’s
compliance program and resources al-
located to compliance;

(iii) List any material changes to
compliance policies and procedures
since the last annual report;

(iv) Describe the financial, manage-
rial, and operational resources set
aside for compliance with the Act and
Commission regulations; and

(v) Describe any material compliance
matters, including incidents of non-
compliance, since the date of the last
annual report, and describe the cor-
responding action taken.

(4) Submission of annual report to the
Commission. (i) Prior to submitting the
annual report to the Commission, the
chief compliance officer shall provide
the annual report to the board of direc-
tors or the senior officer of the deriva-
tives clearing organization or, if the
derivatives clearing organization en-
gages in substantial activities not re-
lated to clearing, the senior officer re-
sponsible for the derivatives clearing
organization’s clearing activities, for
review. Submission of the report to the
board of directors or the senior officer
shall be recorded in the board minutes
or otherwise, as evidence of compliance
with the requirement in this paragraph
(¢)(4)(i). The annual report shall de-
scribe the process by which it was sub-
mitted to the board of directors or the
senior officer. When submitted to the
Commission, the annual report shall be
accompanied by a cover letter, notice,
or other document that specifies the
date on which it was submitted to the
board of directors or the senior officer.

(ii) The annual report shall be sub-
mitted to the Secretary of the Com-
mission in the format and manner
specified by the Commission not more
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than 90 days after the end of the de-
rivatives clearing organization’s fiscal
year. The report shall include a certifi-
cation by the chief compliance officer
that, to the best of his or her knowl-
edge and reasonable belief, and under
penalty of law, the annual report is ac-
curate and complete.

(iii) The derivatives clearing organi-
zation shall promptly submit an
amended annual report if material er-
rors or omissions in the report are
identified after submission. An amend-
ment must contain the certification re-
quired under paragraph (c)(4)(ii) of this
section.

(iv) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion may request from the Commission
an extension of time to submit its an-
nual report in accordance with
§39.19(c)(3) of this part.

(5) Recordkeeping. (i) The derivatives
clearing organization shall maintain:

(A) A copy of all compliance policies
and procedures and all other policies
and procedures adopted in furtherance
of compliance with the Act and Com-
mission regulations;

(B) Copies of materials, including
written reports provided to the board
of directors or the senior officer in con-
nection with the review of the annual
report under paragraph (c)(4)(i) of this
section; and

(C) Any records relevant to the an-
nual report, including, but not limited
to, work papers and other documents
that form the basis of the report, and
memoranda, correspondence, other
documents, and records that are cre-
ated, sent, or received in connection
with the annual report and contain
conclusions, opinions, analyses, or fi-
nancial data related to the annual re-
port.

(ii) The derivatives clearing organi-
zation shall maintain records in ac-
cordance with §1.31 of this chapter and
§39.20 of this part.

(d) Enterprise risk management—(1)
General. A derivatives clearing organi-
zation shall have an enterprise risk
management program that identifies
and assesses sources of risk and their
potential impact on the operations and
services of the derivatives clearing or-
ganization. The derivatives clearing or-
ganization shall measure, monitor, and
manage identified sources of risk on an
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ongoing basis, including through the
development and use of appropriate in-
formation systems. The derivatives
clearing organization shall test the ef-
fectiveness of any mitigating controls
employed to reduce identified sources
of risk to ensure that the risks are
properly mitigated.

(2) Enterprise risk management frame-
work. A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall establish and maintain writ-
ten policies and procedures, approved
by its board of directors or a com-
mittee of the board of directors that
establish an appropriate enterprise risk
management framework. The frame-
work shall be reviewed at least annu-
ally by the board of directors or com-
mittee of the board of directors and up-
dated as necessary.

(3) Standards for enterprise risk man-
agement framework. A derivatives clear-
ing organization shall follow generally
accepted standards and industry best
practices in the development and re-
view of its enterprise risk management
framework, assessment of the perform-
ance of its enterprise risk management
program, and management and mitiga-
tion of risk to the derivatives clearing
organization.

(4) Enterprise risk officer. A deriva-
tives clearing organization shall iden-
tify as its enterprise risk officer an ap-
propriate individual that exercises the
full responsibility and authority to
manage the enterprise risk manage-
ment program of the derivatives clear-
ing organization. The enterprise risk
officer shall have the authority, inde-
pendence, resources, expertise, and ac-
cess to relevant information necessary
to fulfill the responsibilities of the po-
sition, including access to the board of
directors of the organization for which
the enterprise risk officer is respon-
sible for managing the risks or an ap-
propriate committee thereof, con-
sistent with the requirements of this
section.

[76 FR 69430, Nov. 8, 2011, as amended at 85
FR 4852, Jan. 27, 2020]

§39.11 Financial resources.

(a) General. A derivatives clearing or-
ganization shall have adequate finan-
cial, operational, and managerial re-
sources, as determined by the Commis-
sion, to discharge each responsibility
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of the derivatives clearing organiza-
tion. A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall maintain sufficient financial
resources to cover its exposures with a
high degree of confidence. At a min-
imum, each derivatives clearing orga-
nization shall possess financial re-
sources that exceed the total amount
that would:

(1) Enable the derivatives clearing
organization to meet its financial obli-
gations to its clearing members not-
withstanding a default by the clearing
member creating the largest financial
exposure for the derivatives clearing
organization in extreme but plausible
market conditions; Provided that if a
clearing member controls another
clearing member or is under common
control with another clearing member,
the affiliated clearing members shall
be deemed to be a single clearing mem-
ber for purposes of this provision; and

(2) Enable the derivatives clearing
organization to cover its operating
costs for a period of at least one year,
calculated on a rolling basis. A deriva-
tives clearing organization shall iden-
tify and adequately manage its general
business risks and hold sufficient liquid
resources to cover potential business
losses that are not related to clearing
members’ defaults, so that the deriva-
tives clearing organization can con-
tinue to provide services as a going
concern.

(b) Types of financial resources. (1) Fi-
nancial resources available to satisfy
the requirements of paragraph (a)(1) of
this section may include:

(i) The derivatives clearing organiza-
tion’s own capital;

(ii) Guaranty fund deposits;

(iii) Default insurance;

(iv) Potential assessments for addi-
tional guaranty fund contributions, if
permitted by the derivatives clearing
organization’s rules; and

(v) Any other financial resource
deemed acceptable by the Commission.

(vi) Any other financial resource
deemed acceptable by the Commission.

(2) Financial resources available to
satisfy the requirements of paragraph
(a)(2) of this section may include:

(i) The derivatives clearing organiza-
tion’s own capital; and

(ii) Any other financial resource
deemed acceptable by the Commission.
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(3) A financial resource may be allo-
cated, in whole or in part, to satisfy
the requirements of either paragraph
(a)(1) or paragraph (a)(2) of this sec-
tion, but not both paragraphs, and only
to the extent the use of such financial
resource is not otherwise limited by
the Act, Commission regulations, the
derivatives clearing organization’s
rules, or any contractual arrangements
to which the derivatives clearing orga-
nization is a party.

(c) Calculation of financial resources
requirements. (1) A derivatives clearing
organization shall, on a monthly basis,
perform stress tests that will allow it
to make a reasonable calculation of
the financial resources needed to meet
the requirements of paragraph (a)(1) of
this section. The derivatives clearing
organization shall have reasonable dis-
cretion in determining the method-
ology used to calculate the require-
ments, subject to the limitations iden-
tified in paragraph (c)(2) of this sec-
tion, and provided that the method-
ology must take into account both his-
torical data and hypothetical sce-
narios. The Commission may review
the methodology and require changes
as appropriate. The requirements of
this paragraph (c) do not apply to fully
collateralized positions.

(2) When calculating its largest fi-
nancial exposure, a derivatives clear-
ing organization:

(i) In netting its exposure against the
clearing member’s initial margin,
shall:

(A) Use only that portion of the mar-
gin amount on deposit (including ini-
tial margin and any add-ons) that is re-
quired; and

(B) Use customer margin (including
initial margin and any add-ons) only to
the extent permitted by parts 1 and 22
of this chapter, as applicable;

(ii) Shall combine the customer and
house stress test losses of each clearing
member using the same stress test sce-
narios;

(iii) May net any gains in the house
account with losses in the customer ac-
count, if permitted by the derivatives
clearing organization’s rules, but shall
not net losses in the house account
with gains in the customer account;
and
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(iv) With respect to a clearing mem-
ber’s cleared swaps customer account,
may net customer gains against cus-
tomer losses only to the extent per-
mitted by the derivatives clearing or-
ganization’s rules.

(3) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall, on a monthly basis, make a
reasonable calculation of its projected
operating costs over a 12-month period
in order to determine the amount need-
ed to meet the requirements of para-
graph (a)(2) of this section. The deriva-
tives clearing organization shall have
reasonable discretion in determining
the methodology used to compute such
projected operating costs. The Com-
mission may review the methodology
and require changes as appropriate.

(d) Valuation of financial resources. (1)
At appropriate intervals, but not less
than monthly, a derivatives clearing
organization shall compute the current
market value of each financial re-
source used to meet its obligations
under paragraph (a) of this section. Re-
ductions in value to reflect credit,
market, and liquidity risks (haircuts)
shall be applied as appropriate and
evaluated on a monthly basis.

(2) If assessments for additional guar-
anty fund contributions are permitted
by the derivatives clearing organiza-
tion’s rules, in calculating the finan-
cial resources available to meet its ob-
ligations under paragraph (a)(1) of this
section:

(i) The derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall have rules requiring that its
clearing members have the ability to
meet an assessment within the time
frame of a normal end-of-day variation
settlement cycle;

(ii) The derivatives clearing organi-
zation shall monitor the financial and
operational capacity of its clearing
members to meet potential assess-
ments;

(iii) The derivatives clearing organi-
zation shall apply a 30 percent haircut
to the value of potential assessments,
and

(iv) The derivatives clearing organi-
zation shall only count the value of as-
sessments, after the haircut, to meet
up to 20 percent of the total amount re-
quired under paragraph (a)(l) of this
section. The value of the assessments
may be determined by using the largest
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financial exposure in extreme but plau-
sible market conditions prior to net-
ting against required initial margin on
deposit.

(e) Liquidity of financial resources. (1)
(i) The derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall effectively measure, mon-
itor, and manage its liquidity risks,
maintaining sufficient liquid resources
such that it can, at a minimum, fulfill
its cash obligations when due. The de-
rivatives clearing organization shall
hold assets in a manner where the risk
of loss or of delay in its access to them
is minimized.

(ii) The financial resources allocated
by the derivatives clearing organiza-
tion to meet the requirements of para-
graph (a)(1) of this section shall be suf-
ficiently liquid to enable the deriva-
tives clearing organization to fulfill its
obligations as a central counterparty
during a one-day settlement cycle. The
derivatives clearing organization shall
maintain cash, U.S. Treasury obliga-
tions, or high quality, liquid, general
obligations of a sovereign nation, in an
amount greater than or equal to an
amount calculated as follows:

(A) Calculate the average daily set-
tlement variation pay for each clearing
member over the last fiscal quarter;

(B) Calculate the sum of those aver-
age daily settlement variation pays;
and

(C) Using that sum, calculate the av-
erage of its clearing members’ average
daily settlement variation pays.

(iii) If the total amount of the finan-
cial resources required pursuant to the
calculation set forth in paragraph
(e)(1)(ii) of this section is insufficient
to enable the derivatives clearing orga-
nization to fulfill its obligations during
a one-day settlement cycle, the deriva-
tives clearing organization may take
into account a committed line of credit
or similar facility for the purpose of
meeting the remainder of the require-
ment of this paragraph (e) (subject to
the limitation in paragraph (e)(3) of
this section).

(iv) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion is not subject to paragraph
(e)(1)(ii) of this section for fully
collateralized positions.
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(2) The financial resources allocated
by the derivatives clearing organiza-
tion to meet the requirements of para-
graph (a)(2) of this section must in-
clude unencumbered, liquid financial
assets (i.e., cash and/or highly liquid se-
curities) sufficient to enable the de-
rivatives clearing organization to
cover its operating costs for a period of
at least six months. If the financial re-
sources allocated to meet the require-
ments of paragraph (a)(2) of this sec-
tion do not include such assets in a suf-
ficient amount, the derivatives clear-
ing organization may take into ac-
count a committed line of credit or
similar facility for the purpose of
meeting the requirements of this para-
graph (subject to the limitation in
paragraph (e)(3) of this section).

(3) A committed line of credit or
similar facility may be allocated, in
whole or in part, to satisfy the require-
ments of either paragraph (e)(1)(ii) or
(e)(2) of this section, but not both para-
graphs.

(4)(i) Assets in a guaranty fund shall
have minimal credit, market, and 1li-
quidity risks and shall be readily ac-
cessible on a same-day basis;

(f) Reporting requirements. (1) Quar-
terly reporting. Each fiscal quarter, or
at any time upon Commission request,
a derivatives clearing organization
shall:

(i) Report to the Commission;

(A) The amount of financial re-
sources necessary to meet the require-
ments of paragraph (a) of this section
and §§39.33(a) and 39.39(d), if applicable;

(B) The value of each financial re-
source available, computed in accord-
ance with the requirements of para-
graph (d) of this section; and

(C) The manner in which the deriva-
tives clearing organization meets the
liquidity requirements of paragraph (e)
of this section;

(ii) Provide the Commission with a
financial statement, including the bal-
ance sheet, income statement, and
statement of cash flows, prepared in
accordance with U.S. generally accept-
ed accounting principles, of the deriva-
tives clearing organization; provided,
however, that for a derivatives clearing
organization that is incorporated or or-
ganized under the laws of any foreign
country, the financial statement may
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be prepared in accordance with either
U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles or the International Finan-
cial Reporting Standards issued by the
International Accounting Standards
Board; and

(iii) Report to the Commission the
value of each individual clearing mem-
ber’s guaranty fund deposit, if the de-
rivatives clearing organization reports
having guaranty fund deposits as a fi-
nancial resource available to satisfy
the requirements of paragraph (a)(1) of
this section and §§39.33(a) and 39.39(d),
if applicable.

(iv) The calculations required by this
paragraph (f) shall be made as of the
last business day of the derivatives
clearing organization’s fiscal quarter.
The report shall be submitted not later
than 17 business days after the end of
the derivatives clearing organization’s
fiscal quarter, or at such later time as
the Commission may permit, in its dis-
cretion, upon request by the deriva-
tives clearing organization.

(2) Annual reporting. (i) A derivatives
clearing organization shall submit to
the Commission an audited year-end fi-
nancial statement of the derivatives
clearing organization calculated in ac-
cordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles; provided, how-
ever, that for a derivatives clearing or-
ganization that is incorporated or or-
ganized under the laws of any foreign
country, the financial statement may
be prepared in accordance with either
U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles or the International Finan-
cial Reporting Standards issued by the
International Accounting Standards
Board.

(ii) The report required by paragraph
(£)(2)(i) of this section shall be sub-
mitted not later than 90 days after the
end of the derivatives clearing organi-
zation’s fiscal year, or at such later
time as the Commission may permit, in
its discretion, upon request by the de-
rivatives clearing organization.

(iii) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall submit concurrently with
the audited year-end financial state-
ment required by paragraph (£)(2)(i) of
this section:

(A) A reconciliation, including appro-
priate explanations, of its balance
sheet in the audited year-end financial
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statement with the balance sheet in
the derivatives clearing organization’s
financial statement for the last quarter
of the fiscal year when material dif-
ferences exist or, if no material dif-
ferences exist, a statement so indi-
cating; and

(B) Such further information as may
be necessary to make the statements
not misleading.

(3) Other reporting. (i) A derivatives
clearing organization shall provide to
the Commission as part of its first re-
port under paragraph (f)(1) of this sec-
tion, and in the event of any change
thereafter:

(A) Sufficient documentation ex-
plaining the methodology used to com-
pute its financial resources require-
ments under paragraph (a) of this sec-
tion and §§39.33(a) and 39.39(d), if appli-
cable; and

(B) Sufficient documentation ex-
plaining the basis for its determina-
tions regarding the valuation and li-
quidity requirements set forth in para-
graphs (d) and (e) of this section.

(ii) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall provide to the Commission
copies of any agreements establishing
or amending a credit facility, insur-
ance coverage, or other arrangement
evidencing or otherwise supporting the
derivatives clearing organization’s con-
clusions regarding its:

(A) Financial resources available to
satisfy the requirements of paragraph
(a) of this section and §§39.33(a) and
39.39(d), if applicable; and

(B) Liquidity resources available to
satisfy the requirements of paragraph
(e) of this section and §39.33(c), if appli-
cable.

(4) Certification. A derivatives clear-
ing organization shall provide with
each report submitted pursuant to this
section a certification by the person re-
sponsible for the accuracy and com-
pleteness of the report that, to the best
of his or her knowledge and reasonable
belief, and under penalty of law, the in-
formation contained in the report is
accurate and complete.

[76 FR 69430, Nov. 8, 2011, as amended at 85
FR 4852, Jan. 27, 2020]
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§39.12 Participant and product eligi-
bility.

(a) Participant eligibility. A deriva-
tives clearing organization shall have
appropriate admission and continuing
participation requirements for clearing
members of the derivatives clearing or-
ganization that are objective, publicly
disclosed, and risk-based.

(1) Fair and open access for participa-
tion. The participation requirements
shall permit fair and open access;

(i) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall not have restrictive clearing
member standards if less restrictive re-
quirements that achieve the same ob-
jective and that would not materially
increase risk to the derivatives clear-
ing organization or clearing members
could be adopted;

(ii) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall allow all market partici-
pants who satisfy participation re-
quirements to become clearing mem-
bers;

(iii) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall not exclude or limit clearing
membership of certain types of market
participants unless the derivatives
clearing organization can demonstrate
that the restriction is necessary to ad-
dress credit risk or deficiencies in the
participants’ operational capabilities
that would prevent them from ful-
filling their obligations as clearing
members.

(iv) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall not require that clearing
members be swap dealers.

(v) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall not require that clearing
members maintain a swap portfolio of
any particular size, or that clearing
members meet a swap transaction vol-
ume threshold.

(vi) No derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall require as a condition of ac-
cepting a swap for clearing that a fu-
tures commission merchant enter into
an arrangement with a customer that:

(A) Discloses to the futures commis-
sion merchant or any swap dealer or
major swap participant the identity of
a customer’s original executing
counterparty;

(B) Limits the number of counterpar-
ties with whom a customer may enter
into trades;
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(C) Restricts the size of the position
a customer may take with any indi-
vidual counterparty, apart from an
overall limit for all positions held by
the customer at the futures commis-
sion merchant;

(D) Impairs a customer’s access to
execution of a trade on terms that have
a reasonable relationship to the best
terms available; or

(E) Prevents compliance with the
time frames set forth in §1.74(b),
§23.610(b), or §39.12(b)(7) of this chap-
ter.

(2) Financial resources. (i) The partici-
pation requirements shall require
clearing members to have access to
sufficient financial resources to meet
obligations arising from participation
in the derivatives clearing organiza-
tion in extreme but plausible market
conditions. A derivatives clearing orga-
nization may permit such financial re-
sources to include, without limitation,
a clearing member’s capital, a guar-
antee from the clearing member’s par-
ent, or a credit facility funding ar-
rangement. For purposes of this para-
graph, ‘‘capital” means adjusted net
capital as defined in §1.17 of this chap-
ter, for futures commission merchants,
and net capital as defined in §240.15¢3-
lof this title, for broker-dealers, or any
similar risk adjusted capital calcula-
tion for all other clearing members.

(ii) The participation requirements
shall set forth capital requirements
that are based on objective, trans-
parent, and commonly accepted stand-
ards that appropriately match capital
to risk. Capital requirements shall be
scalable to the risks posed by clearing
members.

(iii) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall not set a minimum capital
requirement of more than $50 million
for any person that seeks to become a
clearing member in order to clear
swaps.

(3) Operational requirements. The par-
ticipation requirements shall require
clearing members to have adequate
operational capacity to meet obliga-
tions arising from participation in the
derivatives clearing organization. The
requirements shall include, but are not
limited to: the ability to process ex-
pected volumes and values of trans-
actions cleared by a clearing member
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within required time frames, including
at peak times and on peak days; the
ability to fulfill collateral, payment,
and delivery obligations imposed by
the derivatives clearing organization;
and the ability to participate in default
management activities under the rules
of the derivatives clearing organization
and in accordance with §39.16 of this
part.

(4) Monitoring. A derivatives clearing
organization shall have procedures to
verify, on an ongoing basis, the compli-
ance of each clearing member with
each participation requirement of the
derivatives clearing organization.

(5) Reporting. (i) A derivatives clear-
ing organization shall require all clear-
ing members, including non-futures
commission merchants, to provide to
the derivatives clearing organization
periodic financial reports that contain
any financial information that the de-
rivatives clearing organization deter-
mines is necessary to assess whether
participation requirements are being
met on an ongoing basis.

(ii) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall require clearing members
that are futures commission merchants
to provide the financial reports that
are specified in §1.10 of this chapter to
the derivatives clearing organization.

(iii) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall require clearing members
that are not futures commission mer-
chants to make the periodic financial
reports provided pursuant to paragraph
(a)(b)(i) of this section available to the
Commission upon the Commission’s re-
quest or, in lieu of imposing the re-
quirement in this paragraph (a)(5)(iii),
a derivatives clearing organization
may provide such financial reports di-
rectly to the Commission upon the
Commission’s request.

(iv) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall have rules that require clear-
ing members to provide to the deriva-
tives clearing organization, in a timely
manner, information that concerns any
financial or business developments
that may materially affect the clearing
members’ ability to continue to com-
ply with participation requirements
under this section.

(v) The requirements in paragraphs
(a)(5)(1) and (iii) of this section shall
not apply with respect to non-futures
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commission merchant clearing mem-
bers of a derivatives clearing organiza-
tion that only clear fully collateralized
positions.

(6) Enforcement. A derivatives clear-
ing organization shall have the ability
to enforce compliance with its partici-
pation requirements and shall have
procedures for the suspension and or-
derly removal of clearing members
that no longer meet the requirements.

(b) Product eligibility. (1) A derivatives
clearing organization shall have appro-
priate requirements for determining
the eligibility of agreements, con-
tracts, or transactions submitted to
the derivatives clearing organization
for clearing, taking into account the
derivatives clearing organization’s
ability to manage the risks associated
with such agreements, contracts, or
transactions. Factors to be considered
in determining product eligibility in-
clude, but are not limited to:

(i) Trading volume;

(ii) Liquidity;

(iii) Availability of reliable prices;

(iv) Ability of market participants to
use portfolio compression with respect
to a particular swap product;

(v) Ability of the derivatives clearing
organization and clearing members to
gain access to the relevant market for
purposes of creating, liquidating,
transferring, auctioning, and/or allo-
cating positions;

(vi) Ability of the derivatives clear-
ing organization to measure risk for
purposes of setting margin require-
ments; and

(vii) Operational capacity of the de-
rivatives clearing organization and
clearing members to address any un-
usual risk characteristics of a product.

(2) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion that clears swaps shall have rules
providing that all swaps with the same
terms and conditions, as defined by
product specifications established
under derivatives clearing organization
rules, submitted to the derivatives
clearing organization for clearing are
economically equivalent within the de-
rivatives clearing organization and
may be offset with each other within
the derivatives clearing organization.

(3) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall provide for non-discrimina-
tory clearing of a swap executed bilat-
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erally or on or subject to the rules of
an unaffiliated swap execution facility
or designated contract market.

(4) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall not require that one of the
original executing parties be a clearing
member in order for a product to be eli-
gible for clearing.

(6) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall select product unit sizes and
other terms and conditions that maxi-
mize liquidity, facilitate transparency
in pricing, promote open access, and
allow for effective risk management.
To the extent appropriate to further
these objectives, a derivatives clearing
organization shall select product units
for clearing purposes that are smaller
than the product units in which trades
submitted for clearing were executed.

(6) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion that clears swaps shall have rules
providing that, upon acceptance of a
swap by the derivatives clearing orga-
nization for clearing:

(i) The original swap is extinguished;

(ii) The original swap is replaced by
an equal and opposite swap between
the derivatives clearing organization
and each clearing member acting as
principal for a house trade or acting as
agent for a customer trade;

(iii) All terms of a cleared swap must
conform to product specifications es-
tablished under derivatives clearing or-
ganization rules; and

(iv) If a swap is cleared by a clearing
member on behalf of a customer, all
terms of the swap, as carried in the
customer account on the books of the
clearing member, must conform to the
terms of the cleared swap established
under the derivatives clearing organi-
zation’s rules.

(T) Time frame for clearing—(@i) Coordi-
nation with markets and clearing mem-
bers. (A) Each derivatives clearing or-
ganization shall coordinate with each
designated contract market and swap
execution facility that lists for trading
a product that is cleared by the deriva-
tives clearing organization in devel-
oping rules and procedures to facilitate
prompt, efficient, and accurate proc-
essing of all transactions submitted to
the derivatives clearing organization
for clearing.
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(B) Each derivatives clearing organi-
zation shall coordinate with each clear-
ing member that is a futures commis-
sion merchant, swap dealer, or major
swap participant to establish systems
that enable the clearing member, or
the derivatives clearing organization
acting on its behalf, to accept or reject
each trade submitted to the derivatives
clearing organization for clearing by or
for the clearing member or a customer
of the clearing member as quickly as
would be technologically practicable if
fully automated systems were used.

(ii) Transactions executed competitively
on or subject to the rules of a designated
contract market or swap execution facil-
ity. A derivatives clearing organization
shall have rules that provide that the
derivatives clearing organization will
accept or reject for clearing as quickly
after execution as would be techno-
logically practicable if fully automated
systems were used, all contracts that
are listed for clearing by the deriva-
tives clearing organization and are exe-
cuted competitively on or subject to
the rules of a designated contract mar-
ket or a swap execution facility. The
derivatives clearing organization shall
accept all trades:

(A) For which the executing parties
have clearing arrangements in place
with clearing members of the deriva-
tives clearing organization;

(B) For which the executing parties
identify the derivatives clearing orga-
nization as the intended clearinghouse;
and

(C) That satisfy the criteria of the
derivatives clearing organization, in-
cluding but not limited to applicable
risk filters; provided that such criteria
are non-discriminatory across trading
venues and are applied as quickly as
would be technologically practicable if
fully automated systems were used.

(ii1) Swaps not executed on or subject to
the rules of a designated contract market
or a swap execution facility or executed
non-competitively on or subject to the
rules of a designated contract market or a
swap execution facility. A derivatives
clearing organization shall have rules
that provide that the derivatives clear-
ing organization will accept or reject
for clearing as quickly after submis-
sion to the derivatives clearing organi-
zation as would be technologically
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practicable if fully automated systems
were used, all swaps that are listed for
clearing by the derivatives clearing or-
ganization and are not executed on or
subject to the rules of a designated
contract market or a swap execution
facility or executed non-competitively
on or subject to the rules of a des-
ignated contract market or a swap exe-
cution facility. The derivatives clear-
ing organization shall accept all
trades:

(A) That are submitted by the parties
to the derivatives clearing organiza-
tion, in accordance with §23.506 of this
chapter;

(B) For which the executing parties
have clearing arrangements in place
with clearing members of the deriva-
tives clearing organization;

(C) For which the executing parties
identify the derivatives clearing orga-
nization as the intended clearinghouse;
and

(D) That satisfy the criteria of the
derivatives clearing organization, in-
cluding but not limited to applicable
risk filters; provided that such criteria
are non-discriminatory across trading
venues and are applied as quickly as
would be technologically practicable if
fully automated systems were used.

(8) Confirmation. A derivatives clear-
ing organization shall provide each
clearing member carrying a cleared
swap with a definitive written record of
the terms of the transaction which
shall legally supersede any previous
agreement and serve as a confirmation
of the swap. The confirmation of all
terms of the transaction shall take
place at the same time as the swap is
accepted for clearing.

[76 FR 69430, Nov. 8, 2011, as amended at 77
FR 21309, Apr. 9, 2012; 85 FR 4855, Jan. 27,
2020]

§39.13 Risk management.

(a) General. A derivatives clearing or-
ganization shall ensure that it pos-
sesses the ability to manage the risks
associated with discharging the respon-
sibilities of the derivatives clearing or-
ganization through the use of appro-
priate tools and procedures.

(b) Risk management framework. A de-
rivatives clearing organization shall
have and implement written policies,
procedures, and controls, approved by
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its board of directors, that establish an
appropriate risk management frame-
work that, at a minimum, clearly iden-
tifies and documents the range of risks
to which the derivatives clearing orga-
nization is exposed, addresses the mon-
itoring and management of the en-
tirety of those risks, and provides a
mechanism for internal audit. The risk
management framework shall be regu-
larly reviewed and updated as nec-
essary.

(c) Chief risk officer. A derivatives
clearing organization shall have a chief
risk officer who shall be responsible for
implementing the risk management
framework, including the procedures,
policies and controls described in para-
graph (b) of this section, and for mak-
ing appropriate recommendations to
the derivatives clearing organization’s
risk management committee or board
of directors, as applicable, regarding
the derivatives clearing organization’s
risk management functions.

(d) [Reserved]

(e) Measurement of credit exrposure. A
derivatives clearing organization shall:

(1) Measure its credit exposure to
each clearing member and mark to
market such clearing member’s open
house and customer positions at least
once each business day; and

(2) Monitor its credit exposure to
each clearing member periodically dur-
ing each business day.

(f) Limitation of exposure to potential
losses from defaults. A derivatives clear-
ing organization shall limit its expo-
sure to potential losses from defaults
by its clearing members through mar-
gin requirements and other risk con-
trol mechanisms reasonably designed
to ensure that:

(1) The operations of the derivatives
clearing organization would not be dis-
rupted; and

(2) Non-defaulting clearing members
would not be exposed to losses that
non-defaulting clearing members can-
not anticipate or control.

(g) Margin requirements—(1) General.
Each model and parameter used in set-
ting initial margin requirements shall
be risk-based and reviewed on a regular
basis.

(2) Methodology and coverage. (i) A de-
rivatives clearing organization shall
have initial margin requirements that
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are commensurate with the risks of
each product and portfolio, including
any unusual characteristics of, or risks
associated with, particular products or
portfolios.

(ii) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall use models that generate ini-
tial margin requirements sufficient to
cover the derivatives clearing organi-
zation’s potential future exposures to
clearing members based on price move-
ments in the interval between the last
collection of variation margin and the
time within which the derivatives
clearing organization estimates that it
would be able to liquidate a defaulting
clearing member’s positions (liquida-
tion time); provided, however, that a de-
rivatives clearing organization shall
use:

(A) A minimum liquidation time that
is one day for futures and options;

(B) A minimum liquidation time that
is one day for swaps on agricultural
commodities, energy commodities, and
metals;

(C) A minimum liquidation time that
is five days for all other swaps; or

(D) Such longer liquidation time as is
appropriate based on the specific char-
acteristics of a particular product or
portfolio; provided further that the
Commission, by order, may establish
shorter or longer liquidation times for
particular products or portfolios.

(iii) The actual coverage of the ini-
tial margin requirements produced by
such models, along with projected
measures of the models’ performance,
shall meet an established confidence
level of at least 99 percent, based on
data from an appropriate historic time
period, for:

(A) BEach product for which the de-
rivatives clearing organization uses a
product-based margin methodology;

(B) Each spread within or between
products for which there is a defined
spread margin rate;

(C) Each account held by a clearing
member at the derivatives clearing or-
ganization, by house origin and by each
customer origin; and

(D) BEach swap portfolio, including
any portfolio containing futures and/or
options and held in a commingled ac-
count pursuant to §39.15(b)(2) of this
part, by beneficial owner.

813



§39.13

(iv) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall determine the appropriate
historic time period based on the char-
acteristics, including volatility pat-
terns, as applicable, of each product,
spread, account, or portfolio.

(3) Independent wvalidation. A deriva-
tives clearing organization shall have
its systems for generating initial mar-
gin requirements, including its theo-
retical models, reviewed and validated
by a qualified and independent party
on an annual basis. Where no material
changes to the margin model have oc-
curred, previous validations can be re-
viewed and affirmed as part of the an-
nual review process. Qualified and
independent parties may be inde-
pendent contractors or employees of
the derivatives clearing organization,
or of an affiliate of the derivatives
clearing organization, but shall not be
persons responsible for development or
operation of the systems and models
being tested.

(4) Spread and portfolio margins. (i) A
derivatives clearing organization may
allow reductions in initial margin re-
quirements for related positions if the
price risks with respect to such posi-
tions are significantly and reliably cor-
related. The price risks of different po-
sitions will only be considered to be re-
liably correlated if there is a concep-
tual basis for the correlation in addi-
tion to an exhibited statistical correla-
tion. That conceptual basis may in-
clude, but is not limited to, the fol-
lowing:

(A) The products on which the posi-
tions are based are complements of, or
substitutes for, each other;

(B) One product is a significant input
into the other product(s);

(C) The products share a significant
common input; or

(D) The prices of the products are in-
fluenced by common external factors.

(ii) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall regularly review its margin
reductions and the correlations on
which they are based.

(5) Price data. A derivatives clearing
organization shall have a reliable
source of timely price data in order to
measure the derivatives clearing orga-
nization’s credit exposure accurately.
A derivatives clearing organization
shall also have written procedures and
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sound valuation models for addressing
circumstances where pricing data is
not readily available or reliable.

(6) Daily review. On a daily basis, a
derivatives clearing organization shall
determine the adequacy of its initial
margin requirements.

(7) Back tests. A derivatives clearing
organization shall conduct back tests,
as defined in §39.2 of this part, using an
appropriate time period but not less
than the previous 30 days, as follows:

(i) On a daily basis, a derivatives
clearing organization shall conduct
back tests with respect to products or
swap portfolios that are experiencing
significant market volatility, to test
the adequacy of its initial margin re-
quirements, as follows:

(A) For that product if the deriva-
tives clearing organization uses a prod-
uct-based margin methodology;

(B) For each spread involving that
product if there is a defined spread
margin rate;

(C) For each account held by a clear-
ing member at the derivatives clearing
organization that contains a signifi-
cant position in that product, by house
origin and by each customer origin;
and

(D) For each such swap portfolio, in-
cluding any portfolio containing fu-
tures and/or options and held in a com-
mingled account pursuant to
§39.15(b)(2) of this part, by beneficial
owner.

(i1) On at least a monthly basis, a de-
rivatives clearing organization shall
conduct back tests to test the ade-
quacy of its initial margin require-
ments, as follows:

(A) For each product for which the
derivatives clearing organization uses
a product-based margin methodology;

(B) For each spread for which there is
a defined spread margin rate;

(C) For each account held by a clear-
ing member at the derivatives clearing
organization, by house origin and by
each customer origin; and

(D) For each swap portfolio, includ-
ing any portfolio containing futures
and/or options and held in a commin-
gled account pursuant to §39.15(b)(2) of
this part, by beneficial owner.

(iii) In conducting back tests of ini-
tial margin requirements, a derivatives
clearing organization shall compare
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portfolio losses only to those compo-
nents of initial margin that capture
changes in market risk factors.

(8) Customer margin—(1) Gross margin.
(A) During the end-of-day settlement
cycle, a derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall collect initial margin on a
gross basis for each clearing member’s
customer account(s) equal to the sum
of the initial margin amounts that
would be required by the derivatives
clearing organization for each indi-
vidual customer within that account if
each individual customer were a clear-
ing member.

(B) For purposes of calculating the
gross initial margin requirement for
each clearing member’s customer ac-
count(s), a derivatives clearing organi-
zation shall have rules that require its
clearing members to provide to the de-
rivatives clearing organization reports
each day setting forth end-of-day gross
positions of each individual customer
account within each customer origin of
the clearing member.

(C) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion may not, and may not permit its
clearing members to, net positions of
different customers against one an-
other.

(D) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion may collect initial margin for its
clearing members’ house accounts on a
net basis.

(i1) Customer initial margin require-
ments. A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall require its clearing members
to collect customer initial margin at a
level that is not less than 100 percent
of the derivatives clearing organiza-
tion’s clearing initial margin require-
ments with respect to each product and
portfolio and commensurate with the
risk presented by each customer ac-
count. The derivatives clearing organi-
zation shall have reasonable discretion
in determining clearing initial margin
requirements for products or port-
folios. The derivatives clearing organi-
zation shall also have reasonable dis-
cretion in determining whether and by
how much customer initial margin re-
quirements shall, at a minimum, ex-
ceed clearing initial margin require-
ments for categories of customers de-
termined by the clearing member to
have heightened risk profiles. The
Commission may review such customer
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initial margin levels and require dif-
ferent levels if the Commission deems
the levels insufficient to protect the fi-
nancial integrity of the derivatives
clearing organization or its clearing
members.

(9) Time deadlines. A derivatives
clearing organization shall establish
and enforce time deadlines for initial
and variation margin payments to the
derivatives clearing organization by its
clearing members.

(10) Types of assets. A derivatives
clearing organization shall limit the
assets it accepts as initial margin to
those that have minimal credit, mar-
ket, and liquidity risks. A derivatives
clearing organization may take into
account the specific risk-reducing
properties that particular assets have
in a particular portfolio. A derivatives
clearing organization may accept let-
ters of credit as initial margin for fu-
tures and options on futures but shall
not accept letters of credit as initial
margin for swaps.

(11) Valuation. A derivatives clearing
organization shall use prudent valu-
ation practices to value assets posted
as initial margin on a daily basis.

(12) Haircuts. A derivatives clearing
organization shall apply appropriate
reductions in value to reflect credit,
market, and liquidity risks (haircuts),
to the assets that it accepts in satisfac-
tion of initial margin obligations, tak-
ing into consideration stressed market
conditions, and shall evaluate the ap-
propriateness of the haircuts on at
least a monthly basis.

(13) Concentration limits or charges. A
derivatives clearing organization shall
apply appropriate limitations or
charges on the concentration of assets
posted as initial margin, as necessary,
in order to ensure its ability to lig-
uidate such assets quickly with mini-
mal adverse price effects, and shall
evaluate the appropriateness of any
such concentration limits or charges,
on at least a monthly basis.

(14) Pledged assets. If a derivatives
clearing organization permits its clear-
ing members to pledge assets for initial
margin while retaining such assets in
accounts in the names of such clearing
members, the derivatives clearing or-
ganization shall ensure that such as-
sets are unencumbered and that such a
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pledge has been validly created and
validly perfected in the relevant juris-
diction.

(h) Other risk control mechanisms— (1)
Risk limits. (i) A derivatives clearing or-
ganization shall impose risk limits on
each clearing member, by house origin
and by each customer origin, in order
to prevent a clearing member from car-
rying positions for which the risk expo-
sure exceeds a specified threshold rel-
ative to the clearing member’s and/or
the derivatives clearing organization’s
financial resources. The derivatives
clearing organization shall have rea-
sonable discretion in determining:

(A) The method of computing risk ex-
posure;

(B) The applicable threshold(s); and

(C) The applicable financial resources
under this provision; provided however,
that the ratio of exposure to capital
must remain the same across all cap-
ital levels. The Commission may re-
view such methods, thresholds, and fi-
nancial resources and require the appli-
cation of different methods, thresholds,
or financial resources, as appropriate.

(ii) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion may permit a clearing member to
exceed the threshold(s) applied pursu-
ant to paragraph (h)(1)(i) of this sec-
tion provided that the derivatives
clearing organization requires the
clearing member to post additional ini-
tial margin that the derivatives clear-
ing organization deems sufficient to
appropriately eliminate excessive risk
exposure at the clearing member. The
Commission may review the amount of
additional initial margin and require a
different amount of additional initial
margin, as appropriate.

(2) Large trader reports. A derivatives
clearing organization shall obtain from
its clearing members or from a rel-
evant designated contract market or
swap execution facility, copies of all
reports that are required to be filed
with the Commission by, or on behalf
of, such clearing members pursuant to
parts 17 and 20 of this chapter. A de-
rivatives clearing organization shall
review such reports on a daily basis to
ascertain the risk of the overall port-
folio of each large trader, including fu-
tures, options, and swaps cleared by
the derivatives clearing organization,
which are held by all clearing members
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carrying accounts for each such large
trader, and shall take additional ac-
tions with respect to such clearing
members, when appropriate, as speci-
fied in paragraph (h)(6) of this section,
in order to address any risks posed by
any such large trader.

(3) Stress tests. A derivatives clearing
organization shall conduct stress tests,
as defined in §39.2 of this part, as fol-
lows:

(i) On a daily basis, a derivatives
clearing organization shall conduct
stress tests with respect to each large
trader who poses significant risk to a
clearing member or the derivatives
clearing organization, including fu-
tures, options, and swaps cleared by
the derivatives clearing organization,
which are held by all clearing members
carrying accounts for each such large
trader. The derivatives clearing organi-
zation shall have reasonable discretion
in determining which traders to test
and the methodology used to conduct
such stress tests. The Commission may
review the selection of accounts and
the methodology and require changes,
as appropriate.

(i1) On at least a weekly basis, a de-
rivatives clearing organization shall
conduct stress tests with respect to
each clearing member account, by
house origin and by each customer ori-
gin, and each swap portfolio, including
any portfolio containing futures and/or
options and held in a commingled ac-
count pursuant to §39.15(b)(2) of this
part, by beneficial owner, under ex-
treme but plausible market conditions.
The derivatives clearing organization
shall have reasonable discretion in de-
termining the methodology used to
conduct such stress tests. The Commis-
sion may review the methodology and
require changes, as appropriate.

(iii) The requirements in paragraphs
(h)(3)(i) and (ii) of this section do not
apply with respect to clearing member
accounts that hold only fully
collateralized positions.

(4) Portfolio compression. A derivatives
clearing organization shall make port-
folio compression exercises available,
on a regular and voluntary basis, for
its clearing members that clear swaps,
to the extent that such exercises are
appropriate for those swaps that it
clears; provided, however, a derivatives
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clearing organization is not required to
develop its own portfolio compression
services, and is only required to make
such portfolio compression exercises
available, if applicable portfolio com-
pression services have been developed
by a third party.

(5) Clearing members’ risk management
policies and procedures. (i) (i) A deriva-
tives clearing organization shall have
rules that:

(A) Require its clearing members to
maintain current written risk manage-
ment policies and procedures, which
address the risks that such clearing
members may pose to the derivatives
clearing organization;

(B) Ensure that it has the authority
to request and obtain information and
documents from its clearing members
regarding their risk management poli-
cies, procedures, and practices, includ-
ing, but not limited to, information
and documents relating to the liquidity
of their financial resources and their
settlement procedures; and

(C) Require its clearing members to
make information and documents re-
garding their risk management poli-
cies, procedures, and practices avail-
able to the Commission upon the Com-
mission’s request.

(ii) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall review the risk management
policies, procedures, and practices of
each of its clearing members, which ad-
dress the risks that such clearing mem-
bers may pose to the derivatives clear-
ing organization, on a periodic basis,
take appropriate action to address con-
cerns identified in such reviews, and
document such reviews and the basis
for determining what action was appro-
priate to take.

(6) Additional authority. A derivatives
clearing organization shall take addi-
tional actions with respect to par-
ticular clearing members, when appro-
priate, based on the application of ob-
jective and prudent risk management
standards including, but not limited to:

(i) Imposing enhanced capital re-
quirements;

(ii) Imposing enhanced margin re-
quirements;

(iii) Imposing position limits;

(iv) Prohibiting an increase in posi-
tions;
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(v) Requiring a reduction of posi-
tions;

(vi) Liquidating or transferring posi-
tions; and

(vii) Suspending or revoking clearing
membership.

(i) Cross-margining. (1) A derivatives
clearing organization that seeks to im-
plement or modify a cross-margining
program with one or more clearing or-
ganizations shall submit rules for Com-
mission approval pursuant to §40.5 of
this chapter. The submission shall in-
clude information sufficient for the
Commission to understand the risks
that would be posed by the program
and the means by which the derivatives
clearing organization would address
and mitigate those risks.

(2) The Commission may request ad-
ditional information in support of a
rule submission filed under this para-
graph (i), and may approve such rules
in accordance with §40.5 of this chap-
ter.

[76 FR 69430, Nov. 8, 2011, as amended at 85
FR 4855, Jan. 27, 2020]

§39.14 Settlement procedures.

(a) Definitions—(1) Settlement. For
purposes of this section, ‘‘settlement”
means:

(i) Payment and receipt of variation
margin for futures, options, and swaps;

(ii) Payment and receipt of option
premiums;

(iii) Deposit and withdrawal of initial
margin for futures, options, and swaps;

(iv) All payments due in final settle-
ment of futures, options, and swaps on
the final settlement date with respect
to such positions; and

(v) All other cash flows collected
from or paid to each clearing member,
including but not limited to, payments
related to swaps such as coupon
amounts.

(2) Settlement bank. For purposes of
this section, ‘‘settlement bank” means
a bank that maintains an account ei-
ther for the derivatives clearing orga-
nization or for any of its clearing mem-
bers, which is used for the purpose of
any settlement described in paragraph
(a)(1) above.

(b) Daily settlements. Except as other-
wise provided by Commission order, a
derivatives clearing organization shall
effect a settlement with each clearing
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member at least once each business
day, and shall have the authority and
operational capacity to effect a settle-
ment with each clearing member, on an
intraday basis, either routinely, when
thresholds specified by the derivatives
clearing organization are breached, or
in times of extreme market volatility.

(c) Settlement banks. A derivatives
clearing organization shall employ set-
tlement arrangements that eliminate
or strictly limit its exposure to settle-
ment bank risks, including the credit
and liquidity risks arising from the use
of such bank(s) to effect settlements
with its clearing members, as follows:

(1) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall have documented criteria
that must be met by any settlement
bank used by the derivatives clearing
organization or its clearing members,
including criteria addressing the cap-
italization, creditworthiness, access to
liquidity, operational reliability, and
regulation or supervision of such
bank(s).

(2) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall monitor each approved set-
tlement bank on an ongoing basis to
ensure that such bank continues to
meet the criteria established pursuant
to paragraph (c)(1) of this section.

(3) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall monitor the full range and
concentration of its exposures to its
own and its clearing members’ settle-
ment bank(s) and assess its own and its
clearing members’ potential losses and
liquidity pressures in the event that
the settlement bank with the largest
share of settlement activity were to
fail. A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall take any one or more of the
following actions, to the extent that
any such action or actions are reason-
ably necessary in order to eliminate or
strictly limit such exposures:

(i) Maintain settlement accounts at
one or more additional settlement
banks; and/or

(ii) Approve one or more additional
settlement banks that its clearing
members could choose to use; and/or

(iii) Impose concentration limits
with respect to one or more of its own
or its clearing members’ settlement
banks; and/or

(iv) Take any other appropriate ac-
tions.
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(d) Settlement finality. A derivatives
clearing organization shall ensure that
settlements are final when effected by
ensuring that it has entered into legal
agreements that state that settlement
fund transfers are irrevocable and un-
conditional no later than when the de-
rivatives clearing organization’s ac-
counts are debited or credited; pro-
vided, however, a derivatives clearing
organization’s legal agreements with
its settlement banks may provide for
the correction of errors. A derivatives
clearing organization’s legal agree-
ments with its settlement banks shall
state clearly when settlement fund
transfers will occur and a derivatives
clearing organization shall routinely
confirm that its settlement banks are
effecting fund transfers as and when re-
quired by such legal agreements.

(e) Recordkeeping. A derivatives clear-
ing organization shall maintain an ac-
curate record of the flow of funds asso-
ciated with each settlement.

(f) Netting arrangements. A derivatives
clearing organization shall possess the
ability to comply with each term and
condition of any permitted netting or
offset arrangement with any other
clearing organization.

(g) Physical delivery. With respect to
products that are settled by physical
transfers of the underlying instru-
ments or commodities, a derivatives
clearing organization shall:

(1) Establish rules that clearly state
each obligation that the derivatives
clearing organization has assumed with
respect to physical deliveries, includ-
ing whether it has an obligation to
make or receive delivery of a physical
instrument or commodity, or whether
it indemnifies clearing members for
losses incurred in the delivery process;
and

(2) Ensure that the risks of each such
obligation are identified and managed.

§39.15 Treatment of funds.

(a) Required standards and procedures.
A derivatives clearing organization
shall establish standards and proce-
dures that are designed to protect and
ensure the safety of funds and assets
belonging to clearing members and
their customers.

(b) Customer funds— (1) Segregation. A
derivatives clearing organization shall
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comply with the applicable segregation
requirements of section 4d of the Act
and Commission regulations in this
part, or any other applicable Commis-
sion regulation in this chapter or order
requiring that customer funds and as-
sets, including money, securities, and
property, be segregated, set aside, or
held in a separate account.

(2) Commingling—(i) Cleared swaps ac-
count. In order for a derivatives clear-
ing organization and its clearing mem-
bers to commingle customer positions
in futures, options, foreign futures, for-
eign options, and swaps, or any com-
bination thereof, and any money, secu-
rities, or property received to margin,
guarantee or secure such positions, in
an account subject to the requirements
of section 4d(f) of the Act, the deriva-
tives clearing organization shall file
rules for Commission approval pursu-
ant to §40.5 of this chapter. Such rule
submission shall include, at a min-
imum, the following:

(A) Identification of the products
that would be commingled, including
product specifications or the criteria
that would be used to define eligible
products;

(B) Analysis of the risk characteris-
tics of the eligible products;

(C) Identification of whether the
swaps would be executed bilaterally
and/or executed on a designated con-
tract market and/or a swap execution
facility;

(D) Analysis of the liquidity of the
respective markets for the eligible
products, the ability of clearing mem-
bers and the derivatives clearing orga-
nization to offset or mitigate the risk
of such eligible products in a timely
manner, without compromising the fi-
nancial integrity of the account, and,
as appropriate, proposed means for ad-
dressing insufficient liquidity;

(E) Analysis of the availability of re-
liable prices for each of the eligible
products;

(F) A description of the financial,
operational, and managerial standards
or requirements for clearing members
that would be permitted to commingle
eligible products;

(&) A description of the systems and
procedures that would be used by the
derivatives clearing organization to
oversee such clearing members’ risk
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management of any such commingled
positions;

(H) A description of the financial re-
sources of the derivatives clearing or-
ganization, including the composition
and availability of a guaranty fund
with respect to the eligible products
that would be commingled;

(I) A description and analysis of the
margin methodology that would be ap-
plied to the commingled eligible prod-
ucts, including any margin reduction
applied to correlated positions, and any
applicable margin rules with respect to
both clearing members and customers;

(J) An analysis of the ability of the
derivatives clearing organization to
manage a potential default with re-
spect to any of the eligible products
that would be commingled;

(K) A discussion of the procedures
that the derivatives clearing organiza-
tion would follow if a clearing member
defaulted, and the procedures that a
clearing member would follow if a cus-
tomer defaulted, with respect to any of
the commingled eligible products in
the account; and

(L) A description of the arrange-
ments for obtaining daily position data
with respect to eligible products in the
account.

(ii) Futures account. In order for a de-
rivatives clearing organization and its
clearing members to commingle cus-
tomer positions in futures, options, for-
eign futures, foreign options, and
swaps, or any combination thereof, and
any money, securities, or property re-
ceived to margin, guarantee or secure
such positions, in an account subject to
the requirements of section 4d(a) of the
Act, the derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall file rules for Commission ap-
proval pursuant to §40.5 of this chap-
ter. Such rule submission shall include,
at a minimum, the information re-
quired under paragraph (b)(2)(i) of this
section.

(iii) Commission action. The Commis-
sion may request additional informa-
tion in support of a rule submission
filed under paragraph (b)(2)(i) or (ii) of
this section, and may approve such
rules in accordance with §40.5 of this
chapter.

(c) Holding of funds and assets. A de-
rivatives clearing organization shall
hold funds and assets belonging to

819



§39.16

clearing members and their customers
in a manner which minimizes the risk
of loss or of delay in the access by the
derivatives clearing organization to
such funds and assets.

(d) Transfer of customer positions. A
derivatives clearing organization shall
have rules providing that the deriva-
tives clearing organization will
promptly transfer all or a portion of a
customer’s portfolio of positions, and
related funds as necessary, from the
carrying clearing member of the de-
rivatives clearing organization to an-
other clearing member of the deriva-
tives clearing organization, without re-
quiring the close-out and re-booking of
the positions prior to the requested
transfer, subject to the following con-
ditions:

(1) The customer has instructed the
carrying clearing member to make the
transfer;

(2) The customer is not currently in
default to the carrying clearing mem-
ber;

(3) The transferred positions will
have appropriate margin at the receiv-
ing clearing member;

(4) Any remaining positions will have
appropriate margin at the carrying
clearing member; and

(56) The receiving clearing member
has consented to the transfer.

(e) Permitted investments. Funds and
assets belonging to clearing members
and their customers that are invested
by a derivatives clearing organization
shall be held in instruments with mini-
mal credit, market, and liquidity risks.
Any investment of customer funds or
assets, including cleared swaps cus-
tomer collateral, as defined in §22.1 of
this chapter, by a derivatives clearing
organization shall comply with §1.25 of
this chapter.

[76 FR 69430, Nov. 8, 2011, as amended at 85
FR 4856, Jan. 27, 2020]

§39.16 Default rules and procedures.

(a) General. A derivatives clearing or-
ganization shall have rules and proce-
dures designed to allow for the effi-
cient, fair, and safe management of
events during which clearing members
become insolvent or default on the ob-
ligations of such clearing members to
the derivatives clearing organization.
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(b) Default management plan. A de-
rivatives clearing organization shall
maintain a current written default
management plan that delineates the
roles and responsibilities of its board of
directors, its risk management com-
mittee, any other committee that a de-
rivatives clearing organization may
have that has responsibilities for de-
fault management, and the derivatives
clearing organization’s management,
in addressing a default, including any
necessary coordination with, or notifi-
cation of, other entities and regulators.
Such plan shall address any differences
in procedures with respect to highly
liquid products and less liquid prod-
ucts. A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall conduct and document a test
of its default management plan at least
on an annual basis. The derivatives
clearing organization shall include
clearing members and participants in a
test of its default management plan at
least on an annual basis to the extent
the plan relies on their participation.

(¢c) Default procedures.(1) A deriva-
tives clearing organization shall have
procedures that would permit the de-
rivatives clearing organization to take
timely action to contain losses and li-
quidity pressures and to continue
meeting its obligations in the event of
a default on the obligations of a clear-
ing member to the derivatives clearing
organization.

(2) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall have rules that set forth its
default procedures, including:

(i) The derivatives clearing organiza-
tion’s definition of a default;

(ii) The actions that the derivatives
clearing organization may take upon a
default, which shall include public no-
tice of a declaration of default on its
website and the prompt transfer, lig-
uidation, or hedging of the customer or
house positions of the defaulting clear-
ing member, as applicable, and which
may include, in the discretion of the
derivatives clearing organization, the
auctioning or allocation of such posi-
tions to other clearing members;

(iii) Any obligations that the deriva-
tives clearing organization imposes on
its clearing members to participate in
auctions, or to accept allocations, of
the customer or house positions of the
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defaulting clearing member, provided
that:

(A) The derivatives clearing organi-
zation shall permit a clearing member
to outsource to a qualified third party,
authority to act in the clearing mem-
ber’s place in any auction, subject to
appropriate safeguards imposed by the
derivatives clearing organization;

(B) The derivatives clearing organi-
zation shall permit a clearing member
to outsource to a qualified third party,
authority to act in the clearing mem-
ber’s place in any allocations, subject
to appropriate safeguards imposed by
the derivatives clearing organization;
and

(C) The derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall not require a clearing mem-
ber to bid for a portion of, or accept an
allocation of, the defaulting clearing
member’s positions that is not propor-
tional to the size of the bidding or ac-
cepting clearing member’s positions in
the same product class at the deriva-
tives clearing organization;

(iv) The sequence in which the funds
and assets of the defaulting clearing
member and its customers and the fi-
nancial resources maintained by the
derivatives clearing organization
would be applied in the event of a de-
fault;

(v) A provision that the funds and as-
sets of a defaulting clearing member’s
customers shall not be applied to cover
losses with respect to a house default;

(vi) A provision that the excess house
funds and assets of a defaulting clear-
ing member shall be applied to cover
losses with respect to a customer de-
fault, if the relevant customer funds
and assets are insufficient to cover the
shortfall; and

(3) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall make its default rules pub-
licly available as provided in §39.21 of
this part.

(d) Insolvency of a clearing member. (1)
A derivatives clearing organization
shall have rules that require a clearing
member to provide prompt notice to
the derivatives clearing organization if
it becomes the subject of a bankruptcy
petition, receivership proceeding, or
the equivalent;

(2) No later than upon receipt of such
notice, a derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall review the continuing eligi-
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bility of the clearing member for clear-
ing membership; and

(3) No later than upon receipt of such
notice, a derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall take any appropriate action,
in its discretion, with respect to such
clearing member or its house or cus-
tomer positions, including but not lim-
ited to liquidation or transfer of posi-
tions, suspension, or revocation of
clearing membership.

(e) Fully collateralized positions. A de-
rivatives clearing organization may
satisfy the requirements of paragraphs
(a), (b), and (c) of this section by hav-
ing rules that permit it to clear only
fully collateralized positions.

[76 FR 69430, Nov. 8, 2011, as amended at 85
FR 4857, Jan. 27, 2020]

§39.17

(a) General. A derivatives clearing or-
ganization shall:

(1) Maintain adequate arrangements
and resources for the effective moni-
toring and enforcement of compliance
(by itself and its clearing members)
with the rules of the derivatives clear-
ing organization and the resolution of
disputes;

(2) Have the authority and ability to
discipline, limit, suspend, or terminate
the activities of a clearing member due
to a violation by the clearing member
of any rule of the derivatives clearing
organization; and

(3) Report to the Commission regard-
ing rule enforcement activities and
sanctions imposed against clearing
members as provided in paragraph
(a)(2) of this section, in accordance
with §39.19(c)(4)(xvi).

(b) Authority to enforce rules. The
board of directors of the derivatives
clearing organization may delegate re-
sponsibility for compliance with the
requirements of paragraph (a) of this
section to an appropriate committee,
unless the responsibilities are other-
wise required to be carried out by the
chief compliance officer pursuant to
the Act or this part.

[76 FR 69430, Nov. 8, 2011, as amended at 85
FR 4858, Jan. 27, 2020]

Rule enforcement.

§39.18 System safeguards.

(a) Definitions. For purposes of this
section and §39.34:
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Controls mean the safeguards or coun-
termeasures employed by the deriva-
tives clearing organization in order to
protect the reliability, security, or ca-
pacity of its automated systems or the
confidentiality, integrity, or avail-
ability of its data and information, and
in order to enable the derivatives
clearing organization to fulfill its stat-
utory and regulatory responsibilities.

Controls testing means assessment of
the derivatives clearing organization’s
controls to determine whether such
controls are implemented correctly,
are operating as intended, and are ena-
bling the derivatives clearing organiza-
tion to meet the requirements estab-
lished by this section.

Enterprise technology risk assessment
means a written assessment that in-
cludes, but is not limited to, an anal-
ysis of threats and wvulnerabilities in
the context of mitigating controls. An
enterprise technology risk assessment
identifies, estimates, and prioritizes
risks to a derivatives clearing organi-
zation’s operations or assets, or to
market participants, individuals, or
other entities, resulting from impair-
ment of the confidentiality, integrity,
or availability of data and information
or the reliability, security, or capacity
of automated systems.

External penetration testing means at-
tempts to penetrate a derivatives
clearing organization’s automated sys-
tems from outside the systems’ bound-
aries to identify and exploit
vulnerabilities. Methods of conducting
external penetration testing include,
but are not limited to, methods for cir-
cumventing the security features of an
automated system.

Internal penetration testing means at-
tempts to penetrate a derivatives
clearing organization’s automated sys-
tems from inside the systems’ bound-
aries to identify and exploit
vulnerabilities. Methods of conducting
internal penetration testing include,
but are not limited to, methods for cir-
cumventing the security features of an
automated system.

Key controls means those controls
that an appropriate risk analysis deter-
mines are either critically important
for effective system safeguards or in-
tended to address risks that evolve or
change more frequently and therefore
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require more frequent review to ensure
their continuing effectiveness in ad-
dressing such risks.

Recovery time objective means the time
period within which a derivatives
clearing organization should be able to
achieve recovery and resumption of
processing, clearing, and settlement of
transactions, after those capabilities
become temporarily inoperable for any
reason up to or including a wide-scale
disruption.

Relevant area means the metropolitan
or other geographic area within which
a derivatives clearing organization has
physical infrastructure or personnel
necessary for it to conduct activities
necessary to the processing, clearing,
and settlement of transactions. The
term ‘‘relevant area’ also includes
communities economically integrated
with, adjacent to, or within normal
commuting distance of that metropoli-
tan or other geographic area.

Security incident means a cybersecu-
rity or physical security event that ac-
tually jeopardizes or has a significant
likelihood of jeopardizing automated
system operation, reliability, security,
or capacity, or the availability, con-
fidentiality or integrity of data.

Security incident response plan means
a written plan documenting the deriva-
tives clearing organization’s policies,
controls, procedures, and resources for
identifying, responding to, mitigating,
and recovering from security incidents,
and the roles and responsibilities of its
management, staff, and independent
contractors in responding to security
incidents. A security incident response
plan may be a separate document or a
business continuity-disaster recovery
plan section or appendix dedicated to
security incident response.

Security incident response plan testing
means testing of a derivatives clearing
organization’s security incident re-
sponse plan to determine the plan’s ef-
fectiveness, identify 1its potential
weaknesses or deficiencies, enable reg-
ular plan updating and improvement,
and maintain organizational prepared-
ness and resiliency with respect to se-
curity incidents. Methods of con-
ducting security incident response plan
testing may include, but are not lim-
ited to, checklist completion, walk-
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through or table-top exercises, simula-
tions, and comprehensive exercises.

Vulnerability testing means testing of
a derivatives clearing organization’s
automated systems to determine what
information may be discoverable
through a reconnaissance analysis of
those systems and what vulnerabilities
may be present on those systems.

Wide-scale disruption means an event
that causes a severe disruption or de-
struction of transportation, tele-
communications, power, water, or
other critical infrastructure compo-
nents in a relevant area, or an event
that results in an evacuation or un-
availability of the population in a rel-
evant area.

(b) Program of risk analysis and over-
sight—(1) General. A derivatives clear-
ing organization shall establish and
maintain a program of risk analysis
and oversight with respect to its oper-
ations and automated systems to iden-
tify and minimize sources of oper-
ational risk through:

(i) The development of appropriate
controls and procedures; and

(ii) The development of automated
systems that are reliable, secure, and
have adequate scalable capacity.

(2) Elements of program. A derivatives
clearing organization’s program of risk
analysis and oversight with respect to
its operations and automated systems,
as described in paragraph (b)(1) of this
section, shall address each of the fol-
lowing elements:

(i) Information security, including,
but not limited to, controls relating to:
Access to systems and data (including,
least privilege, separation of duties, ac-
count monitoring and control); user
and device identification and authen-
tication; security awareness training;
audit log maintenance, monitoring,
and analysis; media protection; per-
sonnel security and screening; auto-
mated system and communications
protection (including, network port
control, boundary defenses,
encryption); system and information
integrity (including, malware defenses,
software integrity monitoring); vulner-
ability management; penetration test-
ing; security incident response and
management; and any other elements
of information security included in
generally accepted best practices;
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(ii) Business continuity and disaster
recovery planning and resources, in-
cluding, but not limited to the controls
and capabilities described in paragraph
(c) of this section; and any other ele-
ments of business continuity and dis-
aster recovery planning and resources
included in generally accepted best
practices;

(iii) Capacity and performance plan-
ning, including, but not limited to,
controls for monitoring the derivatives
clearing organization’s systems to en-
sure adequate scalable capacity (in-
cluding, testing, monitoring, and anal-
ysis of current and projected future ca-
pacity and performance, and of possible
capacity degradation due to planned
automated system changes); and any
other elements of capacity and per-
formance planning included in gen-
erally accepted best practices;

(iv) Systems operations, including,
but not limited to, system mainte-
nance; configuration management (in-
cluding, baseline configuration, con-
figuration change and patch manage-
ment, least functionality, inventory of
authorized and unauthorized devices
and software); event and problem re-
sponse and management; and any other
elements of system operations included
in generally accepted best practices;

(v) Systems development and quality
assurance, including, but not limited
to, requirements development; pre-pro-
duction and regression testing; change
management procedures and approvals;
outsourcing and vendor management;
training in secure coding practices; and
any other elements of systems develop-
ment and quality assurance included in
generally accepted best practices; and

(vi) Physical security and environ-
mental controls, including, but not
limited to, physical access and moni-
toring; power, telecommunication, and
environmental controls; fire protec-
tion; and any other elements of phys-
ical security and environmental con-
trols included in generally accepted
best practices.

(3) Standards for program. In address-
ing the elements listed under para-
graph (b)(2) of this section, a deriva-
tives clearing organization shall follow
generally accepted standards and in-
dustry best practices with respect to
the development, operation, reliability,
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security,
systems.

(4) Resources. A derivatives clearing
organization shall establish and main-
tain resources that allow for the fulfill-
ment of each obligation and responsi-
bility of the derivatives clearing orga-
nization, including the daily proc-
essing, clearing, and settlement of
transactions, in light of any risk to its
operations and automated systems.
The derivatives clearing organization
shall periodically verify the adequacy
of such resources.

(c) Business continuity and disaster re-
covery—(1) General. A derivatives clear-
ing organization shall establish and
maintain a business continuity and dis-
aster recovery plan, emergency proce-
dures, and physical, technological, and
personnel resources sufficient to enable
the timely recovery and resumption of
operations and the fulfillment of each
obligation and responsibility of the de-
rivatives clearing organization, includ-
ing, but not limited to, the daily proc-
essing, clearing, and settlement of
transactions, following any disruption
of its operations.

(2) Recovery time objective. A deriva-
tives clearing organization’s business
continuity and disaster recovery plan,
as described in paragraph (c)(1) of this
section, shall have, and the derivatives
clearing organization shall maintain
physical, technological, and personnel
resources sufficient to meet, a recovery
time objective of no later than the next
business day following a disruption.

(3) Coordination of plans. A deriva-
tives clearing organization shall, to the
extent practicable:

(i) Coordinate its business continuity
and disaster recovery plan with those
of its clearing members, in a manner
adequate to enable effective resump-
tion of daily processing, clearing, and
settlement of transactions following a
disruption;

(ii) Initiate and coordinate periodic,
synchronized testing of its business
continuity and disaster recovery plan
with those of its clearing members; and

(iii) Ensure that its business con-
tinuity and disaster recovery plan
takes into account the plans of its pro-
viders of essential services, including
telecommunications, power, and water.

and capacity of automated
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(d) Owutsourcing. (1) A derivatives
clearing organization shall maintain
the resources required under para-
graphs (b)(4) and (c)(1) of this section
either:

(i) Using its own employees as per-
sonnel, and property that it owns, li-
censes, or leases; or

(ii) Through written contractual ar-
rangements with another derivatives
clearing organization or other service
provider.

(2) Retention of responsibility. A de-
rivatives clearing organization that en-
ters into a contractual outsourcing ar-
rangement shall retain complete re-
sponsibility for any failure to meet the
requirements specified in paragraphs
(b) and (c) of this section. The deriva-
tives clearing organization must em-
ploy personnel with the expertise nec-
essary to enable it to supervise the
service provider’s delivery of the serv-
ices.

(3) Testing of resources. The testing re-
ferred to in paragraph (e) of this sec-
tion shall apply to all of the deriva-
tives clearing organization’s own and
outsourced resources, and shall verify
that all such resources will work to-
gether effectively. Where testing is re-
quired to be conducted by an inde-
pendent contractor, the derivatives
clearing organization shall engage a
contractor that is independent from
both the derivatives clearing organiza-
tion and any outside service provider
used to design, develop, or maintain
the resources being tested.

(e) Testing—(1) General. A derivatives
clearing organization shall conduct
regular, periodic, and objective testing
and review of:

(i) Its automated systems to ensure
that they are reliable, secure, and have
adequate scalable capacity; and

(ii) Its business continuity and dis-
aster recovery capabilities, using test-
ing protocols adequate to ensure that
the derivatives clearing organization’s
backup resources are sufficient to meet
the requirements of paragraph (c) of
this section.

(2) Vulnerability testing. A derivatives
clearing organization shall conduct
vulnerability testing of a scope suffi-
cient to satisfy the requirements set
forth in paragraph (e)(8) of this section.
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(i) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall conduct such vulnerability
testing at a frequency determined by
an appropriate risk analysis, but no
less frequently than quarterly.

(ii) Such vulnerability testing shall
include automated vulnerability scan-
ning, which shall follow generally ac-
cepted best practices.

(iii) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall conduct vulnerability testing
by engaging independent contractors
or by using employees of the deriva-
tives clearing organization who are not
responsible for development or oper-
ation of the systems or capabilities
being tested.

(3) External penetration testing. A de-
rivatives clearing organization shall
conduct external penetration testing of
a scope sufficient to satisfy the re-
quirements set forth in paragraph (e)(8)
of this section.

(i) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall conduct such external pene-
tration testing at a frequency deter-
mined by an appropriate risk analysis,
but no less frequently than annually.

(ii) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall engage independent contrac-
tors to conduct the required annual ex-
ternal penetration test. A derivatives
clearing organization may conduct
other external penetration testing by
using employees of the derivatives
clearing organization who are not re-
sponsible for development or operation
of the systems or capabilities being
tested.

(4) Internal penetration testing. A de-
rivatives clearing organization shall
conduct internal penetration testing of
a scope sufficient to satisfy the re-
quirements set forth in paragraph (e)(8)
of this section.

(i) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall conduct such internal pene-
tration testing at a frequency deter-
mined by an appropriate risk analysis,
but no less frequently than annually.

(ii) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall conduct internal penetration
testing by engaging independent con-
tractors, or by using employees of the
derivatives clearing organization who
are not responsible for development or
operation of the systems or capabilities
being tested.
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(5) Controls testing. A derivatives
clearing organization shall conduct
controls testing of a scope sufficient to
satisfy the requirements set forth in
paragraph (e)(8) of this section.

(i) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall conduct controls testing,
which includes testing of each control
included in its program of risk analysis
and oversight, at a frequency deter-
mined by an appropriate risk analysis,
but shall test and assess key controls
no less frequently than every three
years. A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion may conduct such testing on a
rolling basis over the course of the re-
quired period.

(ii) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall engage independent contrac-
tors to test and assess the key controls
included in the derivatives clearing or-
ganization’s program of risk analysis
and oversight no less frequently than
every three years. A derivatives clear-
ing organization may conduct any
other controls testing required by this
section by using independent contrac-
tors or employees of the derivatives
clearing organization who are not re-
sponsible for development or operation
of the systems or capabilities being
tested.

(6) Security incident response plan test-
ing. A derivatives clearing organization
shall conduct security incident re-
sponse plan testing sufficient to satisfy
the requirements set forth in para-
graph (e)(8) of this section.

(i) The derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall conduct such security inci-
dent response plan testing at a fre-
quency determined by an appropriate
risk analysis, but no less frequently
than annually.

(ii) The derivatives clearing organi-
zation’s security incident response plan
shall include, without limitation, the
derivatives clearing organization’s def-
inition and classification of security
incidents, its policies and procedures
for reporting security incidents and for
internal and external communication
and information sharing regarding se-
curity incidents, and the hand-off and
escalation points in its security inci-
dent response process.

(iii) The derivatives clearing organi-
zation may coordinate its security in-
cident response plan testing with other
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testing required by this section or with
testing of its other business con-
tinuity-disaster recovery and crisis
management plans.

(iv) The derivatives clearing organi-
zation may conduct security incident
response plan testing by engaging inde-
pendent contractors or by using em-
ployees of the derivatives clearing or-
ganization.

(7T) Enterprise technology risk assess-
ment. A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall conduct enterprise tech-
nology risk assessments of a scope suf-
ficient to satisfy the requirements set
forth in paragraph (e)(8) of this section.

(i) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall conduct an enterprise tech-
nology risk assessment at a frequency
determined by an appropriate risk
analysis, but no less frequently than
annually. A derivatives clearing orga-
nization that has conducted an enter-
prise technology risk assessment that
complies with this section may con-
duct subsequent assessments by updat-
ing the previous assessment.

(ii) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion may conduct enterprise tech-
nology risk assessments by using inde-
pendent contractors or employees of
the derivatives clearing organization
who are not responsible for develop-
ment or operation of the systems or ca-
pabilities being assessed.

(8) Scope of testing and assessment. The
scope of testing and assessment re-
quired by this section shall be broad
enough to include the testing of auto-
mated systems and controls that a de-
rivatives clearing organization’s re-
quired program of risk analysis and
oversight and its current cybersecurity
threat analysis indicate is necessary to
identify risks and vulnerabilities that
could enable an intruder or unauthor-
ized user or insider to:

(i) Interfere with the derivatives
clearing organization’s operations or
with fulfillment of its statutory and
regulatory responsibilities;

(ii) Impair or degrade the reliability,
security, or capacity of the derivatives
clearing organization’s automated sys-
tems;

(iii) Add to, delete, modify,
exfiltrate, or compromise the integrity
of any data related to the derivatives
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clearing organization’s regulated ac-
tivities; or

(iv) Undertake any other unauthor-
ized action affecting the derivatives
clearing organization’s regulated ac-
tivities or the hardware or software
used in connection with those activi-
ties.

(9) Internal reporting and review. Both
the senior management and the board
of directors of the derivatives clearing
organization shall receive and review
reports setting forth the results of the
testing and assessment required by this
section. The derivatives clearing orga-
nization shall establish and follow ap-
propriate procedures for the remedi-
ation of issues identified through such
review, as provided in paragraph (e)(10)
of this section, and for evaluation of
the effectiveness of testing and assess-
ment protocols.

(10) Remediation. A derivatives clear-
ing organization shall identify and doc-
ument the wvulnerabilities and defi-
ciencies in its systems revealed by the
testing and assessment required by this
section. The derivatives clearing orga-
nization shall conduct and document
an appropriate analysis of the risks
presented by each vulnerability or defi-
ciency to determine and document
whether to remediate the vulnerability
or deficiency or accept the associated
risk. When a derivatives clearing orga-
nization determines to remediate a
vulnerability or deficiency, it must re-
mediate in a timely manner given the
nature and magnitude of the associated
risk.

(f) Recordkeeping. A derivatives clear-
ing organization shall maintain, and
provide to staff of the Division of
Clearing and Risk, or any successor di-
vision, promptly upon request, pursu-
ant to §1.31 of this chapter:

(1) Current copies of the derivatives
clearing organization’s business con-
tinuity and disaster recovery plan and
other emergency procedures. Such plan
and procedures shall be updated at a
frequency determined by an appro-
priate risk analysis, but no less fre-
quently than annually;

(2) All assessments of the derivatives
clearing organization’s operational
risks or system safeguards-related con-
trols;
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(3) All reports concerning testing and
assessment required by this section,
whether conducted by independent con-
tractors or by employees of the deriva-
tives clearing organization; and

(4) All other documents requested by
staff of the Division of Clearing and
Risk, or any successor division, in con-
nection with Commission oversight of
system safeguards pursuant to the Act
or Commission regulations, or in con-
nection with Commission maintenance
of a current profile of the derivatives
clearing organization’s automated sys-
tems.

(5) Nothing in paragraph (f) of this
section shall be interpreted as reducing
or limiting in any way a derivatives
clearing organization’s obligation to
comply with §1.31 of this chapter.

(g) Notice of exceptional events. A de-
rivatives clearing organization shall
notify staff of the Division of Clearing
and Risk, or any successor division,
promptly of:

(1) Any hardware or software mal-
function, security incident, or targeted
threat that materially impairs, or cre-
ates a significant likelihood of mate-
rial impairment, of automated system
operation, reliability, security, or ca-
pacity; or

(2) Any activation of the derivatives
clearing organization’s business con-
tinuity and disaster recovery plan.

(h) Notice of planned changes. A de-
rivatives clearing organization shall
provide staff of the Division of Clearing
and Risk, or any successor division,
timely advance notice of all material:

(1) Planned changes to the deriva-
tives clearing organization’s auto-
mated systems that may impact the re-
liability, security, or capacity of such
systems; and

(2) Planned changes to the deriva-
tives clearing organization’s program
of risk analysis and oversight.

[81 FR 64336, Sept. 19, 2016]

§39.19 Reporting.

(a) General. A derivatives clearing or-
ganization shall provide to the Com-
mission the information specified in
this section and any other information
that the Commission determines to be
necessary to conduct oversight of the
derivatives clearing organization.
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(b) Submission of reports—(1) General
requirement. A derivatives clearing or-
ganization shall submit the informa-
tion required by this section to the
Commission in a format and manner
specified by the Commission.

(2) Certification. When making a sub-
mission pursuant to this section, an
employee of the derivatives clearing
organization must certify that he or
she is duly authorized to make such a
submission on behalf of the derivatives
clearing organization.

(3) Time zones. Unless otherwise speci-
fied by the Commission or its designee,
any stated time in this section is Cen-
tral time for information concerning
derivatives clearing organizations lo-
cated in that time zone, and Eastern
time for information concerning all
other derivatives clearing organiza-
tions.

(c) Reporting requirements. Each reg-
istered derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall provide to the Commission
or other person as may be required or
permitted by this paragraph (c) the in-
formation specified as follows:

(1) Daily reporting. (i) A derivatives
clearing organization shall compile as
of the end of each trading day, and sub-
mit to the Commission by 10:00 a.m. on
the next business day, a report con-
taining the following information re-
lated to all positions other than fully
collateralized positions:

(A) Initial margin requirements and
initial margin on deposit for each
clearing member, by house origin and
by each customer origin, and by each
individual customer account;

(B) Daily variation margin, sepa-
rately listing the mark-to-market
amount collected from or paid to each
clearing member, by house origin and
by each customer origin, and by each
individual customer account;

(C) All other daily cash flows relating
to clearing and settlement including,
but not limited to, option premiums
and payments related to swaps such as
coupon amounts, collected from or paid
to each clearing member, by house ori-
gin and by each customer origin, and
by each individual customer account;
and

(D) End-of-day positions, including as
appropriate the risk sensitivities and
valuation data that the derivatives
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clearing organization generates, cre-
ates, or calculates in connection with
managing the risks associated with
such positions, for each clearing mem-
ber, by house origin and by each cus-
tomer origin, and by each individual

customer account. The derivatives
clearing organization shall identify
each individual customer account

using both a legal entity identifier and
any internally-generated identifier,
where available, within each customer
origin for each clearing member.

(ii) The report shall contain the in-
formation required by paragraphs
(c)(1)({)(A) through (D) of this section
for:

(A) All futures positions, and options
positions, as applicable;

(B) All swaps positions; and

(C) All securities positions that are:

(I) Held in a customer account sub-
ject to section 4d of the Act; or

(2) Subject to a cross-margining
agreement.

(2) Quarterly reporting. A derivatives
clearing organization shall provide to
the Commission each fiscal quarter, or
at any time upon Commission request,
a report of the derivatives clearing or-
ganization’s financial resources as re-
quired by §39.11(f)(1).

(3) Annual reporting. A derivatives
clearing organization shall provide to
the Commission each year:

(i) The annual report of the chief
compliance officer required by §39.10;
and

(ii) Audited year-end financial state-
ments of the derivatives clearing orga-
nization as required by §39.11(f)(2).

(iii) [Reserved]

(iv) The reports required by this
paragraph (c)(3) shall be filed not later
than 90 days after the end of the de-
rivatives clearing organization’s fiscal
year, or at such later time as the Com-
mission may permit, in its discretion,
upon request by the derivatives clear-
ing organization.

(4) Ewvent-specific reporting—@{i) De-
crease in financial resources. If there is a
decrease of 25 percent or more in the
total value of the financial resources
available to satisfy the requirements
under §39.11(a)(1) or §39.33(a), as appli-
cable, either from the last quarterly re-
port submitted under §39.11(f) or from
the value as of the close of the previous

17 CFR Ch. | (4-1-20 Edition)

business day, a derivatives clearing or-
ganization shall report such decrease
to the Commission no later than one
business day following the day the 25
percent threshold was reached. The re-
port shall include:

(A) The total value of the financial
resources as of the close of business the
day the 25 percent threshold was
reached;

(B) If reporting a decrease in value
from the previous business day, the
total value of the financial resources
immediately prior to the 25 percent de-
cline;

(C) A breakdown of the value of each
financial resource reported in each of
paragraphs (¢)(4)(i)(A) and (B) of this
section, calculated in accordance with
the requirements of §39.11(d) or
§39.33(b), as applicable, including the
value of each individual clearing mem-
ber’s guaranty fund deposit if the de-
rivatives clearing organization reports
guaranty fund deposits as a financial
resource; and

(D) A detailed explanation for the de-
crease.

(ii) Decrease in liquidity resources. If
there is a decrease of 256 percent or
more in the total value of the liquidity
resources available to satisfy the re-
quirements under §39.11(e) or §39.33(c),
as applicable, either from the last
quarterly report submitted under
§39.11(f) or from the value as of the
close of the previous business day, a de-
rivatives clearing organization shall
report such decrease to the Commis-
sion no later than one business day fol-
lowing the day the 25 percent threshold
was reached. The report shall include:

(A) The total value of the liquidity
resources as of the close of business the
day the 25 percent threshold was
reached;

(B) If reporting a decrease in value
from the previous business day, the
total value of the liquidity resources
immediately prior to the 25 percent de-
cline;

(C) A breakdown of the value of each
liquidity resource reported in each of
paragraphs (c¢)(4)(ii)(A) and (B) of this
section, calculated in accordance with
the requirements of §39.11(e) or
§39.33(c), as applicable, including the
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value of each individual clearing mem-
ber’s guaranty fund deposit if the de-
rivatives clearing organization reports
guaranty fund deposits as a liquidity
resource; and

(D) A detailed explanation for the de-
crease.

(iii) Decrease in ownership equity. A
derivatives clearing organization shall
report to the Commission no later than
two business days prior to an event
which the derivatives clearing organi-
zation knows or reasonably should
know will cause a decrease of 20 per-
cent or more in ownership equity from
the last reported ownership equity bal-
ance as reported on a quarterly or au-
dited financial statement required to
be submitted by paragraph (c)(2) or
(c)(3)(ii), respectively, of this section;
but in any event no later than two
business days after such decrease in
ownership equity for events that
caused the decrease about which the
derivatives clearing organization did
not know and reasonably could not
have known prior to the event. The re-
port shall include:

(A) Pro forma financial statements
reflecting the derivatives clearing or-
ganization’s estimated future financial
condition following the anticipated de-
crease for reports submitted prior to
the anticipated decrease and current fi-
nancial statements for reports sub-
mitted after such a decrease; and

(B) A detailed explanation for the de-
crease or anticipated decrease in the
balance.

(iv) Six-month liquid asset requirement.
A derivatives clearing organization
shall notify the Commission imme-
diately when the derivatives clearing
organization Kknows or reasonably
should know of a deficit in the six-
month liquid asset requirement of
§39.11(e)(2).

(v) Change in current assets. A deriva-
tives clearing organization shall notify
the Commission no later than two busi-
ness days after the derivatives clearing
organization’s current liabilities ex-
ceed 1its current assets. The notice
shall include a balance sheet that re-
flects the derivatives clearing organi-
zation’s current assets and current 1li-
abilities and an explanation as to the
reason for the negative balance.
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(vi) Request to clearing member to re-
duce its positions. A derivatives clearing
organization shall notify the Commis-
sion immediately of a request by the
derivatives clearing organization to
one of its clearing members to reduce
the clearing member’s positions. The
notice shall include:

(A) The name of the clearing mem-
ber;

(B) The time the clearing member
was contacted;

(C) The number of positions for fu-
tures and options, and for swaps, the
number of outstanding trades and no-
tional amount, by which the deriva-
tives clearing organization requested
the reduction;

(D) All products that are the subject
of the request; and

(E) The reason for the request.

(vii) Determination to transfer or lig-
uidate positions. A derivatives clearing
organization shall notify the Commis-
sion immediately of a determination
by the derivatives clearing organiza-
tion that a position it carries for one of
its clearing members must be lig-
uidated immediately or transferred im-
mediately, or that the trading of any
account of a clearing member shall be
only for the purpose of liquidation be-
cause that clearing member has failed
to meet an initial or variation margin
call or has failed to fulfill any other fi-
nancial obligation to the derivatives
clearing organization. The notice shall
include:

(A) The name of the clearing mem-
ber;

(B) The time the clearing member
was contacted;

(C) The products that are subject to
the determination;

(D) The number of positions for fu-
tures and options, and for swaps, the
number of outstanding trades and no-
tional amount, that are subject to the
determination; and

(E) The reason for the determination.

(viil) Default of a clearing member. A
derivatives clearing organization shall
notify the Commission immediately of
the default of a clearing member. An
event of default shall be determined in
accordance with the rules of the de-
rivatives clearing organization. The
notice of default shall include:
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(A) The name of the clearing mem-
ber;

(B) The products the clearing mem-
ber defaulted upon;

(C) The number of positions for fu-
tures and options, and for swaps, the
number of outstanding trades and no-
tional amount, the clearing member
defaulted upon; and

(D) The amount of the financial obli-
gation.

(ix) Change in ownership or corporate
or organizational structure—(A) Report-
ing requirement. A derivatives clearing
organization shall report to the Com-
mission any anticipated change in the
ownership or corporate or organiza-
tional structure of the derivatives
clearing organization or its parent(s)
that would:

(I) Result in at least a 10 percent
change of ownership of the derivatives
clearing organization;

(2) Create a new subsidiary or elimi-
nate a current subsidiary of the deriva-
tives clearing organization; or

(3) Result in the transfer of all or
substantially all of the assets of the de-
rivatives clearing organization to an-
other legal entity.

(B) Required information. The report
shall include: A chart outlining the
new ownership or corporate or organi-
zational structure; a brief description
of the purpose and impact of the
change; and any relevant agreements
effecting the change and corporate doc-
uments such as articles of incorpora-
tion and bylaws.

(C) Time of report. The report shall be
submitted to the Commission no later
than three months prior to the antici-
pated change, provided that the deriva-
tives clearing organization may report
the anticipated change to the Commis-
sion later than three months prior to
the anticipated change if the deriva-
tives clearing organization does not
know and reasonably could not have
known of the anticipated change three

months prior to the anticipated
change. In such event, the derivatives
clearing organization shall imme-

diately report such change to the Com-
mission as soon as it knows of such
change.

(D) Confirmation of change report. The
derivatives clearing organization shall
report to the Commission the con-

17 CFR Ch. | (4-1-20 Edition)

summation of the change no later than
two business days following the effec-
tive date of the change.

(x) Change in key personnel. A deriva-
tives clearing organization shall report
to the Commission no later than two
business days following the departure
or addition of persons who are key per-
sonnel as defined in §39.2. The report
shall include, as applicable, the name
and contact information of the person
who will assume the duties of the posi-
tion permanently or the person who
will assume the duties on a temporary
basis until a permanent replacement
fills the position.

(xi) Change in legal name. A deriva-
tives clearing organization shall report
to the Commission no later than two
business days following a legal name
change of the derivatives clearing or-
ganization.

(xii) Change in credit facility funding
arrangement. A derivatives clearing or-
ganization shall report to the Commis-
sion no later than one business day
after the derivatives clearing organiza-
tion changes a credit facility funding
arrangement it has in place, or is noti-
fied that such arrangement has
changed, including but not limited to a
change in lender, change in the size of
the facility, change in expiration date,
or any other material changes or con-
ditions.

(xiil) Change in liquidity funding ar-
rangement. A derivatives clearing orga-
nization shall report to the Commis-
sion no later than one business day
after the derivatives clearing organiza-
tion changes a liquidity funding ar-
rangement it has in place, or is notified
that such arrangement has changed,
including but not limited to a change
in provider, change in the size of the
facility, change in expiration date, or
any other material changes or condi-
tions.

(xiv) Change in settlement bank ar-
rangements. A derivatives clearing or-
ganization shall report to the Commis-
sion no later than three business days
after the derivatives clearing organiza-
tion enters into a new relationship
with, or terminates a relationship
with, any settlement bank used by the
derivatives clearing organization or ap-
proved for use by the derivatives clear-
ing organization’s clearing members.
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(xv) Settlement bank issues. A deriva-
tives clearing organization shall report
to the Commission no later than one
business day after any material issues
or concerns arise regarding the per-
formance, stability, liquidity, or finan-
cial resources of any settlement bank
used by the derivatives clearing organi-
zation or approved for use by the de-
rivatives clearing organization’s clear-
ing members.

(xvi) Sanctions against a clearing mem-
ber. A derivatives clearing organization
shall provide notice to the Commission
no later than two business days after
the derivatives clearing organization
imposes sanctions against a clearing
member.

(xvii) Financial condition and events.
A derivatives clearing organization
shall provide to the Commission imme-
diate notice after the derivatives clear-
ing organization knows or reasonably
should have known of:

(A) The institution of any legal pro-
ceedings which may have a material
adverse financial impact on the deriva-
tives clearing organization;

(B) Any event, circumstance or situa-
tion that materially impedes the de-
rivatives clearing organization’s abil-
ity to comply with this part and is not
otherwise required to be reported under
this section; or

(C) A material adverse change in the
financial condition of any clearing
member that is not otherwise required
to be reported under this section.

(xviii) Financial statements material in-
adequacies. A derivatives clearing orga-
nization shall provide notice to the
Commission within 24 hours if the de-
rivatives clearing organization dis-
covers or is notified by an independent
public accountant of the existence of
any material inadequacy in a financial
statement, and within 48 hours after
giving such notice provide a written re-
port stating what steps have been and
are being taken to correct the material
inadequacy.

(xix) Change in fiscal year. A deriva-
tives clearing organization shall report
to the Commission no later than two
business days after any change to the
start and end dates of its fiscal year.

(xx) Change in independent accounting
firm. A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall report to the Commission no
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later than 15 days after any change in
the derivatives clearing organization’s
independent public accounting firm.
The report shall include the date of
such change, the name and contact in-
formation of the new firm, and the rea-
son for the change.

(xxi) Major decision of the board of di-
rectors. A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall report to the Commission
any major decision of the derivatives
clearing organization’s board of direc-
tors as required by §39.24(a)(3)(1).

(xxii) System safeguards. A derivatives
clearing organization shall report to
the Commission:

(A) Exceptional events as required by
§39.18(g); or

(B) Planned changes as required by
§39.18(h).

(xxiii) Margin model issues. A deriva-
tives clearing organization shall report
to the Commission no later than one
business day after any issue occurs
with a DCO’s margin model, including
margin models for cross-margined
portfolios, that materially affects the
DCO’s ability to calculate or collect
initial margin or variation margin.

(xxiv) Recovery and wind-down plans.
A derivatives clearing organization
that is required to maintain recovery
and wind-down plans pursuant to
§39.39(b) shall submit its plans to the
Commission no later than the date on
which the derivatives clearing organi-
zation is required to have the plans. A
derivatives clearing organization that
is not required to maintain recovery
and wind-down plans pursuant to
§39.39(b), but which nonetheless main-
tains such plans, may choose to submit
its plans to the Commission. A deriva-
tives clearing organization that has
submitted its recovery and wind-down
plans to the Commission shall, upon
making any revisions to the plans, sub-
mit the revised plans to the Commis-
sion along with a description of the
changes and the reason for those
changes.

(5) Requested reporting. A derivatives
clearing organization shall provide
upon request by the Commission and
within the time specified in the re-
quest:
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(i) Any information related to its
business as a clearing organization, in-
cluding information relating to trade
and clearing details.

(ii) A written demonstration, con-
taining supporting data, information
and documents, that the derivatives
clearing organization is in compliance
with one or more core principles and
relevant provisions of this part.

[76 FR 69430, Nov. 8, 2011, as amended at 85
FR 4858, Jan. 27, 2020]

§39.20 Recordkeeping.

(a) Requirement to maintain informa-
tion. A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall maintain records of all ac-
tivities related to its business as a de-
rivatives clearing organization. Such
records shall include, but are not lim-
ited to, records of:

(1) All cleared transactions, including
swaps;

(2) All information necessary to
record allocation of bunched orders for
cleared swaps;

(3) All information required to be cre-
ated, generated, or reported under this
part 39, including but not limited to
the results of and methodology used for
all tests, reviews, and calculations in
connection with setting and evaluating
margin levels, determining the value
and adequacy of financial resources,
and establishing settlement prices;

(4) All rules and procedures required
to be submitted pursuant to this part
39 and part 40 of this chapter, including
all proposed changes in rules, proce-
dures or operations subject to §40.10 of
this chapter; and

(5) Any data or documentation re-
quired by the Commission or by the de-
rivatives clearing organization to be
submitted to the derivatives clearing
organization by its clearing members,
or by any other person in connection
with the derivatives clearing organiza-
tion’s clearing and settlement activi-
ties.

(b) Form and manner of maintaining in-
formation—(1) General. The records re-
quired to be maintained by this chap-
ter shall be maintained in accordance
with the provisions of §1.31 of this
chapter, for a period of not less than 5
years, except as provided in paragraph
(b)(2) of this section.
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(2) Exception for swap data. A deriva-
tives clearing organization that clears
swaps must maintain swap data in ac-
cordance with the requirements of part
45 of this chapter.

[76 FR 69430, Nov. 8, 2011, as amended at 85
FR 4860, Jan. 27, 2020]

§39.21 Public information.

(a) General. A derivatives clearing or-
ganization shall provide to market par-
ticipants sufficient information to en-
able the market participants to iden-
tify and evaluate accurately the risks
and costs associated with using the
services of the derivatives clearing or-
ganization. In furtherance of the objec-
tive in this paragraph (a), a derivatives
clearing organization shall have clear
and comprehensive rules and proce-
dures.

(b) Awailability of information. A de-
rivatives clearing organization shall
make information concerning the rules
and the operating and default proce-
dures governing the clearing and set-
tlement systems of the derivatives
clearing organization available to mar-
ket participants.

(c) Public disclosure. A derivatives
clearing organization shall make the
following information readily available
to the general public, in a timely man-
ner, by posting such information on
the derivatives clearing organization’s
website, unless otherwise permitted by
the Commission:

(1) The terms and conditions of each
contract, agreement, and transaction
cleared and settled by the derivatives
clearing organization;

(2) Each clearing and other fee that
the derivatives clearing organization
charges its clearing members;

(3) Information concerning its mar-
gin-setting methodology;

(4) The size and composition of the fi-
nancial resource package available in
the event of a clearing member default,
updated as of the end of the most re-
cent fiscal quarter or upon Commission
request and posted as promptly as
practicable after submission of the re-
port to the Commission under
§39.11(H)(DH(E)(A);

(5) Daily settlement prices, volume,
and open interest for each contract,
agreement, or transaction cleared or

832



Commodity Futures Trading Commission

settled by the derivatives clearing or-
ganization, posted no later than the
business day following the day to
which the information pertains;

(6) The derivatives clearing organiza-
tion’s rulebook, including rules and
procedures for defaults in accordance
with §39.16;

(7T) A current list of all clearing mem-
bers;

(8) A list of all swaps that the deriva-
tives clearing organization will accept
for clearing that identifies which swaps
on the list are required to be cleared,
in accordance with §50.3(a) of this
chapter; and

(9) Any other information that is rel-
evant to participation in the clearing
and settlement activities of the deriva-
tives clearing organization.

[76 FR 69430, Nov. 8, 2011, as amended at 85
FR 4861, Jan. 27, 2020]

§39.22 Information sharing.

A derivatives clearing organization
shall enter into, and abide by the terms
of, each appropriate and applicable do-
mestic and international information-
sharing agreement, and shall use rel-
evant information obtained from each
such agreement in carrying out the
risk management program of the de-
rivatives clearing organization.

[85 FR 4861, Jan. 27, 2020]

§39.23 Antitrust considerations.

Unless necessary or appropriate to
achieve the purposes of the Act, a de-
rivatives clearing organization shall
not adopt any rule or take any action
that results in any unreasonable re-
straint of trade, or impose any mate-
rial anticompetitive burden.

§39.24 Governance.

(a) General. (1) A derivatives clearing
organization shall have governance ar-
rangements that:

(i) Are written;

(ii) Are clear and transparent;

(iii) Place a high priority on the safe-
ty and efficiency of the derivatives
clearing organization; and

(iv) Explicitly support the stability
of the broader financial system and
other relevant public interest consider-
ations of clearing members, customers

§39.24
of clearing members, and other rel-
evant stakeholders.

(2) The board of directors shall make
certain that the derivatives clearing
organization’s design, rules, overall
strategy, and major decisions appro-
priately reflect the legitimate inter-
ests of clearing members, customers of
clearing members, and other relevant
stakeholders.

(3) To the extent consistent with
other statutory and regulatory require-
ments on confidentiality and disclo-
sure:

(i) Major decisions of the board of di-
rectors shall be clearly disclosed to
clearing members, other relevant
stakeholders, and to the Commission;
and

(ii) Major decisions of the board of di-
rectors having a broad market impact
shall be clearly disclosed to the public.

(b) Governance arrangement require-
ments. A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall have governance arrange-
ments that:

(1) Are clear and documented;

(2) To an extent consistent with
other statutory and regulatory require-
ments on confidentiality and disclo-
sure, are disclosed, as appropriate, to
the Commission, other relevant au-
thorities, clearing members, customers
of clearing members, owners of the de-
rivatives clearing organization, and to
the public;

(3) Describe the structure pursuant
to which the board of directors, com-
mittees, and management operate;

(4) Include clear and direct lines of
responsibility and accountability;

(5) Clearly specify the roles and re-
sponsibilities of the board of directors
and its committees, including the es-
tablishment of a clear and documented
risk management framework;

(6) Clearly specify the roles and re-
sponsibilities of management;

(7) Describe procedures pursuant to
which the board of directors oversees
the chief risk officer, risk management
committee, and material risk deci-
sions;

(8) Provide risk management and in-
ternal control personnel with sufficient
independence, authority, resources,
and access to the board of directors so
that the operations of the derivatives
clearing organization are consistent
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with the risk management framework
established by the board of directors;

(9) Assign responsibility and account-
ability for risk decisions, including in
crises and emergencies; and

(10) Assign responsibility for imple-
menting the:

(i) Default rules and procedures re-
quired by §§39.16 and 39.35, as applica-
ble;

(ii) System safeguard rules and pro-
cedures required by §§39.18 and 39.34, as
applicable; and

(iii) Recovery and wind-down plans
required by §39.39, as applicable.

(c) Fitness standards. (1) A derivatives
clearing organization shall establish
and enforce appropriate fitness stand-
ards for:

(i) Directors;

(ii) Members of any disciplinary com-
mittee;

(iii) Members of the
clearing organization;

(iv) Any other individual or entity
with direct access to the settlement or
clearing activities of the derivatives
clearing organization; and

(v) Any other party affiliated with
any individual or entity described in
this paragraph.

(2) A derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall maintain policies to make
certain that:

(i) The board of directors consists of
suitable individuals having appropriate
skills and incentives;

(ii) The performance of the board of
directors and the performance of indi-
vidual directors is reviewed on a reg-
ular basis; and

(iii) Managers have the appropriate
experience, skills, and integrity nec-
essary to discharge operational and
risk management responsibilities.

[85 FR 4861, Jan. 27, 2020]

derivatives

§39.25 Conflicts of interest.

A derivatives clearing organization
shall:

(a) Establish and enforce rules to
minimize conflicts of interest in the
decision-making process of the deriva-
tives clearing organization;

(b) Hstablish a process for resolving
such conflicts of interest; and

(c) Describe procedures for identi-
fying, addressing, and managing con-
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flicts of interest involving members of
the board of directors.

[85 FR 4862, Jan. 27, 2020]

§39.26 Composition  of
boards.

governing

A derivatives clearing organization
shall ensure that the composition of
the governing board or board-level
committee of the derivatives clearing
organization includes market partici-
pants and individuals who are not ex-
ecutives, officers, or employees of the
derivatives clearing organization or an
affiliate thereof.

[85 FR 4862, Jan. 27, 2020]

§39.27 Legal risk considerations.

(a) Legal authorization. A derivatives
clearing organization shall be duly or-
ganized, legally authorized to conduct
business, and remain in good standing
at all times in the relevant jurisdic-
tions. If the derivatives clearing orga-
nization provides clearing services out-
side the United States, it shall be duly
organized to conduct business and re-
main in good standing at all times in
the relevant jurisdictions, and be au-
thorized by the appropriate foreign li-
censing authority.

(b) Legal framework. A derivatives
clearing organization shall operate
pursuant to a well-founded, trans-
parent, and enforceable legal frame-
work that addresses each aspect of the
activities of the derivatives clearing
organization. As applicable, the frame-
work shall provide for:

(1) The derivatives clearing organiza-
tion to act as a counterparty, including
novation;

(2) Netting arrangements;

(3) The derivatives clearing organiza-
tion’s interest in collateral;

(4) The steps that a derivatives clear-
ing organization would take to address
a default of a clearing member, includ-
ing but not limited to, the unimpeded
ability to liquidate collateral and close
out or transfer positions in a timely
manner;

(5) Finality of settlement and funds
transfers that are irrevocable and un-
conditional when effected (no later
than when a derivatives clearing orga-
nization’s accounts are debited and
credited); and
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(6) Other significant aspects of the
derivatives clearing organization’s op-
erations, risk management procedures,
and related requirements.

(c) Conflict of laws. If a derivatives
clearing organization provides clearing
services outside the United States:

(1) The derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall identify and address any ma-
terial conflict of law issues. The de-
rivatives clearing organization’s con-
tractual agreements shall specify a
choice of law.

(2) The derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall be able to demonstrate the
enforceability of its choice of law in
relevant jurisdictions and that its
rules, procedures, and contracts are en-
forceable in all relevant jurisdictions.

(3) The derivatives clearing organiza-
tion shall ensure on an ongoing basis
that the memorandum required in
paragraph (b) of Exhibit R to appendix
A to this part is accurate and up to
date and shall submit an updated
memorandum to the Commission
promptly following all material
changes to the analysis or content con-
tained in the memorandum.

[76 FR 69430, Nov. 8, 2011, as amended at 85
FR 4862, Jan. 27, 2020]

§§ 39.28-39.29 [Reserved]

Subpart C—Provisions Applicable
to Systemically Important De-
rivatives Clearing Organiza-
tions and Derivatives Clearing
Organizations That Elect To Be
Subject to the Provisions of
This Subpart

SOURCE: 78 FR 72514, Dec. 2, 2013, unless
otherwise noted.

§39.30 Scope.

(a) The provisions of this subpart
apply to each of the following: a sub-
part C derivatives clearing organiza-
tion, a systemically important deriva-
tives clearing organization, and any de-
rivatives clearing organization, as de-
fined under section 1la(15) of the Act
and §1.3 of this chapter, seeking to be-
come a subpart C derivatives clearing
organization pursuant to §39.31.

(b) A systemically important deriva-
tives clearing organization is subject

§39.31

to the provisions of subparts A and B of
this part in addition to the provisions
of this subpart.

(c) A subpart C derivatives clearing
organization is subject to the provi-
sions of subparts A and B of this part
in addition to the provisions of this
subpart except for §§39.41 and 39.42.

[78 FR 72514, Dec. 2, 2013, as amended at 83
FR 7996, Feb. 23, 2018]

§39.31 Election to become subject to
the provisions of this subpart.

(a) Election eligibility. (1) A deriva-
tives clearing organization that is reg-
istered with the Commission and that
is not a systemically important deriva-
tives clearing organization may elect
to become a subpart C derivatives
clearing organization subject to the
provisions of this subpart, using the
procedures set forth in paragraph (b) of
this section.

(2) An applicant for registration as a
derivatives clearing organization pur-
suant to §39.3 may elect to become a
subpart C derivatives clearing organi-
zation subject to the provisions of this
subpart as part of its application for
registration using the procedures set
forth in paragraph (c¢) of this section.

(b) Election and withdrawal procedures
applicable to registered derivatives clear-
ing organications—(1) Election. A deriva-
tives clearing organization that is reg-
istered with the Commission and that
is not a systemically important deriva-
tives clearing organization may re-
quest that the Commission accept its
election to become a subpart C deriva-
tives clearing organization by filing
with the Commission a completed Sub-
part C Election Form. The Subpart C
Election Form shall include the elec-
tion and all certifications, disclosures
and exhibits, as provided in appendix B
to this part and any amendments or
supplements thereto filed with the
Commission pursuant to paragraphs
(b)(2) and (3) of this section.

(2) Submission of supplemental informa-
tion. The filing of a Subpart C Election
Form does not create a presumption
that the Subpart C Election Form is
materially complete or that supple-
mental information will not be re-
quired. The Commission, at any time
prior to the effective date, as provided
in paragraph (b)(4) of this section, may
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request that the derivatives clearing
organization submit supplemental in-
formation in order for the Commission
to process the Subpart C Election
Form, and the derivatives clearing or-
ganization shall file such supplemental
information with the Commission.

(3) Amendments. A derivatives clear-
ing organization shall promptly amend
its Subpart C Election Form if it dis-
covers a material omission or error in,
or if there is a material change in, the
information provided to the Commis-
sion in the Subpart C Election Form or
other information provided in connec-
tion with the Subpart C Election Form.

(4) Effective date. A derivatives clear-
ing organization’s election to become a
subpart C derivatives clearing organi-
zation shall become effective:

(i) Upon the later of the following,
provided the Commission has neither
stayed nor denied such election as set
forth in paragraph (b)(5) of this section.

(A) The effective date specified by
the derivatives clearing organization
in its Subpart C Election Form; or

(B) Ten business days after the de-
rivatives clearing organization files its
Subpart C Election Form with the
Commission;

(i1) Or upon the effective date set
forth in written notification from the
Commission that it shall permit the
election to take effect after a stay
issued pursuant to paragraph (b)(5) of
this section.

(5) Stay or denial of election. Prior to
the effective date set forth in para-
graph (b)(4)(i) of this section, the Com-
mission may stay or deny a derivatives
clearing organization’s election to be-
come a subpart C derivatives clearing
organization by issuing a written noti-
fication thereof to the derivatives
clearing organization.

(6) Commission acknowledgement. The
Commission may acknowledge, in writ-
ing, that it has received a Subpart C
Election Form filed by a derivatives
clearing organization and that it has
permitted the derivatives clearing or-
ganization’s election to become subject
to the provisions of this subpart to
take effect, and the effective date of
such election.

(7T) Withdrawal of election. A deriva-
tives clearing organization that has
filed a Subpart C Election Form may
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withdraw an election to become subject
to the provisions of this subpart at any
time prior to the date that the election
is permitted to take effect by filing
with the Commission a notice of the
withdrawal of election.

(c) Election and withdrawal procedures
applicable to applicants for registration as
derivatives clearing  organization—(1)
Election. An applicant for registration
as a derivatives clearing organization
that requests an election to become
subject to the provisions of this sub-
part may make that request by attach-
ing a completed Subpart C Election
Form to the Form DCO that it files
pursuant to §39.3. The Subpart C Elec-
tion Form shall include the election
and all certifications, disclosures and
exhibits, as provided in appendix B of
this part, and any amendments or sup-
plements thereto filed with the Com-
mission pursuant to paragraphs (c)(3)
or (4) of this section.

(2) Election review and effective date.
The Commission shall review the appli-
cant’s Subpart C Election Form as part
of the Commission’s review of its appli-
cation for registration pursuant to
§39.3(a). The Commission may permit
the applicant’s election to take effect
at the time it approves the applicant’s
application for registration by pro-
viding written notice thereof to the ap-
plicant. The Commission shall not ap-
prove any application for registration
filed pursuant to §39.3(a) for which a
Subpart C Election Form is pending, if
the Commission determines that the
applicant’s election to become subject
to this subpart should not become ef-
fective because the applicant has not
demonstrated its ability to comply
with the applicable provisions of this
subpart.

(3) Submission of supplemental informa-
tion. The filing of a Subpart C Election
Form does not create a presumption
that the Subpart C Election Form is
materially complete or that supple-
mental information will not be re-
quired. At any time during the Com-
mission’s review of the Subpart C Elec-
tion Form, the Commission may re-
quest that the applicant submit supple-
mental information in order for the
Commission to process the Subpart C
Election Form and the applicant shall
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file such supplemental information
with the Commission.

(4) Amendments. An applicant for reg-
istration as a derivatives clearing orga-
nization shall promptly amend its Sub-
part C Election Form if it discovers a
material omission or error in, or if
there is a material change in, the infor-
mation provided to the Commission in
the Subpart C Election Form or other
information provided in connection
with the Subpart C Election Form.

(5) Withdrawal of election. An appli-
cant for registration as a derivatives
clearing organization may withdraw an
election to become subject to the pro-
visions of this subpart by filing with
the Commission a notice of the with-
drawal of its Subpart C Election Form
at any time prior to the date that the
Commission approves its application
for registration as a derivatives clear-
ing organization. The applicant may
withdraw its Subpart C Election Form
without withdrawing its Form DCO.

(d) Public information. The following
portions of the Subpart C Election
Form will be public: The Elections and
Certifications and Disclosures in the
Subpart C Election Form, the rules of
the derivatives clearing organization,
the regulatory compliance chart, and
any other portion of the Subpart C
Election Form not covered by a request
for confidential treatment complying
with the requirements of §145.9 of this
chapter.

(e) Rescission of election. (1) Notice of
intent to rescind. A subpart C deriva-
tives clearing organization may rescind
its election to be subject to the provi-
sions of this subpart and terminate its
status as a subpart C derivatives clear-
ing organization by filing with the
Commission a notice of its intent to re-
scind such election. The notice of in-
tent to rescind the election shall in-
clude:

(i) The effective date of the rescis-
sion; and

(ii) A certification signed by the rel-
evant duly authorized representative of
the subpart C derivatives clearing or-
ganization, as specified in paragraph
three of the General Instructions to
the Subpart C Election Form, stating
that the subpart C derivatives clearing
organization:

§39.31

(A) Has provided the notice to its
clearing members required by para-
graph (e)(3)(1)(A) of this section;

(B) Will provide the notice to its
clearing members required by para-
graph (e)(3)(1)(B) of this section;

(C) Has provided the notice to the
general public required by paragraph
(e)(3)(ii)(A) of this section;

(D) Will provide notice to the general
public required by paragraph
(e)(3)(ii)(B) of this section; and

(E) Has removed all references to the
organization as a subpart C derivatives
clearing organization and a qualifying
central counterparty on its Web site
and in all other material that it pro-
vides to its clearing members and cus-
tomers, other market participants or
members of the public, as required by
paragraph (e)(3)(ii)(C) of this section.

(2) Effective date. The rescission of the
election to be subject to the provisions
of this subpart shall become effective
on the date set forth in the notice of
intent to rescind the election filed by
the subpart C derivatives clearing or-
ganization pursuant to paragraph (e)(1)
of this section, provided that the re-
scission may become effective no ear-
lier than 180 days after the notice of in-
tent to rescind the election is filed
with the Commission. The subpart C
derivatives clearing organization shall
continue to comply with all of the pro-
visions of this subpart until such effec-
tive date.

(3) Additional notice requirements. (i) A
subpart C derivatives clearing organi-
zation shall provide the following no-
tices, at the following times, to each of
its clearing members and shall have
rules in place requiring each of its
clearing members to provide the fol-
lowing notices to each of the clearing
member’s customers:

(A) No later than the filing of a no-
tice of its intent to rescind its election
to be subject to the provisions of this
subpart, written notice that it intends
to file such notice with the Commis-
sion and the effective date thereof; and

(B) On the effective date of the re-
scission of its election to be subject to
the provisions of this subpart, written
notice that the rescission has become
effective.

(ii) A subpart C derivatives clearing
organization shall:
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(A) No later than the filing of a no-
tice of its intent to rescind its election
to be subject to the provisions of this
subpart, provide notice to the general
public, displayed prominently on its
Web site, of its intent to rescind its
election to be subject to the provisions
of this subpart;

(B) On and after the effective date of
the rescission of its election to be sub-
ject to the provisions of this subpart,
provide notice to the general public,
displayed prominently on its Web site,
that the rescission has become effec-
tive; and

(C) Prior to the filing of a notice of
its intent to rescind its election to be-
come subject to the provisions of this
subpart, remove all references to the
derivatives clearing organization’s sta-
tus as a subpart C derivatives clearing
organization and a qualifying central
counterparty on its Web site and in all
other materials that it provides to its
clearing members and customers, other
market participants, or the general
public.

(iii) The employees and representa-
tives of a derivatives clearing organiza-
tion that has filed a notice of its intent
to rescind its election to be subject to
the provisions of this subpart shall re-
frain from referring to the organization
as a subpart C derivatives clearing or-
ganization and a qualifying central
counterparty on and after the date that
the notice of intent to rescind the elec-
tion is filed.

(4) Effect of rescission. The rescission
of a subpart C derivatives clearing or-
ganization’s election to be subject to
the provisions of this subpart shall not
affect the authority of the Commission
concerning any activities or events oc-
curring during the time that the de-
rivatives clearing organization main-
tained its status as a subpart C deriva-
tives clearing organization.

(f) Loss of designation as a systemically
important derivatives clearing organiza-
tion. A systemically important deriva-
tives clearing organization whose des-
ignation of systemic importance is re-
scinded by the Financial Stability
Oversight Council, shall immediately
be deemed to be a subpart C derivatives
clearing organization and shall con-
tinue to comply with the provisions of
this subpart unless such derivatives
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clearing organization elects to rescind
its status as a subpart C derivatives
clearing organization in accordance
with the requirements of paragraph (e)
of this section.

(g) All forms and notices required by
this section shall be filed electroni-
cally with the Secretary of the Com-
mission in the format and manner
specified by the Commission.

§39.32 [Reserved]

§39.33 Financial resources require-
ments for systemically important
derivatives clearing organizations
and subpart C derivatives clearing
organizations.

(a) General rule. (1) Notwithstanding
the requirements of §39.11(a)(1), each
systemically important derivatives
clearing organization and subpart C de-
rivatives clearing organization that, in
either case, is systemically important
in multiple jurisdictions or is involved
in activities with a more complex risk
profile shall maintain financial re-
sources sufficient to enable it to meet
its financial obligations to its clearing
members notwithstanding a default by
the two clearing members creating the
largest combined financial exposure to
the derivatives clearing organization
in extreme but plausible market condi-
tions.

(2) The Commission shall, if it deems
appropriate, determine whether a sys-
temically important derivatives clear-
ing organization or subpart C deriva-
tives clearing organization is system-
ically important in multiple jurisdic-
tions. In determining whether a sys-
temically important derivatives clear-
ing organization or subpart C deriva-
tives clearing organization is system-
ically important in multiple jurisdic-
tions, the Commission shall consider
whether the derivatives clearing orga-
nization:

(i) Is a systemically important de-
rivatives clearing organization, as de-
fined by §39.2; or

(ii) Has been determined to be sys-
temically important by one or more ju-
risdictions other than the TUnited
States pursuant to a designation proc-
ess that considers whether the foresee-
able effects of a failure or disruption of
the derivatives clearing organization

838



Commodity Futures Trading Commission

could threaten the stability of each rel-
evant jurisdiction’s financial system.

(3) The Commission shall, if it deems
appropriate, determine whether any of
the activities of a systemically impor-
tant derivatives clearing organization
or a subpart C derivatives clearing or-
ganization, in addition to clearing
credit default swaps, credit default fu-
tures, and any derivatives that ref-
erence either credit default swaps or
credit default futures, has a more com-
plex risk profile. In determining
whether an activity has a more com-
plex risk profile, the Commission will
consider characteristics such as dis-
crete jump-to-default price changes or
high correlations with potential partic-
ipant defaults as factors supporting
(though not necessary for) a finding of
a more complex risk profile.

(4) For purposes of this section, if a
clearing member controls another
clearing member or is under common
control with another clearing member,
such affiliated clearing members shall
be deemed to be a single clearing mem-
ber.

(b) Valuation of financial resources.
Notwithstanding the provisions of
§39.11(d)(2), assessments for additional
guaranty fund contributions (i.e., guar-
anty fund contributions that are not
pre-funded) shall not be included in
calculating the financial resources
available to meet a systemically im-
portant derivatives clearing organiza-
tion’s or subpart C derivatives clearing
organization’s obligations under para-
graph (a) of this section or §39.11(a)(1).

(c) Liquidity resources—(1) Minimum
amount of liquidity resources. (i) Not-
withstanding the provisions of
§39.11(e)(1)(ii), each systemically im-
portant derivatives clearing organiza-
tion and subpart C derivatives clearing
organization shall maintain eligible 1li-
quidity resources, in all relevant cur-
rencies, that, at a minimum, will en-
able it to meet its intraday, same-day,
and multiday obligations to perform
settlements, as defined in §39.14(a)(1),
with a high degree of confidence under
a wide range of stress scenarios that
should include, but not be limited to, a
default by the clearing member cre-
ating the largest aggregate liquidity
obligation for the systemically impor-
tant derivatives clearing organization

§39.33

or subpart C derivatives clearing orga-
nization in extreme but plausible mar-
ket conditions.

(ii) A systemically important deriva-
tives clearing organization and subpart
C derivatives clearing organization
that is subject to §39.33(a)(1) shall con-
sider maintaining eligible liquidity re-
sources that, at a minimum, will en-
able it to meet its intraday, same-day,
and multiday obligations to perform
settlements, as defined in §39.14(a)(1),
with a high degree of confidence under
a wide range of stress scenarios that
should include, but not be limited to, a
default of the two clearing members
creating the largest aggregate liquid-
ity obligation for the systemically im-
portant derivatives clearing organiza-
tion or subpart C derivatives clearing
organization in extreme but plausible
market conditions.

(2) Satisfaction of settlement in all rel-
evant currencies. Each systemically im-
portant derivatives clearing organiza-
tion and subpart C derivatives clearing
organization shall maintain liquidity
resources that are sufficient to satisfy
the obligations required by paragraph
(c)(1) of this section in all relevant cur-
rencies for which the systemically im-
portant derivatives clearing organiza-
tion or subpart C derivatives clearing
organization has obligations to per-

form settlements, as defined in
§39.14(a)(1), to its clearing members.
(3) Qualifying liquidity resources. (i)

Only the following liquidity resources
are eligible for the purpose of meeting
the requirement of paragraph (c)(1) of
this section:

(A) Cash in the currency of the req-
uisite obligations, held either at the
central bank of issue or at a credit-
worthy commercial bank;

(B) Committed lines of credit;

(C) Committed foreign exchange
swaps;

(D) Committed repurchase agree-
ments; or

(BE) (I) Highly marketable collateral,
including high quality, liquid, general
obligations of a sovereign nation.

(2) The assets described in paragraph
(©)B)E)E)(I) of this section must be
readily available and convertible into
cash pursuant to prearranged and high-
ly reliable funding arrangements, even
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in extreme but plausible market condi-
tions.

(ii) With respect to the arrangements
described in paragraph (c)(3)(i) of this
section, the systemically important de-
rivatives clearing organization or sub-
part C derivatives clearing organiza-
tion must take appropriate steps to
verify that such arrangements do not
include material adverse change condi-
tions and are enforceable, and will be
highly reliable, in extreme but plau-
sible market conditions.

(4) Additional liquidity resources. If a
systemically important derivatives
clearing organization or subpart C de-
rivatives clearing organization main-
tains financial resources in addition to
those required to satisfy paragraph
(c)(1) of this section, then those re-
sources should be in the form of assets
that are likely to be saleable with pro-
ceeds available promptly or acceptable
as collateral for lines of credit, swaps,
or repurchase agreements on an ad hoc
basis. A systemically important deriva-
tives clearing organization or subpart
C derivatives clearing organization
should consider maintaining collateral
with low credit, liquidity, and market
risks that is typically accepted by a
central bank of issue for any currency
in which it may have settlement obli-
gations, but shall not assume the avail-
ability of emergency central bank
credit as a part of its liquidity plan.

(d) Liquidity providers. (1) For the pur-
poses of this paragraph, a liquidity pro-
vider means:

(i) A depository institution, a U.S.
branch or agency of a foreign banking
organization, a trust company, or a
syndicate of depository institutions,
U.S. branches or agencies of foreign
banking organizations, or trust compa-
nies providing a line of credit, foreign
exchange swap facility or repurchase
facility to a systemically important
derivatives clearing organization or
subpart C derivatives clearing organi-
zation;

(ii) Any other counterparty relied
upon by a systemically important de-
rivatives clearing organization or sub-
part C derivatives clearing organiza-
tion to meet its minimum liquidity re-
sources requirement under paragraph
(c) of this section.
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(2) In fulfilling its obligations under
paragraph (c) of this section, each sys-
temically important derivatives clear-
ing organization and subpart C deriva-
tives clearing organization shall under-
take due diligence to confirm that each
of its liquidity providers, whether or
not such liquidity provider is a clear-
ing member, has:

(i) Sufficient information to under-
stand and manage the liquidity pro-
vider’s liquidity risks; and

(ii) The capacity to perform as re-
quired under its commitments to pro-
vide liquidity to the systemically im-
portant derivatives clearing organiza-
tion or subpart C derivatives clearing
organization.

(3) Where relevant to a liquidity pro-
vider’s ability reliably to perform its
commitments with respect to a par-
ticular currency, the systemically im-
portant derivatives clearing organiza-
tion or subpart C derivatives clearing
organization may take into account
the liquidity provider’s access to the
central bank of issue of that currency.

(4) Each systemically important de-
rivatives clearing organization and
subpart C derivatives clearing organi-
zation shall regularly test its proce-
dures for accessing its liquidity re-
sources under paragraph (¢)(3)(i) of this
section, including testing its arrange-
ments under paragraph (c)(3)(ii) and its
relevant liquidity provider(s) under
paragraph (d)(1) of this section.

(5) A systemically important deriva-
tives clearing organization with access
to accounts and services at a Federal
Reserve Bank, pursuant to section
806(a) of the Dodd-Frank Act, 12 U.S.C.
5465(a), shall use such accounts and
services where practical.

(e) Documentation of financial re-
sources and liquidity resources. Each sys-
temically important derivatives clear-
ing organization and subpart C deriva-
tives clearing organization shall docu-
ment its supporting rationale for, and
have appropriate governance arrange-
ments relating to, the amount of total
financial resources it maintains pursu-
ant to paragraph (a) of this section and
the amount of total liquidity resources
it maintains pursuant to paragraph (c)
of this section.

[76 FR 69430, Nov. 8, 2011, as amended at 85
FR 4862, Jan. 27, 2020]
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§39.34 System safeguards for system-
ically important derivatives clear-
ing organizations and subpart C de-
rivatives clearing organizations.

(a) Notwithstanding §39.18(c)(2), the
business continuity and disaster recov-
ery plan described in §39.18(c)(1) for
each systemically important deriva-
tives clearing organization and subpart
C derivatives clearing organization
shall have the objective of enabling,
and the physical, technological, and
personnel resources described in
§39.18(c)(1) shall be sufficient to enable,
the systemically important derivatives
clearing organization or subpart C de-
rivatives clearing organization to re-
cover its operations and resume daily
processing, clearing, and settlement no
later than two hours following the dis-
ruption, for any disruption including a
wide-scale disruption.

(b) To facilitate its ability to achieve
the recovery time objective specified in
paragraph (a) of this section in the
event of a wide-scale disruption, each
systemically important derivatives
clearing organization and subpart C de-
rivatives clearing organization must
maintain a degree of geographic dis-
persal of physical, technological and
personnel resources consistent with the
following for each activity necessary
for the daily processing, clearing, and
settlement of existing and new con-
tracts:

(1) Physical and technological re-
sources (including a secondary site),
sufficient to enable the entity to meet
the recovery time objective after inter-
ruption of normal clearing by a wide-
scale disruption, must be located out-
side the relevant area of the physical
and technological resources the sys-
temically important derivatives clear-
ing organization or subpart C deriva-
tives clearing organization normally
relies upon to conduct that activity,
and must not rely on the same critical
transportation, telecommunications,
power, water, or other critical infra-
structure components the entity nor-
mally relies upon for such activities;

(2) Personnel, who live and work out-
side that relevant area, sufficient to
enable the entity to meet the recovery
time objective after interruption of
normal clearing by a wide-scale disrup-
tion affecting the relevant area in
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which the personnel the entity nor-
mally relies upon to engage in such ac-
tivities are located;

(3) The provisions of §39.18(d) shall
apply to these resource requirements.

(c) Each systemically important de-
rivatives clearing organization and
subpart C derivatives clearing organi-
zation must conduct regular, periodic
tests of its business continuity and dis-
aster recovery plans and resources and
its capacity to achieve the required re-
covery time objective in the event of a
wide-scale disruption. The provisions of
§39.18(e) shall apply to such testing.

(d) The Commission may, upon re-
quest, grant an entity, which has been
designated as a systemically important
derivatives clearing organization or
that has elected to become subject to
subpart C, up to one year to comply
with any provision of this section.

[78 FR 72514, Dec. 2, 2013, as amended at 81
FR 64339, Sept. 19, 2016]

§39.35 Default rules and procedures
for uncovered credit losses or li-
quidity shortfalls (recovery) for sys-
temically important derivatives
clearing organizations and subpart
C derivatives clearing organiza-
tions.

(a) Allocation of uncovered credit losses.
Each systemically important deriva-
tives clearing organization and subpart
C derivatives clearing organization
shall adopt explicit rules and proce-
dures that address fully any loss aris-
ing from any individual or combined
default relating to any clearing mem-
bers’ obligations to the systemically
important derivatives clearing organi-
zation or subpart C derivatives clearing
organization. Such rules and proce-
dures shall address how the system-
ically important derivatives clearing
organization or subpart C derivatives
clearing organization would:

(1) Allocate losses exceeding the fi-
nancial resources available to the sys-
temically important derivatives clear-
ing organization or subpart C deriva-
tives clearing organization;

(2) Repay any funds it may borrow;
and

(3) Replenish any financial resources
it may employ during such a stress
event, so that the systemically impor-
tant derivatives clearing organization
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or subpart C derivatives clearing orga-
nization can continue to operate in a
safe and sound manner.

(b) Allocation of uncovered liquidity
shortfalls. (1) Each systemically impor-
tant derivatives clearing organization
and subpart C derivatives clearing or-
ganization shall establish rules and/or
procedures that enable it promptly to
meet all of its settlement obligations,
on a same day and, as appropriate,
intraday and multiday basis, in the
context of the occurrence of either or
both of the following scenarios:

(i) An individual or combined default
involving one or more clearing mem-
bers’ obligations to the systemically
important derivatives clearing organi-
zation or subpart C derivatives clearing
organization; or

(ii) A liquidity shortfall exceeding
the financial resources of the system-
ically important derivatives clearing
organization or subpart C derivatives
clearing organization.

(2) The rules and procedures de-
scribed in paragraph (b)(1) of this sec-
tion shall:

(i) Enable the systemically impor-
tant derivatives clearing organization
or subpart C derivatives clearing orga-
nization promptly to meet its payment
obligations in all relevant currencies;

(ii) Be designed to enable the system-
ically important derivatives clearing
organization or subpart C derivatives
clearing organization to avoid
unwinding, revoking, or delaying the
same-day settlement of payment obli-
gations; and

(iii) Address the systemically impor-
tant derivatives clearing organization’s
or subpart C derivatives clearing orga-
nization’s process to replenish any li-
quidity resources it may employ during
a stress event so that it can continue
to operate in a safe and sound manner.

§39.36 Risk management for system-
ically important derivatives clear-
ing organizations and subpart C de-
rivatives clearing organizations.

(a) Stress tests of financial resources. In
addition to conducting stress tests pur-
suant to §39.13(h)(3), each systemically
important derivatives clearing organi-
zation and subpart C derivatives clear-
ing organization shall conduct stress
tests of its financial resources in ac-
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cordance with the following standards
and practices:

(1) Perform, on a daily basis, stress
testing of its financial resources using
predetermined parameters and assump-
tions;

(2) Perform comprehensive analyses
of stress testing scenarios and under-
lying parameters to ascertain their ap-
propriateness for determining the sys-
temically important derivatives clear-
ing organization’s or subpart C deriva-
tives clearing organization’s required
level of financial resources in current
and evolving market conditions;

(3) Perform the analyses required by
paragraph (a)(2) of this section at least
monthly and when products cleared or
markets served display high volatility
or become less liquid, when the size or
concentration of positions held by
clearing members increases signifi-
cantly, or as otherwise appropriate,
evaluate the stress testing scenarios,
models, and underlying parameters
more frequently than once a month;

(4) For the analyses required by para-
graphs (a)(1) and (2) of this section, in-
clude a range of relevant stress sce-
narios, in terms of both defaulting
clearing members’ positions and pos-
sible price changes in liquidation peri-
ods. The scenarios considered shall in-
clude, but are not limited to, the fol-
lowing:

(i) Relevant peak historic
volatilities;

(ii) Shifts in other market factors in-
cluding, as appropriate, price deter-
minants and yield curves;

(iii) Multiple defaults over various
time horizons;

(iv) Simultaneous pressures in fund-
ing and asset markets; and

(v) A range of forward-looking stress
scenarios in a variety of extreme but
plausible market conditions.

(5) Establish procedures for:

(i) Reporting stress test results to its
risk management committee or board
of directors, as applicable; and

(i1) Using the results to assess the
adequacy of, and to adjust, its total
amount of financial resources; and

(6) Use the results of stress tests to
support compliance with the minimum
financial resources requirement set
forth in §39.11(a)(1) or §39.33(a), as ap-
plicable.

price
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(b) Sensitivity analysis of margin model.
(1) Bach systemically important de-
rivatives clearing organization and
subpart C derivatives clearing organi-
zation shall, at least monthly and more
frequently as appropriate, conduct a
sensitivity analysis of its margin mod-
els to analyze and monitor model per-
formance and overall margin coverage.
Sensitivity analysis shall be conducted
on both actual and hypothetical posi-
tions.

(2) For the purposes of this paragraph
(b), a sensitivity analysis of a margin
model includes:

(i) Reviewing a wide range of param-
eter settings and assumptions that re-
flect possible market conditions in
order to understand how the level of
margin coverage might be affected by
highly stressed market conditions. The
range of parameters and assumptions
should capture a variety of historical
and hypothetical conditions, including
the most volatile periods that have
been experienced by the markets
served by the systemically important
derivatives clearing organization or
subpart C derivatives clearing organi-
zation and extreme changes in the cor-
relations between prices. The param-
eters and assumptions should be appro-
priate in light of the specific charac-
teristics, considered on a current basis,
of particular products and portfolios
cleared.

(ii) Testing of the ability of the mod-
els or model components to react ap-
propriately using actual or hypo-
thetical datasets and assessing the im-
pact of different model parameter set-
tings.

(iii) Evaluating potential losses in
clearing members’ proprietary posi-
tions and, where appropriate, customer
positions.

(3) A systemically important deriva-
tives clearing organization or subpart
C derivatives clearing organization in-
volved in activities with a more com-
plex risk profile shall take into consid-
eration parameter settings that reflect
the potential impact of the simulta-
neous default of clearing members and,
where applicable, the underlying credit
instruments.

(c) Stress tests of liquidity resources.
BEach systemically important deriva-
tives clearing organization and subpart
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C derivatives clearing organization
shall conduct stress tests of its liquid-
ity resources in accordance with the
following standards and practices:

(1) Perform, on a daily basis, stress
testing of its liquidity resources using
predetermined parameters and assump-
tions;

(2) Perform comprehensive analyses
of stress testing scenarios and under-
lying parameters to ascertain their ap-
propriateness for determining the sys-
temically important derivatives clear-
ing organization’s or subpart C deriva-
tives clearing organization’s required
level of liquidity resources in current
and evolving market conditions;

(3) Perform the analyses required by
paragraph (c)(2) of this section at least
monthly and when products cleared or
markets served display high volatility
or become less liquid, when the size or
concentration of positions held by
clearing members increases signifi-
cantly, or as otherwise appropriate,
evaluate its stress testing scenarios,
models, and underlying parameters
more frequently than once a month;

(4) For the analyses required by para-
graphs (¢)(1) and (2) of this section, in-
clude a range of relevant stress sce-
narios, in terms of both defaulting
clearing members’ positions and pos-
sible price changes in liquidation peri-
ods. The scenarios considered shall in-
clude, but are not limited to, the fol-
lowing:

(i) Relevant peak historic
volatilities;

(ii) Shifts in other market factors in-
cluding, as appropriate, price deter-
minants and yield curves;

(iii) Multiple defaults over various
time horizons;

(iv) Simultaneous pressures in fund-
ing and asset markets; and

(v) A range of forward-looking stress
scenarios in a variety of extreme but
plausible market conditions.

(5) For the scenarios enumerated in
paragraph (c)(4) of this section, con-
sider the following:

(i) All entities that might pose mate-
rial liquidity risks to the systemically
important derivatives clearing organi-
zation or subpart C derivatives clearing
organization, including settlement
banks, permitted depositories, liquid-
ity providers, and other entities,

price
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(ii) Multiday scenarios as appro-
priate,

(iii) Inter-linkages between its clear-
ing members and the multiple roles
that they may play in the systemically
important derivatives clearing organi-
zation’s or subpart C derivatives clear-
ing organization’s risk management;
and

(iv) The probability of multiple fail-
ures and contagion effect among clear-
ing members.

(6) Establish procedures for:

(i) Reporting stress test results to its
risk management committee or board
of directors, as applicable; and

(ii) Using the results to assess the
adequacy of, and to adjust its total
amount of liquidity resources.

(7) Use the results of stress tests to
support compliance with the liquidity
resources requirement set forth in
§39.33(c).

(d) Margin model assessment. Each sys-
temically important derivatives clear-
ing organization and subpart C deriva-
tives clearing organization shall con-
duct, on at least an annual basis (or
more frequently if there are material
relevant market developments), an as-
sessment of the theoretical and empir-
ical properties of its margin model for
all products it clears.

(e) Independent validation. Each sys-
temically important derivatives clear-
ing organization and subpart C deriva-
tives clearing organization shall per-
form, on an annual basis, a full valida-
tion of its financial risk management
model and its liquidity risk manage-
ment model.

(f) Custody and investment risk. Cus-
tody and investment arrangements of a
systemically important derivatives
clearing organization’s and subpart C
derivatives clearing organization’s own
funds and assets shall be subject to the
same requirements as those specified
in §39.15 for the funds and assets of
clearing members, and shall apply to
the derivatives clearing organization’s
own funds and assets to the same ex-
tent as if such funds and assets be-
longed to clearing members.

(g) Settlement banks. Each system-
ically important derivatives clearing
organization and subpart C derivatives
clearing organization shall:
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(1) Monitor, manage, and limit its
credit and liquidity risks arising from
its settlement banks;

(2) Establish, and monitor adherence
to, strict criteria for its settlement
banks that take account of, among
other things, their regulation and su-
pervision, creditworthiness, capitaliza-
tion, access to liquidity, and oper-
ational reliability; and

(3) Monitor and manage the con-
centration of credit and liquidity expo-
sures to its settlement banks.

[76 FR 69430, Nov. 8, 2011, as amended at 85
FR 4862, Jan. 27, 2020]

§39.37 Additional disclosure for sys-
temically important derivatives
clearing organizations and subpart
C derivatives clearing organiza-
tions.

In addition to the requirements of
§39.21, each systemically important de-
rivatives clearing organization and
subpart C derivatives clearing organi-
zation shall:

(a) Complete and publicly disclose its
responses to the Disclosure Framework
for Financial Market Infrastructures
published by the Committee on Pay-
ment and Settlement Systems and the
Board of the International Organiza-
tion of Securities Commissions;

(b)(1) Review and update its re-
sponses disclosed as required by para-
graph (a) of this section at least every
two years and following material
changes to the systemically important
derivatives clearing organization’s or
subpart C derivatives clearing organi-
zation’s system or the environment in
which it operates. A material change
to the systemically important deriva-
tives clearing organization’s or subpart
C derivatives clearing organization’s
system or the environment in which it
operates is a change that would signifi-
cantly change the accuracy and useful-
ness of the existing responses; and

(2) Provide notice to the Commission
of updates to its responses required by
paragraph (b)(1) of this section fol-
lowing material changes no later than
ten business days after the updates are
made. Such notice shall be accom-
panied by a copy of the text of the re-
sponses that shows all deletions and
additions made to the immediately
preceding version of the responses;
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(c) Disclose, publicly and to the Com-
mission, relevant basic data on trans-
action volume and values consistent
with the standards set forth in the
Public Quantitative Disclosure Stand-
ards for Central Counterparties pub-
lished by the Committee on Payments
and Market Infrastructures and the
International Organization of Securi-
ties Commissions;

(d) Disclose, publicly and to the Com-
mission, rules, policies, and procedures
concerning segregation and portability
of customers’ positions and funds, in-
cluding whether each of:

(1) Futures customer funds,
fined in §1.3 of this chapter;

(2) Cleared Swaps Customer Collat-
eral, as defined in §22.1 of this chapter;
or

(3) Foreign futures or foreign options
secured amount, as defined in §1.3 of
this chapter is:

(i) Protected on an individual or om-
nibus basis or

(ii) Subject to any constraints, in-
cluding any legal or operational con-
straints that may impair the ability of
the systemically important derivatives
clearing organization or subpart C de-
rivatives clearing organization to seg-
regate or transfer the positions and re-
lated collateral of a clearing member’s
customers.

[78 FR 72514, Dec. 2, 2013, as amended at 83
FR 7996, Feb. 23, 2018; 85 FR 4862, Jan. 27,
2020]

as de-

§39.38 Efficiency for systemically im-
portant derivatives clearing organi-
zations and subpart C derivatives
clearing organizations.

(a) General rule. In order to meet the
needs of clearing members and mar-
kets, each systemically important de-
rivatives clearing organization and
subpart C derivatives clearing organi-
zation should efficiently and effec-
tively design its:

(1) Clearing and settlement arrange-
ments;

(2) Operating structure and proce-
dures;

(3) Scope of products cleared; and

(4) Use of technology.

(b) Review of efficiency. Each system-
ically important derivatives clearing
organization and subpart C derivatives
clearing organization should establish
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a mechanism to review, on a regular
basis, its compliance with paragraph
(a) of this section.

(c) Clear goals and objectives. Each
systemically important derivatives
clearing organization and subpart C de-
rivatives clearing organization should
have clearly defined goals and objec-
tives that are measurable and achiev-
able, including in the areas of min-
imum service levels, risk management
expectations, and business priorities.

(d) Each systemically important de-
rivatives clearing organization and
subpart C derivatives clearing organi-
zation shall facilitate efficient pay-
ment, clearing and settlement by ac-
commodating internationally accepted
communication procedures and stand-
ards.

§39.39 Recovery and wind-down for
systemically important derivatives
clearing organizations and subpart
C derivatives clearing organiza-
tions.

(a) Definitions. For purposes of this
section:

(1) General business risk means any po-
tential impairment of a systemically
important derivatives clearing organi-
zation’s or subpart C derivatives clear-
ing organization’s financial position, as
a business concern, as a consequence of
a decline in its revenues or an increase
in its expenses, such that expenses ex-
ceed revenues and result in a loss that
the derivatives clearing organization
must charge against capital.

(2) Wind-down means the actions of a
systemically important derivatives
clearing organization or subpart C de-
rivatives clearing organization to ef-
fect the permanent cessation or sale or
transfer of one or more services.

(3) Recovery means the actions of a
systemically important derivatives
clearing organization or subpart C de-
rivatives clearing organization, con-
sistent with its rules, procedures, and
other ex-ante contractual arrange-
ments, to address any uncovered credit
loss, liquidity shortfall, capital inad-
equacy, or business, operational or
other structural weakness, including
the replenishment of any depleted pre-
funded financial resources and liquid-
ity arrangements, as necessary to
maintain the systemically important
derivatives clearing organization’s or
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subpart C derivatives clearing organi-
zation’s viability as a going concern.

(4) Operational risk means the risk
that deficiencies in information sys-
tems or internal processes, human er-
rors, management failures or disrup-
tions from external events will result
in the reduction, deterioration, or
breakdown of services provided by a
systemically important derivatives
clearing organization or subpart C de-
rivatives clearing organization.

(5) Unencumbered liquid financial as-
sets include cash and highly liquid se-
curities.

(b) Recovery and wind-down plan.
Each systemically important deriva-
tives clearing organization and subpart
C derivatives clearing organization
shall maintain viable plans for:

(1) Recovery or orderly wind-down,
necessitated by uncovered credit losses
or liquidity shortfalls; and, separately,

(2) Recovery or orderly wind-down
necessitated by general business risk,
operational risk, or any other risk that
threatens the derivatives clearing or-
ganization’s viability as a going con-
cern.

(c)(1) In developing the plans speci-
fied in paragraph (b) of this section,
the systemically important derivatives
clearing organization or subpart C de-
rivatives clearing organization shall
identify scenarios that may potentially
prevent it from being able to meet its
obligations, provide its critical oper-
ations and services as a going concern
and assess the effectiveness of a full
range of options for recovery or orderly
wind-down. The plans shall include pro-
cedures for informing the Commission,
as soon as practicable, when the recov-
ery plan is initiated or wind-down is
pending.

(2) A systemically important deriva-
tives clearing organization or subpart
C derivatives clearing organization
shall have procedures for providing the
Commission and the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation with informa-
tion needed for purposes of resolution
planning.

(d) Financial resources to support the
recovery and wind-down plan. (1) In
evaluating the resources available to
cover an uncovered credit loss or li-
quidity shortfall as part of its recovery
plans pursuant to paragraph (b)(1) of
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this section, a systemically important
derivatives clearing organization or
subpart C derivatives clearing organi-
zation may consider, among other
things, assessments of additional re-
sources provided for under its rules
that it reasonably expects to collect
from non-defaulting clearing members.

(2) Bach systemically important de-
rivatives clearing organization and
subpart C derivatives clearing organi-
zation shall maintain sufficient
unencumbered liquid financial assets,
funded by the equity of its owners, to
implement its recovery or wind-down
plans pursuant to paragraph (b)(2) of
this section. In general, the financial
resources required by §39.11(a)(2) may
be sufficient, but the systemically im-
portant derivatives clearing organiza-
tion or subpart C derivatives clearing
organization shall analyze its par-
ticular circumstances and risks and
maintain any additional resources that
may be necessary to implement the
plans. In allocating sufficient financial
resources to implement the plans, the
systemically important derivatives
clearing organization or subpart C de-
rivatives clearing organization shall
comply with §39.11(e)(2). The plan shall
include evidence and analysis to sup-
port the conclusion that the amount
considered necessary is, in fact, suffi-
cient to implement the plans.

(3) Resources counted in meeting the
requirements of §§39.11(a)(1) and 39.33
may not be allocated, in whole or in
part, to the recovery plans required by
paragraph (b)(2) of this section. Other
resources may be allocated, in whole or
in part, to the recovery plans required
by either paragraphs (b)(1) or (2) of this
section, but not both paragraphs, and
only to the extent the use of such re-
sources is not otherwise limited by the
Act, Commission regulations, the sys-
temically important derivatives clear-
ing organization’s or subpart C deriva-
tives clearing organization’s rules, or
any contractual arrangements to
which the systemically important de-
rivatives clearing organization or sub-
part C derivatives clearing organiza-
tion is a party.

(e) Plan for raising additional financial
resources. All systemically important
derivatives clearing organizations and
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subpart C derivatives clearing organi-
zations shall maintain viable plans for
raising additional financial resources,
including, where appropriate, capital,
in a scenario in which the systemically
important derivatives clearing organi-
zation or subpart C derivatives clearing
organization is unable, or virtually un-
able, to comply with any financial re-
sources requirements set forth in this
part. This plan shall be approved by
the board of directors and be updated
regularly.

(f) The Commission may, upon re-
quest, grant an entity, which has been
designated as a systemically important
derivatives clearing organization or
that has elected to become subject to
subpart C, up to one year to comply
with any provision of this section or of
§39.35.

[76 FR 69430, Nov. 8, 2011, as amended at 85
FR 4862, Jan. 27, 2020]

§39.40 Consistency with the Principles
for Financial Market Infrastruc-
tures.

This subpart C is intended to estab-
lish standards which, together with
subparts A and B of this part, are con-
sistent with section 5b(c) of the Act
and the Principles for Financial Mar-
ket Infrastructures published by the
Committee on Payment and Settle-
ment Systems and the Board of the
International Organization of Securi-
ties Commissions and should be inter-
preted in that context.

§39.42

§39.41 Special enforcement authority
for systemically important deriva-
tives clearing organizations.

For purposes of enforcing the provi-
sions of Title VIII of the Dodd-Frank
Act, a systemically important deriva-
tives clearing organization shall be
subject to, and the Commission has au-
thority under the provisions of sub-
sections (b) through (n) of section 8 of
the Federal Deposit Insurance Act (12
U.S.C. 1818) in the same manner and to
the same extent as if the systemically
important derivatives clearing organi-
zation were an insured depository in-
stitution and the Commission were the
appropriate Federal banking agency
for such insured depository institution.

§39.42 Advance notice of material
risk-related rule changes by system-
ically important derivatives clear-
ing organizations.

A systemically important derivatives
clearing organization shall provide no-
tice to the Commission in advance of
any proposed change to its rules, proce-
dures, or operations that could materi-
ally affect the nature or level of risks
presented by the systemically impor-
tant derivatives clearing organization,
in accordance with the requirements of
§40.10 of this chapter.
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APPENDIX A TO PART 39—FORM DCO DERIVATIVES CLEARING ORGANIZATION
APPLICATION FOR REGISTRATION

OMB No. 3038-0076

COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION

FORM DCO

DERIVATIVES CLEARING ORGANIZATION
APPLICATION FOR REGISTRATION

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS

Intentional misstatements or omissions of fact may constitute federal criminal violations (7 U.S.C. 13
and 18 U.S.C. 1001) or grounds for disqualification from registration.

DEFINITIONS

Unless the context requires otherwise, all terms used in this Form DCO have the same meaning as in the
Commodity Exchange Act (“Act”), and in the General Rules and Regulations of the Commodity Futures
Trading Commission (“Commission”) thereunder. All references to Commission regulations are found at
17 CFR Ch. L.

For the purposes of this Form DCO, the term “Applicant™ shall include any applicant for registration as a
derivatives clearing organization.

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS

1. This Form DCO, which includes a Cover Sheet and required Exhibits (together, “Form DCO” or
“application™), is to be filed with the Commission by all applicants for registration as a derivatives
clearing organization, including applicants when amending a pending application, pursuant to Section
5b of the Act and the Commission’s regulations thereunder. Upon the filing of an application for
registration or an amendment to an application in accordance with the instructions provided herein, the
Commission will publish notice of the filing and afford interested persons an opportunity to submit
written data, views and comments concerning such application. No application for registration will be
effective unless the Commission, by order, grants such registration.

2. Individuals’ names, except the executing signature, shall be given in full (Last Name, First Name,
Middle Name).

With respect to the executing signature, it must be manually signed by a duly authorized representative
of the Applicant as follows: If the Form DCO is filed by a corporation, it must be signed in the name of
the corporation by a principal officer duly authorized; if filed by a limited liability company, it must be
signed in the name of the limited liability company by a manager or member duly authorized to sign on
the limited liability company’s behalf; if filed by a partnership, it must be signed in the name of the
partnership by a general partner duly authorized; if filed by an unincorporated organization or
association which is not a partnership, it must be signed in the name of such organization or
association by the managing agent, i.e., a duly authorized person who directs or manages or who
participates in the directing or managing of its affairs.

%)

4. If this Form DCO is being filed as an application for registration, all applicable items must be
answered in full. If any item or Exhibit is inapplicable. this response must be affirmatively indicated
by the designation “none,” “not applicable,” or “N/A,” as appropriate.

5. Under section 5b of the Act and the Commission’s regulations thereunder, the Commission is
authorized to solicit the information required to be supplied by this Form DCO from any Applicant
seeking registration as a derivatives clearing organization and from any registered derivatives clearing
organization. Disclosure by the Applicant of the information specified in this Form DCO is mandatory
prior to the start of the processing of an application for registration as a derivatives clearing
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organization. The information provided in this Form DCO will be used for the principal purpose of
determining whether the Commission should grant or deny registration to an Applicant.

The Commission may determine that additional information is required from the Applicant in
order to process its application. An Applicant is therefore encouraged to supplement this Form
DCO with any additional information that may be significant to its operation as a derivatives
clearing organization and to the Commission’s review of its application. A Form DCO which is
not prepared and executed in compliance with applicable requirements and instructions may be
returned as not acceptable for filing. Acceptance of this Form DCO, however, shall not
constitute a finding that the Form DCO has been filed as required or that the information
submitted is true, current or complete.

6. As provided in 17 CFR 39.3(a)(5), except in cases where the Applicant submits a request for
confidential treatment with the Secretary of the Commission pursuant to the Freedom of Information
Act and 17 CFR 145.9, information supplied in this application will be included routinely in the public
files of the Commission and will be available for inspection by any interested person.

APPLICATION AMENDMENTS

1. 17 CFR 39.3(a)(4) requires an Applicant to promptly amend its application if it discovers a material
omission or error in the application, or if there is a material change in the information contained in the
application, including any supplement or amendment thereto.

2. Applicants, when filing this Form DCO for purposes of amending a pending application, must re-file
an entire Cover Sheet, amended if necessary and including an executing signature, and attach thereto
revised Exhibits or other materials marked to show changes, as applicable. The submission of an
amendment to a pending application represents that the remaining items and Exhibits that are not
amended remain true, current, and complete as previously filed.

WHERE TO FILE

This Form DCO must be filed with the Commission in the format and manner specified by the
Commission.
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COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION

FORM DCO
DERIVATIVES CLEARING ORGANIZATION
APPLICATION FOR REGISTRATION

COVER SHEET

Exact name of Applicant as specified in charter

Address of principal executive offices

[ if this is an APPLICATION for registration, complete in full and check here.

[ 1f this is an AMENDMENT to a pending application, list below all items that are being amended and
check here.

GENERAL INFORMATION
1. Name under which business is or will be conducted, if different than name specified above (include

acronyms, if any):

2. Ifname of derivatives clearing organization is being amended, state previous derivatives clearing

organization name:

3. Additional contact information:

Website URL Main Phone Number

4. List of principal office(s) and address(es) where derivatives clearing organization activities are/will be
conducted:

Office Address
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BUSINESS ORGANIZATION

5. If Applicant is a successor to a previously registered derivatives clearing organization, please complete
the following:

a. Date of succession

b.  Full name and address of predecessor registrant

Name

Street Address

City State Country Zip Code

6. Applicant is a:
O Corporation
O Partnership (specify whether general or limited)
O Limited Liability Company

O other form of organization (specify)

7. Date of formation:

8. Jurisdiction of organization:

List all other jurisdictions in which Applicant is qualified to do business (including non-US
jurisdictions):

List all other regulatory licenses or registrations of Applicant (or exemptions from any licensing
requirement) including with non-US regulators:

9. FEIN or other Tax ID#:
10. Fiscal Year End:

851



Pt. 39, App. A 17 CFR Ch. | (4-1-20 Edition)

ADDITIONAL CONTACT INFORMATION
11. Provide contact information specifying name, title, phone numbers, mailing address and e-mail address
for the following individuals:

a. The primary contact for questions and correspondence regarding the application

Name and Title

Office Phone Number Mobile Phone Number

Mailing address E-mail Address

b.  The individual responsible for handling questions regarding the Applicant’s financial
statements

Name and Title

Office Phone Number Mobile Phone Number

Mailing address E-mail Address

c. The individual responsible for serving as the Chief Risk Officer of the Applicant pursuant to
§ 39.13 of the Commission’s regulations

Name and Title

Office Phone Number Mobile Phone Number

Mailing address E-mail Address

d.  The individual responsible for serving as the Chief Compliance Officer of the Applicant
pursuant to § 39.10 of the Commission’s regulations

Name and Title

Office Phone Number Mobile Phone Number
Mailing address E-mail Address
e.
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The individual responsible for serving as the chief legal officer of the Applicant

Name and Title

Office Phone Number Mobile Phone Number

Mailing address E-mail Address

12. Outside Service Providers: Provide contact information specifying name, title, phone numbers,
mailing address and e-mail address for any outside service provider retained by the Applicant as
follows:

a. Certified Public Accountant

Name and Title

Office Phone Number Mobile Phone Number

Mailing address E-mail Address

b. Legal Counsel

Name and Title

Office Phone Number Mobile Phone Number

Mailing address E-mail Address

c.  Records Storage or Management

Name and Title

Office Phone Number Mobile Phone Number

Mailing address E-mail Address

d. Business Continuity/Disaster Recovery

Name and Title

Office Phone Number Mobile Phone Number

Mailing address E-mail Address
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e. Professional consultants providing services related to this application

Name and Title

Office Phone Number Mobile Phone Number

Mailing address E-mail Address

13. Applicant agrees and consents that the notice of any proceeding before the Commission in connection
with this application may be given by sending such notice by certified mail to the person named below
at the address given.

Print Name and Title

Street Address

City State Country Zip Code

SIGNATURE/REPRESENTATION

14. Applicant has duly caused this application to be signed on its behalf by its duly authorized
representative as of the day of , 20 .
Applicant and the undersigned each represent hereby that, to the best of their knowledge, all
information contained herein is true, current and complete in all material respects. It is understood that
all required items and Exhibits are considered integral parts of this Form DCO and that the submission
of any amendment represents that all unamended items and Exhibits remain true, current, and complete
as previously filed.

Name of Applicant

By:

Manual Signature of Duly Authorized Person

Print Name and Title of Signatory
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COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION

FORM DCO

DERIVATIVES CLEARING ORGANIZATION
APPLICATION FOR REGISTRATION

EXHIBIT INSTRUCTIONS

1. The following Exhibits must be filed with the Commission by each Applicant seeking
registration as a derivatives clearing organization pursuant to section 5b of the Act and the
Commission’s regulations thereunder.

2. The application must include a Table of Contents listing each Exhibit required by this Form
DCO and indicating which, if any, Exhibits are inapplicable. For any Exhibit that is
inapplicable, next to the Exhibit letter specify “none,” “not applicable,” or “N/A,” as
appropriate.

3. The Exhibits must be labeled as specified in this Form DCO. If any Exhibit requires
information that is related to, or may be duplicative of, information required to be included in
another Exhibit, Applicant may summarize such information and provide a cross-reference to
the Exhibit that contains the required information.

4. If the information required in an Exhibit involves computerized programs or systems,
Applicant must submit descriptions of system test procedures, tests conducted, or test results
in sufficient detail to demonstrate the Applicant’s ability to comply with the core principles
specified in section 5b of the Act and the Commission’s regulations thereunder (the “Core
Principles™). With respect to each system test, Applicant must identify the methodology used
and provide the computer software, programs, and data necessary to enable the Commission
to duplicate each system test as it relates to the applicable Core Principle.

5. If Applicant seeks confidential treatment of any Exhibit or a portion of any Exhibit, Applicant
must mark such Exhibit with a prominent stamp, typed legend, or other suitable form of
notice on each page or portion of each page stating “Confidential Treatment Requested by
[Applicant].” If such marking is impractical under the circumstances, a cover sheet
prominently marked “Confidential Treatment Requested by [Applicant]” should be provided
for each group of records submitted for which confidential treatment is requested. Each of the
records transmitted in this matter shall be individually marked with an identifying number and
code so that they are separately identifiable. Applicant must also file a confidentiality request
with the Secretary of the Commission in accordance with 17 CFR 145.9.
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DESCRIPTION OF EXHIBITS

EXHIBIT A — GENERAL INFORMATION/COMPLIANCE

e Attach as Exhibit A-1, a regulatory compliance chart setting forth each Core Principle and providing
citations to the Applicant’s relevant rules, policies, and procedures that address each Core Principle,
and a brief summary of the manner in which Applicant will comply with each Core Principle.

e Attach as Exhibit A-2, a copy of Applicant’s rulebook. The rulebook must consist of all the rules
necessary to carry out Applicant’s role as a derivatives clearing organization. Applicant must certify
that its rules constitute a binding agreement between Applicant and its clearing members and, in
addition to any separate clearing member agreements, establish rights and obligations between
Applicant and its clearing members.

e Attach as Exhibit A-3, a narrative summary of Applicant’s proposed clearing activities including (i)
the anticipated start date of clearing products (or, if Applicant is already clearing products, the
anticipated start date of activities for which Applicant is seeking an amendment to its registration), and
(ii) a description of the scope of Applicant’s proposed clearing activities (e.g., clearing for a designated
contract market; clearing for a swap execution facility; clearing bilaterally executed products).

e Attach as Exhibit A-4, a detailed business plan setting forth, at a minimum, the nature of and rationale
for Applicant’s activities as a derivatives clearing organization, the context in which it is beginning or
expanding its activities, and the nature, terms, and conditions of the products it will clear.

e Attach as Exhibit A-5, a list of the names of any person (i) who owns 5% or more of Applicant’s stock
or other ownership or equity interests; or (ii) who, either directly or indirectly, through agreement or
otherwise, may control or direct the management or policies of Applicant. Provide as part of Exhibit
A-5 the full name and address of each such person, indicate the person’s ownership percentage, and
attach a copy of the agreement or, if there is no agreement, an explanation of the basis upon which
such person exercises or may exercise such control or direction.

e Attach as Exhibit A-6, a list of Applicant’s current officers, directors, governors, general partners,
LLC managers, and members of all standing committees, as applicable, or persons performing
functions similar to any of the foregoing, indicating for each:

a. Name and Title (with respect to a director, such title must include participation on
any committee of Applicant);

b. Dates of commencement and, if appropriate, termination of present term of office or
position;

c. Length of time each such person has held the same office or position;

d. Brief description of the business experience of each person over the last ten years;

e. Any other current business affiliations in the financial services industry;

f.  If such person is not an employee of Applicant, list any compensation paid to the
person as a result of his or her position at Applicant. For a director, describe any

performance-based compensation;

g. A certification for each such person that the individual would not be disqualified
under section 8a(2) of the Act or § 1.63; and

h.  With respect to a director, indicate whether such director is an independent director,
and whether such director is a market participant, and the basis for such a
determination as to the director’s status.
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If another entity will operate or control the day-to-day business operations of the Applicant, attach for such
entity all of the items indicated in Exhibit A-6.

e Attach as Exhibit A-7, a diagram of the entire corporate organizational structure of Applicant
including the legal name of all entities within the organizational structure and the applicable
percentage ownership among affiliated entities. Additionally, provide (i) a list of all jurisdictions in
which Applicant or its affiliated entities are doing business; (ii) the registration status of Applicant
and its affiliated entities, including pending applications or exemption requests and whether any
applications or exemptions have been denied (e.g., country, regulator, registration category, date of
registration or request for exemption, date of denial, if applicable); and (iii) the address for legal
service of process for Applicant (which cannot be a post office box) for each applicable jurisdiction.

e Attach as Exhibit A-8, a copy of the constituent documents, articles of incorporation or association
with all amendments thereto, partnership or limited liability agreements, and existing bylaws,
operating agreement, or instruments corresponding thereto, of Applicant. Provide a certificate of
good standing or its equivalent for Applicant for each jurisdiction in which Applicant is doing
business, including any foreign jurisdiction, dated within one month of the date of the Form DCO.

e Attach as Exhibit A-9, a brief description of any material pending legal proceeding(s) or
governmental investigation(s) to which Applicant or any of its affiliates is a party or is subject, or to
which any of its or their property is at issue. Include the name of the court or agency where the
proceeding(s) is pending, the date(s) instituted, the principal parties involved, a description of the
factual allegations in the complaint(s), the laws that were allegedly violated, and the relief sought.
Include similar information as to any such proceeding(s) or any investigation known to be
contemplated by any governmental agency.

e If Applicant intends to use the services of an outside service provider (including services of its
clearing members or market participants), to enable Applicant to comply with any of the Core
Principles, Applicant must submit as Exhibit A-10 all agreements entered into or to be entered into
between Applicant and the outside service provider, and identify (1) the services that will be
provided; (2) the staff of the outside service provider who will provide the services (specifying (i) in
which department or unit of the outside service provider they are employed, (ii) title, and (iii) if
known, level of expertise); and (3) the Core Principles addressed by such arrangement. Each
submitted agreement must include all attachments cited therein. If a submitted agreement is not final
and executed, the Applicant must submit evidence that constitutes reasonable assurance that such
services will be provided as soon as operations require.

e Attach as Exhibit A-11, documentation that demonstrates compliance with the Chief Compliance
Officer (“CCO”) requirements set forth in § 39.10(c), including but not limited to:

a. Evidence of the designation of an individual to serve as Applicant’s CCO with full
responsibility and authority to develop and enforce appropriate compliance policies
and procedures;

b. A description of the background and skills of the person designated as the CCO and
a certification that the individual would not be disqualified under section 8a(2) or
8a(3) of the Act;

c. Identification of to whom the CCO reports (i.e., the senior officer of the derivatives
clearing organization, the senior officer responsible for the derivative clearing
organization’s clearing activities, or the Board of Directors of the derivatives
clearing organization);

d.  Any plan of communication or regular or special meetings between the CCO and the
Board of Directors or senior officer as appropriate;

e. A job description setting forth the CCO’s duties;

f.  Procedures for the remediation of noncompliance issues; and
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2. A copy of Applicant’s written compliance policies and procedures (including a code
of ethics and conflict of interest policy).

e Attach as Exhibit A-12, a description of Applicant’s enterprise risk management program, and how
it complies with the requirements set forth in § 39.10(d).

EXHIBIT B — FINANCIAL RESOURCES

e Attach as Exhibit B, documents that demonstrate compliance with the financial resources
requirements set forth in § 39.11 of the Commission’s regulations, including but not limited to:

a. General — Provide as Exhibit B-1:

(1) The most recent year-end audited financial statements of Applicant calculated
in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S.
GAAP”), including the balance sheet, income statement, statement of cash
flows, notes to the financial statements, and an independent auditor’s report
issued by a certified public accountant, dated as of the end of Applicant’s last
fiscal year-end prior to the date of filing the Form DCO. If Applicant does
not have its own year-end audited financial statements, it may submit the
audited financial statements of its direct parent company, dated as of the end
of the direct parent company’s last fiscal year-end prior to the date of filing
the Form DCO. Applicant should be aware that once it is registered as a
derivatives clearing organization it must submit its own year-end audited
financial statements, as required by § 39.11(f)(2)(i), and the cost of such audit
must be included in Applicant’s calculation of its total projected operating
costs in Exhibit B-3, as described in paragraph c(5) below;

(2)  If Applicant is unable to submit a copy of its own audited financial statements
or the audited financial statements of its direct parent company, as required by
paragraph a(l) above, Applicant must provide its year-end financial
statements calculated in accordance with U.S. GAAP, including the balance
sheet, income statement, statement of cash flows, and notes to the financial
statements, dated as of the end of Applicant’s last fiscal year-end prior to the
date of filing the Form DCO. These year-end financial statements must be
accompanied by an independent accountant’s review report issued by a
certified public accountant;

(3)  If the audited or reviewed financial statements submitted in accordance with
either paragraph a(l) or paragraph a(2) above are not dated as of the end of
Applicant’s last fiscal quarter prior to the date of filing the Form DCO,
Applicant must also provide a set of Applicant’s quarterly unaudited financial
statements, dated as of the end of Applicant’s last fiscal quarter prior to the
date of filing the Form DCO;

(4) If Applicant is incorporated or organized under the laws of any foreign
country, it may submit the financial statements described above prepared in
accordance with either U.S.GAAP or the International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.
Applicant should be aware that once it is registered as a derivatives clearing
organization it must submit financial statements prepared in accordance with
U.S. GAAP or IFRS, as required by § 39.11(f)(1) and (f)(2);

(5)  If Applicant is a start-up or will commence operations after it is registered as a
derivatives clearing organization, Applicant must submit a set of pro-forma
financial statements, including the balance sheet, income statement, and
statement of cash flows, dated as of the first month-end after Applicant’s
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expected start date. The set of pro-forma statements must include a narrative
description of how the estimates were determined;

(6) A narrative description of how Applicant will fund its financial resources
obligations on the first day of its operation as a registered derivatives clearing
organization; and

(7)  Applicant must complete the form that is used by registered derivatives
clearing organizations for quarterly reports under § 39.11(f)(1), as of the date
of the most recent financial statements provided in Exhibit B-1. If Applicant
is a start-up, Applicant must complete the form using estimated figures and
must provide a narrative description of how the estimates were determined.
The Division of Clearing and Risk will provide the current form to Applicant,
upon request.

b. Default Resources — Provide as Exhibit B-2:

(1) A calculation of the financial resources needed to enable Applicant to meet its
requirements under § 39.11(a)(1), as of the date of the most recent financial
statements provided in Exhibit B-1. Applicant must provide hypothetical
default scenarios designed to reflect a variety of market conditions, and the
assumptions and variables underlying the scenarios must be explained. All
results of the analysis must be included. This calculation requires a start-up
enterprise to estimate its largest anticipated financial exposure and explain the
basis for such estimate;

(2)  Evidence of unencumbered assets sufficient to satisfy § 39.11(a)(1), as of the
date of the most recent financial statements provided in Exhibit B-1. For
example, this may be demonstrated by audited financial statements or a copy
of a bank balance statement(s), custodian statement(s), or statement(s) from
any other institution holding such assets for each type of financial resource. A
start-up enterprise may not make this demonstration through audited financial
statements. If relying on § 39.11(b)(1)(v), such other resources must be
thoroughly explained. If Applicant intends to use a committed line of credit
or similar facility to meet the liquidity requirement pursuant to
§ 39.11(e)(1)(iii), Applicant must provide a copy of the applicable credit
agreement(s). If relying on § 39.11(b)(1)(i) and/or (v), Applicant cannot also
count these assets when demonstrating its compliance with its operating
resources requirement under § 39.11(a)(2) and Applicant must detail the
amounts or percentages of such assets that apply to each financial resource
requirement;

(3) A demonstration that Applicant can perform the monthly calculations required
by §39.11(c)(1);

(4) A demonstration that Applicant’s financial resources are sufficiently liquid as
required by §39.11(e)(1), as of the date of the most recent financial
statements provided in Exhibit B-1;

(5) A demonstration of how Applicant will be able to maintain, at all times, the
level of resources required by § 39.11(a)(1); and

(6) A demonstration of how default resources financial information will be
updated and reported to clearing members and the public under § 39.21, and
to the Commission as required by § 39.11(f)(1) and § 39.19.
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c. Operating Resources — Provide as Exhibit B-3:

(1) A calculation of the financial resources needed to enable Applicant to meet its
requirements under § 39.11(a)(2), as of the date of the most recent financial
statements provided in Exhibit B-1;

(2)  Evidence of assets sufficient to satisfy the amount required under
§ 39.11(a)(2), as of the date of the most recent financial statements provided
in Exhibit B-1. For example, this may be demonstrated by audited financial
statements or a copy of a bank balance statement(s), custodian statement(s), or
statement(s) from any other institution holding such assets, in the name of
Applicant, for each type of financial resource. A start-up enterprise may not
make this demonstration through audited financial statements. If relying on
§ 39.11(b)(2)(ii), such other resources must be thoroughly explained. If
Applicant intends to use a committed line of credit or similar facility to meet
the liquidity requirement pursuant to § 39.11(e)(2), Applicant must provide a
copy of the applicable credit agreement(s). If relying on § 39.11(b)(2)(i) or
(ii), Applicant cannot also count these assets when demonstrating its
compliance with meeting its default resources requirement under
§39.11(a)(1) and Applicant must detail the amounts or percentages of such
assets that apply to each financial resource requirement;

(3) A narrative statement demonstrating the adequacy of Applicant’s physical
infrastructure to carry out business operations, which includes a principal
executive office (separate from any personal dwelling) with a street address
(not merely a post office box number). For its principal executive office and
other facilities Applicant plans to occupy in carrying out its functions as a
derivatives clearing organization, a description of the space (e.g., location and
square footage), use of the space (e.g., executive office, data center), and the
basis for Applicant’s right to occupy the space (e.g., lease, agreement with
parent company to share leased space);

(4) A narrative statement demonstrating the adequacy of the technological
systems necessary to carry out Applicant’s business operations, including a
description of Applicant’s information technology and telecommunications
systems and a timetable for full operability;

(5) A calculation pursuant to § 39.11(c)(2), including the total projected operating
costs for Applicant’s first year of operation as a derivatives clearing
organization, calculated on a monthly basis with an explanation of the basis
for calculating each cost and a discussion of the type, nature, and number of
the various costs included;

(6) A demonstration that Applicant’s financial resources are sufficiently liquid
and unencumbered, as required by § 39.11(e)(2), as of the date of the most
recent financial statements provided in Exhibit B-1;

(7) A demonstration of how Applicant will maintain, at all times, the level of
resources required by § 39.11(a)(2) with an explanation of asset valuation
methodology and calculation of projected revenue, if applicable; and

(8) A demonstration of how financial information for operating resources will be
updated and reported to clearing members and the public under § 39.21, and
to the Commission as required by § 39.11(f)(1) and § 39.19.
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d.  Human Resources — Provide as Exhibit B-4:

(1)  An organizational chart showing Applicant’s current and planned staff by
position and title, including key personnel (as such term is defined in § 39.2)
and, if applicable, managerial staff reporting to key personnel.

(2) A discussion and description of the staffing requirements needed to fulfill all
operations and associated functions, tasks, services, and areas of supervision
necessary to operate Applicant on a day-to-day basis; and

(3) The names and qualifications of individuals who are key personnel or other
managerial staff who will carry out the operations and associated functions,
tasks, services, and supervision needed to run the Applicant on day-to-day
basis. In particular, Applicant must identify such individuals who are
responsible for risk management, treasury, clearing operations and compliance
(and specify whether each such person is an employee or consultant/agent).

EXHIBIT C — PARTICIPANT AND PRODUCT ELIGIBILITY

e Attach as Exhibit C, documents that demonstrate compliance with the participant and product
eligibility requirements set forth in § 39.12 of the Commission’s regulations, including but not
limited to:

a. Participant Eligibility — Provide as Exhibit C-1, an explanation of the requirements
for becoming a clearing member and how those requirements satisfy § 39.12 and,
where applicable, support Applicant’s compliance with other Core Principles.
Applicant must address how its participant eligibility requirements comply with the
core principles and regulations thereunder for financial resources, risk management,
and operational capacity. The explanation also must include:

(1) A final version of the membership agreement between Applicant and its
clearing members that sets forth the full scope of respective rights and
obligations;

(2) A discussion of how Applicant will monitor for and enforce compliance with
its eligibility criteria, especially minimum financial requirements;

(3)  An explanation of how the eligibility criteria are objective and allow for fair
and open access to Applicant. Applicant must include an explanation of the
differences between various classes of membership or participation that might
be based on different levels of capital and/or creditworthiness. Applicant must
also include information about whether any differences exist in how Applicant
will monitor and enforce the obligations of its various clearing members
including any differences in access, privilege, margin levels, position limits, or
other controls;

(4) If Applicant allows intermediation, Applicant must describe the requirements
applicable to those who may act as intermediaries on behalf of customers or
other market participants;

(5) A description of the program for monitoring the financial status of the clearing
members on an ongoing basis;

(6)  The procedures that Applicant will follow in the event of the bankruptcy or
insolvency of a clearing member, which did not result in a default to
Applicant;
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(7) A description of whether and how Applicant would adjust clearing member
participation under continuing eligibility criteria based on the financial, risk,
or operational status of a clearing member;

(8) A discussion of whether Applicant’s clearing members will be required to be
registered with the Commission; and

(9) A list of current or prospective clearing members. If a current or prospective
clearing member is a Commission registrant, Applicant must identify the
member’s designated self-regulatory organization.

b. Product Eligibility — Provide as Exhibit C-2, an explanation of the criteria used to
determine the eligibility of products submitted for clearing, including:

(1)  The regulatory status of each market on which a contract to be cleared by
Applicant is traded (e.g., designated contract market, swap execution facility,
not a registered market), and whether the market for which Applicant clears
intends to join the Joint Audit Committee. For bilaterally executed
agreements, contracts, or transactions not traded on a registered market,
Applicant must describe the nature of the related market and its interest in
having the particular bilaterally executed agreement, contract, or transaction
cleared;

(2) The criteria, and the factors considered in establishing the criteria, for
determining the types of products that will be cleared;

(3)  An explanation of how the criteria for deciding what products to clear take
into account the different risks inherent in clearing different agreements,
contracts, or transactions and how those criteria affect maintenance of assets to
support the guarantee function in varying risk environments;

(4) A precise list of all the agreements, contracts, or transactions to be covered by
Applicant’s registration order, including the terms and conditions of all
agreements, contracts, or transactions;

(5) A forecast of expected volume and open interest at the outset of clearing
operations as a derivatives clearing organization, after six months, and after
one year of operation as a derivatives clearing organization; and

(6) The mechanics of clearing each contract, such as reliance on exchange for
physical, exchange for swap, or other substitution activity; whether the
contracts are matched prior to submission for clearing or after submission; and
other aspects of clearing mechanics that are relevant to understanding the
products that would be eligible for clearing.

EXHIBIT D — RISK MANAGEMENT

e Attach as Exhibit D, documents that demonstrate compliance with the risk management
requirements set forth in § 39.13 of the Commission’s regulations, including but not limited to:

a. Risk Management Framework — Provide as Exhibit D-1, a copy of Applicant’s
written policies, procedures, and controls, as approved by Applicant’s Board of
Directors, that establish Applicant’s risk management framework as required by
§39.13(b). Applicant must also provide a description of the composition and
responsibilities of Applicant’s Risk Management Committee.
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b. Measuring Risk — Provide as Exhibit D-2, a narrative explanation of how Applicant
has projected and will continue to measure its counterparty risk exposure, including:

(1) A description of the risk-based margin calculation methodology;

(2)  The assumptions upon which the methodology was designed, including the
risk analysis tools and procedures employed in the design process;

(3)  An explanation as to whether other margining methodologies were considered
and, if so, why they were not chosen;

(4) A demonstration of the margin methodology as applied to real or hypothetical
clearing scenarios;

(5) A description of the data sources for inputs used in the methodology, e.g.,
historical price data reflecting market volatility over various periods of time;

(6) A description of the sources of price data for the measurement of current
exposures and the valuation models for addressing circumstances where
pricing data is not readily available or reliable;

(7)  The frequency and circumstances under which the margin methodology will
be reviewed and the criteria for deciding how often to review and whether to
modify a margin methodology;

(8)  Anindependent validation of Applicant’s systems for generating initial margin
requirements, including its theoretical models;

(9) The frequency of measuring counterparty risk exposures (mark to market),
whether counterparty risk exposures are routinely measured on an intraday
basis, whether Applicant has the operational capacity to measure counterparty
risk exposures on an intraday basis, and the circumstances under which
Applicant would conduct a non-routine intraday measurement of counterparty
risk exposures;

(10) Preliminary forecasts regarding future counterparty risk exposure and
assumptions upon which such forecasts of exposure are based;

(11) A description of any systems or software that Applicant will require clearing
members to use in order to margin their positions in their internal bookkeeping
systems, and whether and under what terms and conditions Applicant will
provide such systems or software to clearing members; and

(12) A description of the extent to which counterparty risk can be offset through
the clearing process (i.e., the limitations, if any, on Applicant’s duty to fulfill
its obligations as the buyer to every seller and the seller to every buyer).

c. Limiting Risk — Provide as Exhibit D-3, a narrative discussion addressing the
specifics of Applicant’s clearing activities, including:

(1)  How Applicant will collect financial information about its clearing members
and other traders or market participants, monitor price movements, and mark
to market, on a daily basis, the products and/or portfolios it clears;
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(2) How Applicant will monitor accounts carried by clearing members, the
accumulation of positions by clearing members and other market participants,
and compliance with risk limits; and how it will use large trader information;

(3)  How Applicant will determine variation margin levels and outstanding initial
margin due;

(4) How Applicant will identify unusually large pays on a proactive basis before
they occur;

(5) Whether and how Applicant will compare price moves and position
information to historical patterns and to the financial information collected
from its clearing members; and how it will identify unusually large pays on a
daily basis;

(6) How Applicant will use various risk tools and procedures such as: (i) value-at-
risk calculations; (ii) stress testing; (iii) back testing; and/or (iv) other risk
management tools and procedures. If Applicant is currently clearing products
for which it is seeking registration as a derivatives clearing organization,
provide back testing results for actual portfolios containing each such product,
which demonstrate margin coverage at least at the 99 percent confidence level
over the previous 252 trading days;

(7)  How Applicant will communicate with clearing members, settlement banks,
other derivatives clearing organizations, designated contract markets, swap
execution facilities, major swap participants, swap data repositories, and other
entities in emergency situations or circumstances that might require immediate
action by the Applicant;

(8) How Applicant will monitor risk outside of its business hours;
(9)  How Applicant will review its clearing members’ risk management practices;

(10) Whether Applicant will impose credit limits and/or employ other risk filters
(such as automatic system denial of entry of trades under certain conditions);

(11) Plans for handling “extreme market volatility” and how Applicant defines that
term;

(12) An explanation of how Applicant will be able to offset positions in order to
manage risk including: (i) ensuring both Applicant and clearing members have
the operational capacity to do so; and (ii) liquidity of the relevant market,
especially with regard to bilaterally executed products;

~

(13) Plans for managing accounts that are “too big” to liquidate and for conducting
“what if” analyses on these accounts;

(14) If options are involved, how Applicant will manage the different and more
complex risk presented by these products;

(15) If Applicant intends to clear swaps, whether and how often Applicant will
offer multilateral portfolio compression exercises for its clearing members;
and

(16) If Applicant intends to clear credit default swaps, credit default futures, and
any derivatives that reference either credit default swaps or credit default
futures, how Applicant will manage the unique risks associated with clearing
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these products, including but not limited to liquidity risk, currency risk,
seasonable risk, compounding risk, jump-to-default risk or similar jump risk.

d. Existence of collateral (funds and assets) to apply to losses resulting from realized
risk — Provide as Exhibit D-4:

(1) An explanation of the factors, process, and methodology used for calculating
and setting required collateral levels, the required inputs, the appropriateness
of those inputs, and an illustrative example;

(2)  An analysis supporting the sufficiency of Applicant’s collateral levels for
capturing all or most price moves that may take place in one settlement cycle;

(3) A description of how Applicant will value open positions and collateral assets;

(4) A description and explanation of the forms of assets allowed as collateral, why
they are acceptable, and whether there are any haircuts or concentration limits
or charges on certain kinds of assets, including how often any such haircuts
and concentration limits or charges are reviewed;

(5)  An explanation of how and when Applicant will collect collateral, whether and
under what circumstances it will collect collateral on an intraday basis, and
what will happen if collateral is not received in a timely manner. Include a
proposed collateral collection schedule based on changes in market positions
and collateral values; and

(6) If options are involved, a full explanation of how Applicant will manage the
associated risk through the use of collateral including, if applicable, a
discussion of Applicant’s option pricing model, how it establishes its implied
volatility scan range, and other matters related to the complex matter of
managing the risk associated with the clearing of option contracts.

EXHIBIT E — SETTLEMENT PROCEDURES

e Attach as Exhibit E, documents that demonstrate compliance with the settlement procedures
requirements set forth in § 39.14 of the Commission’s regulations, including but not limited to:

a. Settlement — Provide as Exhibit E-1, a full description of the daily process of
settling financial obligations on all open positions being cleared. This must include:

(1)  Procedures for completing settlements on a timely basis during normal market
conditions (and no less frequently than once each business day);

(2)  Procedures for completing settlements on a timely basis in varying market
circumstances including in the event of a default by the clearing member
creating the largest financial exposure for Applicant in extreme but plausible
market conditions;

(3) A description of how contracts will be marked to market on at least a daily
basis;

(4)  Identification of the settlement banks used by Applicant (including
identification of the lead settlement bank, if applicable) and a copy of
Applicant’s settlement bank agreement(s). Such settlement bank agreements
must (i) outline daily cash settlement procedures, (ii) state clearly when
settlement fund transfers will occur, (iii) provide procedures for settlements on
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bank holidays when the markets are open, and (iv) ensure that settlements are
final when effected;

(5) Identification of settlement banks that Applicant will allow its clearing
members to use for margin calls and variation settlements;

(6) A description of the criteria and review process used by Applicant when
selecting settlement banks to be used by the Applicant or its clearing
members, including criteria addressing the capitalization, creditworthiness,
access to liquidity, operational reliability, and regulation or supervision of
such settlement banks;

(7)  Procedures for monitoring the continued appropriateness of each approved
settlement bank, including a description of how Applicant monitors the full
range and concentration of its exposures to each settlement bank;

(8)  The specific means by which settlement instructions are communicated from
Applicant to the settlement bank(s);

(9) A timetable showing the flow of funds associated with the settlement of
financial obligations with respect to all cleared products for a 24-hour period
or such other settlement timeframe specified with respect to a particular
product; this may be presented in the form of a chart, as in the following

example:
FORM DCO - SAMPLE SETTLEMENT CYCLE CHART
[Specify U.S. Dollar or other currency as applicable]
TRADE DATE=T
[INSERT TIME ZONE] EXAMPLE OF SETTLEMENT ACTIVITY FOR WHICH TIMES SHOULD BE
[INSERT EXACT TIMES | PROVIDED
BELOW]
T: pm Last market closes (end of regular trading hours).
T: Approx. pm DCO/DCM/SEF establishes daily settlement price for each product based on
information generated by its [INSERT NAME OF APPLICABLE CLEARING
SYSTEM].
T: By pm Clearing members’ position information for intraday settlement is obtained from
DCO'’s clearing system.
T+1: Approx. am DCO provides daily initial margin (IM) and settlement variation/option premium
(SVOP) amounts to clearing members and banks.
T+1: By am Banks commit to pay daily IM and SVOP amounts.
T+1: Approx. am Banks pay daily IM and SVOP amounts from clearing members to DCO.
T+1: Approx. __am Banks pay daily IM and SVOP amounts from DCO to clearing members.
T: Approx. pm DCO/DCM/SEF determines prices for intraday settiement.
T: Approx. pm Clearing members’ position information for intraday settlement is obtained from
DCO’s clearing system.
T: By approx. pm DCO provides intraday IM and SVOP amounts to banks and clearing members.
T: By pm Banks commit to pay intraday IM and SVOP amounts.
T: Approx. pm Banks pay intraday IM and SVOP amounts from clearing members to DCO.
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| T: Approx. pm | Banks pay intraday IM and SVOP amounts from DCO to clearing members. |

(10) A description of what happens in the event that there are insufficient funds in a
clearing member’s settlement account;

(11) An explanation of how and when Applicant will collect variation margin,
whether and under what circumstances it will collect variation margin on an
intraday basis, what will happen if variation margin is not received in a timely
manner, and a proposed variation margin collection schedule based on
changes in market prices;

(12) All the information above, to the extent relevant, for any products cleared that
may be denominated in a foreign currency; and

(13) With respect to physical settlements, identify Applicant’s rules that clearly
state each obligation of Applicant with respect to physical deliveries, and
explain how Applicant intends to identify and manage risks arising from
physical settlement.

b. Recordkeeping — Provide as Exhibit E-2, a full description of the following:

(1) The nature and quality of the information collected concerning the flow of
funds involved in clearing and settlement; and

(2)  How such information will be recorded, maintained, and accessed.

c. Relationships with other clearing organizations — Provide as Exhibit E-3, a
description of Applicant’s relationships with other derivatives clearing organizations,
clearing agencies, financial market utilities, or foreign entities that perform similar
functions, including how compliance with the terms and conditions of agreements or
arrangements with such other entities will be satisfied, e.g.. any netting or offset
arrangements, cross-margining, portfolio margining, linkage, common banking,
common clearing programs or limited guaranty agreements or arrangements.

EXHIBIT F — TREATMENT OF FUNDS

e Attach as Exhibit F, documents that demonstrate compliance with the treatment of funds
requirements set forth in § 39.15 of the Commission’s regulations, including but not limited to:

a. Safe custody — Provide as Exhibit F-1, documents that demonstrate:

(1)  How Applicant will ensure the safekeeping of funds and assets belonging to
clearing members and their customers in depositories and how Applicant will
minimize the risk of loss or of delay in accessing such funds and assets;

(2) The depositories that will hold such funds and assets and any written
agreements between or among such depositories, Applicant, or its clearing
members regarding the legal status of the funds and assets and the specific
conditions or prerequisites for movement of the funds and assets; and

(3) How Applicant will limit the concentration of risk in depositories where such
funds and assets are deposited.

b. Segregation of customer and proprietary funds and assets — Provide as Exhibit F-2,
documents that demonstrate:
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(1)  The appropriate segregation of customer funds and assets and associated
acknowledgment documentation, including the acknowledgment letters
required under §§ 1.20 and/or 22.5, as applicable, for each bank or trust
company that Applicant will use for the deposit of customer funds and assets;
and

(2) Requirements or restrictions regarding commingling customer funds and
assets with proprietary funds and assets, obligating customer funds and assets
for any purpose other than to purchase, clear, and settle the products Applicant
is clearing, procedures regarding customer funds and assets which are subject
to cross-margin or similar agreements, and any other aspects of the
segregation of customer funds and assets.

c. Investment standards — Provide as Exhibit F-3, documents that demonstrate:

(1)  Policies and procedures to ensure that funds and assets belonging to clearing
members and their customers would only be invested in instruments with
minimal credit, market, and liquidity risks, and that any investment of
customer funds or assets would comply with the requirements of § 1.25; and

(2) How Applicant will obtain and keep associated records and data regarding the
details of such investments.

EXHIBIT G — DEFAULT RULES AND PROCEDURES

e Attach as Exhibit G, documents that demonstrate compliance with the default rules and
procedures requirements set forth in § 39.16 of the Commission’s regulations, including but not
limited to:

a. Default Management Plan — Applicant must provide a copy of its written default
management plan which must contain all of the information required by § 39.16(b),
along with Applicant’s most recently documented results of a test of its default
management plan.

b. Definition of default — Applicant must describe or otherwise document:

(1) The events (activities, lapses, or situations) that will constitute a clearing
member default;

(2) What action Applicant can take upon a default and how Applicant will
otherwise enforce the rules applicable in the event of default, including the
steps and the sequence of the steps that will be followed. Identify whether a
Default Management Committee exists and, if so, its role in the default
process; and

(3) An example of a hypothetical default scenario and the results of the default
management process used in the scenario.

c. Remedial action — Applicant must describe or otherwise document:

(1)  The authority and methods by which Applicant may take appropriate action in
the event of the default of a clearing member which may include, among other
things, liquidating positions, hedging, auctioning, allocating (including any
obligations of clearing members to participate in auctions or to accept
allocations), and transferring of customer accounts to another clearing member
(including an explanation of the movement of positions and collateral on
deposit); and
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(2)  Actions taken by a clearing member or other events that would put a clearing
member on Applicant’s “watch list” or similar device.

d. Process to address shortfalls — Applicant must describe or otherwise document:

(1) Procedures for the prompt application of Applicant and/or clearing member
financial resources to address monetary shortfalls resulting from a default;

(2) How Applicant will make publicly available its default rules including a
description of the priority of application of financial resources in the event of
default (i.e., the “waterfall”); and

(3) How Applicant will take timely action to contain losses and liquidity pressures
and to continue to meet each obligation of Applicant.

e. Use of cross-margin programs — Describe or otherwise document, as applicable, how
cross-margining programs will provide for fair and efficient means of covering
losses in the event of a default of any clearing member participating in the program.

f. Customer priority rule — Describe or otherwise document rules and procedures
regarding priority of customer accounts over proprietary accounts of defaulting
clearing members and, where applicable, specifically in the context of specialized
margin reduction programs such as cross-margining or common banking
arrangements with other derivatives clearing organizations, clearing agencies,
financial market utilities, or foreign entities that perform similar functions.

EXHIBIT H — RULE ENFORCEMENT

e Attach as Exhibit H, documents that demonstrate compliance with the rule enforcement
requirements set forth in § 39.17 of the Commission’s regulations, including but not limited to:

a. Surveillance — Describe or otherwise document arrangements and resources for the
effective monitoring of compliance with Applicant’s rules.

b. Enforcement — Describe or otherwise document:

(1)  Arrangements and resources for enforcing compliance with Applicant’s rules
and addressing instances of non-compliance, including disciplinary tools such
as limiting, suspending, or terminating a clearing member’s access or member
privileges; and

(2) The standards and any procedural protections Applicant will follow in
imposing any such enforcement measure.

c. Dispute resolution — Describe or otherwise document arrangements and resources for
resolution of disputes between clearing members and Applicant.

EXHIBIT I — SYSTEM SAFEGUARDS

e Attach as Exhibit I, documents that demonstrate compliance with the system safeguards
requirements set forth in § 39.18 of the Commission’s regulations, including but not limited to:

a. A description of Applicant’s program of risk analysis and oversight with respect to
its operations and automated systems. This program must be designed to ensure
daily processing, clearing, and settlement of transactions and address each of the
following categories of risk:

(1)  Information security;
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(2)  Business continuity-disaster recovery planning and resources;
(3)  Capacity and performance planning;

(4)  Systems operations;

(5)  Systems development and quality assurance; and

(6)  Physical security and environmental controls.

b.  An explanation of how Applicant will establish and maintain resources that allow for
the fulfillment of its program of risk analysis and oversight with respect to its
operations and automated systems, and a description of such resources, including:

(1) A description of how Applicant will periodically verify that its resources are
adequate to ensure daily processing, clearing, and, settlement;

(2) A demonstration that Applicant’s automated systems are reliable, secure, and
have (and will continue to have) adequate scalable capacity;

(3) A description of the physical, technological and personnel resources and
procedures used by Applicant as part of its business continuity and disaster
recovery plan, and support for the conclusion that these resources are
sufficient to enable the Applicant to resume daily processing, clearing, and
settlement no later than the next business day following a disruption; and

(4) A statement identifying which such resources are Applicant’s own resources
and which are provided by a service provider (outsourced). For resources that
are outsourced, provide (i) all contracts governing the outsourcing
arrangements, including all schedules and other supplemental materials, and
(ii) a demonstration that Applicant employs personnel with the expertise
necessary to enable them to supervise the service provider’s delivery of the
services.

c. An explanation of how Applicant will ensure the proper functioning of its systems,
including its program for the periodic objective testing and review of its systems and
back-up facilities (including all of its own and outsourced resources), and
verification that all such resources will work effectively together;

d. Identification of the persons conducting the testing, including information as to their
qualifications and independence;

e. A description of Applicant’s emergency procedures, including a copy of its written
plan for business continuity and disaster recovery and a description of how Applicant
will coordinate its business continuity and disaster recovery plan (including testing)
with its clearing members and providers of essential services such as
telecommunications, power, and water; and

f. A description of how Applicant will report exceptional events and planned changes
to the Commission as required by §§ 39.18(g) and 39.18(h).

EXHIBIT J — REPORTING

e Attach as Exhibit J, documents that demonstrate compliance with the reporting requirements set
forth in § 39.19 of the Commission’s regulations, including but not limited to:

a. A description of how Applicant will make available to Commission staff all the
information Commission staff needs in order to carry out effective oversight, e.g.,
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the internal staff procedures Applicant will follow to provide such information. If
the laws or regulations of any foreign country in which Applicant is incorporated or
organized require any approval(s) by a foreign regulatory authority with respect to
the provision of any information to the Commission, Applicant must submit
evidence that such approval(s) have been obtained.

b. A representation that the Applicant will submit the information required to satisfy
the daily, quarterly, annual, event-specific, and requested reporting requirements
specified in § 39.19(c) of the Commission’s regulations, in the format and manner
and within the time specified by the Commission.

EXHIBIT K — RECORDKEEPING

e Attach as Exhibit K, documents that demonstrate compliance with the recordkeeping
requirements set forth in § 39.20 of the Commission’s regulations, including but not limited to:

a. Applicant’s recordkeeping and record retention policies and procedures;

b. The different activities related to the entity as a derivatives clearing organization for
which it must maintain records;

c.  The manner in which records relating to swaps and swap data are gathered and
maintained; and

d. How Applicant will satisfy the performance standards of § 1.31 as applicable to
derivatives clearing organizations, including:

(1) What “full” or “complete” will encompass with respect to each type of book
or record that will be maintained;

(2) The form and manner in which books or records will be compiled and
maintained with respect to each type of activity for which such books or
records will be kept;

(3)  Confirmation that books and records will be open to inspection by any
representative of the Commission or of the U.S. Department of Justice;

(4) How long books and records will be readily available and how they will be
made readily available during the first two years; and

e. How long books and records will be maintained (and confirmation that, in any event,
they will be maintained as required in § 1.31).

EXHIBIT L — PUBLIC INFORMATION

e Attach as Exhibit L, documents that demonstrate compliance with the public information
requirements set forth in § 39.21 of the Commission’s regulations, including but not limited to:

a. Applicant’s procedures for making its rulebook, a list of all current clearing
members, and all other information listed in § 39.21(c) readily available to the
general public, in a timely manner, by posting such information on Applicant’s
website;

b. The URLs for Applicant’s website for each item listed in § 39.21(c)(1) through
©9.

c. Any other information routinely made available to the public by Applicant;
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d. How Applicant will make information available to clearing members and market
participants in order to allow such persons to become familiar with Applicant’s
procedures before participating in clearing operations; and

e. How clearing members will be informed of their specific rights and obligations
preceding a default and upon a default, and of the specific rights, options, and
obligations of Applicant preceding and upon a clearing member’s default.

EXHIBIT M — INFORMATION SHARING

e Attach as Exhibit M, documents that demonstrate compliance with the information sharing
requirements set forth in § 39.22 of the Commission’s regulations, including but not limited to:

a. The appropriate and applicable information sharing agreements to which Applicant
is, or intends to be, a party including any domestic or international information-
sharing agreements or arrangements, whether formal or informal, which involve or
relate to Applicant’s operations, especially as it relates to measuring and addressing
counterparty risk;

b. A description of the types of information expected to be shared and how that
information will be shared;

c.  An explanation as to how information obtained pursuant to any information-sharing
agreements or arrangements would be used to further the objectives of Applicant’s
risk management program and any of its surveillance programs including financial
surveillance and continuing eligibility of its clearing members; and

d.  An explanation as to how Applicant expects to obtain accurate information pursuant
to the information-sharing agreement or arrangement and the mechanisms or
procedures which would allow for timely use and application of all information.

EXHIBIT N — ANTITRUST CONSIDERATIONS

e Attach as Exhibit N, documents that demonstrate compliance with the antitrust considerations
requirements set forth in § 39.23 of the Commission’s regulations, including but not limited to
policies or procedures to ensure compliance with the antitrust considerations requirements.

EXHIBIT O — GOVERNANCE

e Attach as Exhibit O, documents that demonstrate compliance with the governance fitness
standards requirements set forth in § 39.24 of the Commission’s regulations, including but not
limited to:

a. A copy of:
(1) The charter (or mission statement) of Applicant (if not attached as Exhibit A-8);

(2) The charter (or mission statement) of Applicant’s Board of Directors, each
committee composed entirely or in part of members of the Board of Directors
(including any Executive Committee), as well as each other committee that has
the authority to amend or constrain actions of Applicant’s Board of Directors (if
not attached as Exhibit A-8);

(3) If another entity “operates” the Applicant, the charter (or mission statement) of
such entity’s Board of Directors (if not attached as Exhibit A-8); and a
description of the manner in which the Applicant will ensure that such entity’s
officers, directors, employees, and agents and such entity’s books and records
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shall be subject to the authority of the Commission pursuant to the Act and the
Commission’s regulations thereunder; and

(4) An internal organizational chart showing the lines of responsibility and
accountability for each operational unit.

b. A description of how Applicant’s governance arrangements place a high priority on
Applicant’s safety and efficiency and explicitly support the stability of the broader
financial system and other relevant public interest considerations of clearing
members, customers of clearing members, and other relevant stakeholders;

c. A description of how the Board of Directors makes certain that Applicant’s design,
rules, overall strategy, and major decisions appropriately reflect the legitimate
interests of clearing members, customers of clearing members, and other relevant
stakeholders;

d. A description of how major decisions of the Board of Directors are clearly disclosed
to clearing members and other relevant stakeholders, and will be disclosed to the
Commission, and how major decisions of the Board of Directors having a broad
market impact are clearly disclosed to the public, to the extent consistent with other
statutory and regulatory requirements on confidentiality and disclosure;

e. A description of how Applicant’s governance arrangements are disclosed, as
appropriate, to clearing members, customers of clearing members, Applicant’s
owners, and the public, and will be disclosed to the Commission, to the extent
consistent with other statutory and regulatory requirements on confidentiality and
disclosure;

f. A description of how Applicant’s governance arrangements: (1) describe the
structure pursuant to which the Board of Directors, committees, and management
operate; (2) include clear and direct lines of responsibility and accountability; (3)
clearly specify the roles and responsibilities of the Board of Directors and its
committees, including the establishment of a clear and documented risk management
framework; and (4) clearly specify the roles and responsibilities of management;

g. A description of the procedures pursuant to which Applicant’s Board of Directors
oversees Applicant’s chief risk officer, risk management committee, and material
risk decisions;

h. A description of how Applicant provides risk management, internal control, and
internal audit personnel with sufficient independence, authority, resources, and
access to the Board of Directors so that the operations of Applicant are consistent
with its risk management framework;

i. A description of how Applicant’s governance arrangements assign responsibility and
accountability for risk decisions, including in crises and emergencies, and assign
responsibility for implementing default rules and procedures, system safeguard rules
and procedures, and as applicable, recovery and wind-down plans;

j- A description of the fitness standards applicable to members of the Board of
Directors, members of any disciplinary committee, clearing members, any other
individual or entity with direct access to settlement or clearing activities, and any
party affiliated with any of the above individuals or entities, including a description
or other documentation explaining how Applicant will collect and verify information
that supports compliance with the fitness standards and how Applicant will enforce
compliance with such standards; and
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k. A description of how Applicant will make certain that: (1) its Board of Directors
consists of suitable individuals having appropriate skills and incentives; (2) the
performance of the Board of Directors and individual directors are reviewed on a
regular basis; and (3) managers have the appropriate experience, skills, and integrity
necessary to discharge operational and risk management responsibilities.

EXHIBIT P — CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
e Attach as Exhibit P, documents that demonstrate compliance with the conflicts of interest
requirements set forth in § 39.25 of the Commission’s regulations, including but not limited to:

a. A description of Applicant’s rules to minimize conflicts of interest in its decision-
making process and how it enforces those rules;

b. A description of Applicant’s process for resolving such conflicts of interest or for
making fair and non-biased decisions in the event of a conflict of interest; and

c. A description of Applicant’s procedures for identifying, addressing, and managing
conflicts of interest involving members of its Board of Directors.

EXHIBIT Q — COMPOSITION OF GOVERNING BOARDS
e  Attach as Exhibit Q, documents that demonstrate compliance with the composition of governing
boards requirements set forth in § 39.26, including but not limited to documentation describing the
composition of Applicant’s Board of Directors, including the number of market participants.

EXHIBIT R — LEGAL RISK CONSIDERATIONS

e Attach as Exhibit R, documents that demonstrate compliance with the legal risk considerations
requirements set forth in § 39.27 of the Commission’s regulations, including but not limited to:

a. A discussion of how Applicant operates pursuant to a well-founded, transparent, and
enforceable legal framework that addresses each aspect of the activities of Applicant.
The framework must provide for Applicant to act as a counterparty, including, as
applicable:

(1)  Novation;
(2)  Netting arrangements;
(3)  Applicant’s interest in collateral (including margin);

(4)  The steps that Applicant can take to address a default of a clearing member,
including but not limited to, the unimpeded ability to liquidate collateral and
close out or transfer positions in a timely manner;

(5) Finality of settlement and funds transfers that are irrevocable and
unconditional when effected (no later than when Applicant’s accounts are
debited and credited); and

(6) Other significant aspects of Applicant’s operations, risk management
procedures, and related requirements.

b. If Applicant provides, or will provide, clearing services outside the United States,
Applicant must provide a memorandum from local counsel analyzing insolvency
issues in the foreign jurisdiction where Applicant is based, which should describe or
otherwise document:
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(1) The manner in which Applicant’s clearing rules and procedures pertaining to
customer funds (“FCM Clearing Rules”) segregate such funds, in accordance
with section 4d of the Act and the Commission’s regulations (“ring-fence”);

(2)  The basis for the conclusion that the arrangements to ring-fence customer
funds set forth in the FCM Clearing Rules would be effective, under any
relevant non-U.S. law or regulation, in the insolvency of a futures commission
merchant (“FCM”) clearing member or of the Applicant itself, including how
such customer funds would not, therefore, form part of the general estate for
distribution to the unsecured creditors of an insolvent FCM clearing member
or of the Applicant;

(3)  The basis for the conclusion that the laws of the jurisdiction in which
Applicant is domiciled and the laws of any other relevant jurisdiction (e.g.,
other jurisdictions in which customer funds may be held) support the
enforceability of the FCM Clearing Rules;

(4)  The basis for the conclusion that a local court or insolvency official in the
jurisdiction in which Applicant is domiciled (and any other relevant
jurisdiction) respect the choice of U.S. law in governing specific aspects of the
FCM Clearing Rules to determine the extent of rights that Applicant has with
respect to customer funds and be bound to follow the FCM Clearing Rules
with respect to customer funds. The memorandum should explain whether the
application of U.S. law to customer funds would contravene any public policy
in the jurisdiction in which Applicant is domiciled (or any other relevant
jurisdiction);

(5)  The basis for the conclusion that the FCM Clearing Rules are enforceable (i.c.,
the conclusion that the Applicant may take default action, pursuant to the
FCM Clearing Rules, discretely against each FCM clearing member in respect
of FCM customer accounts without interference from the law of insolvency
applicable to the FCM clearing member or to Applicant); and

(6)  The basis for the conclusion that following the default of an FCM clearing
member or of the Applicant, Applicant will be able to comply with the
provisions of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code and Commission regulations with
respect to the pro rata distribution requirements set forth therein, as well as
comply with any relevant order or direction by a U.S. court (including a
bankruptcy court) regarding the distribution of customer funds.

In all cases, the memorandum must include separate discussions of the legal analysis
and conclusions with respect to: (a) the default of the Applicant, and (b) the default
of an FCM clearing member.

[85 FR 4863, Jan. 27, 2020]
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APPENDIX B TO PART 39—SUBPART C ELECTION FORM

COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION
SUBPART C ELECTION FORM

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS: Intentional misstatements or omissions of fact may constitute
federal criminal violations (7 U.S.C. 13 and 18 U.S.C. 1001).

DEFINITIONS

Unless the context requires otherwise, all terms used in this Subpart C Election Form have the same
meaning as in the Commodity Exchange Act (“Act”), and in the General Rules and Regulations of the
Commodity Futures Trading Commission (“Commission™) thereunder. All references to Commission
regulations are found at 17 CFR Ch. I.

For purposes of this Subpart C Election Form, the term “Applicant” shall mean a derivatives clearing
organization that is filing this Subpart C Election Form with a Form DCO as part of an application for
registration as a derivatives clearing organization pursuant to section 5b of the Act and 17 CFR 39.3(a).

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS

1. Any derivatives clearing organization requesting an election to become subject to subpart C of part 39
of the Commission’s regulations must file this Subpart C Election Form. The Subpart C Election Form
includes the election to be subject to the provisions of subpart C of part 39 of the Commission’s
regulations, certain required certifications, disclosures, and exhibits, and any supplements or
amendments thereto filed pursuant to 17 CFR 39.31(b) or (c) (collectively, the “Subpart C Election
Form™).

2. Any derivatives clearing organization wishing to request an extension of up to one year to comply with
any of the provisions of 17 CFR 39.34, 17 CFR 39.35 or 17 CFR 39.39, pursuant to 17 CFR 39.34(d)
or 17 CFR 39.39(f) must do so prior to filing this Subpart C Election Form. Such requests shall
become part of this Subpart C Election Form.

3. Individuals® names, except the executing signature, shall be given in full (Last Name, First Name,
Middle Name).

4. The signatures required in this Subpart C Election Form shall be the manual signatures of a duly
authorized representative of the derivatives clearing organization as follows: If the Subpart C Election
Form is filed by a corporation, it must be signed in the name of the corporation by a principal officer
duly authorized; if filed by a limited liability company, it must be signed in the name of the limited
liability company by a manager or member duly authorized to sign on the limited liability company’s
behalf; if filed by a partnership, it must be signed in the name of the partnership by a general partner
duly authorized; if filed by an unincorporated organization or association which is not a partnership, it
must be signed in the name of such organization or association by the managing agent, i.e., a duly
authorized person who directs or manages or who participates in the directing or managing of its
affairs.

5. All applicable items must be answered in full.

6. Under section 5b of the Act and the Commission’s regulations thereunder, the Commission is
authorized to solicit the information required to be supplied by this Subpart C Election Form from any
Applicant seeking registration as a derivatives clearing organization and from any registered
derivatives clearing organization.

7. Disclosure of the information specified in this Subpart C Election Form is mandatory prior to the
processing of the election to become a derivatives clearing organization subject to the provisions of
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subpart C of part 39 of the Commission’s regulations. The Commission may determine that additional
information is required in order to process such election.

8. A Subpart C Election Form that is not prepared and executed in compliance with applicable
requirements and instructions may be returned as not acceptable for filing. Acceptance of this Subpart
C Election Form, however, shall not constitute a finding that the Subpart C Election Form is acceptable
as filed or that the information is true, current or complete.

9. As provided in 17 CFR 39.31(d), except in cases where a derivatives clearing organization submits a
request for confidential treatment with the Secretary of the Commission pursuant to the Freedom of
Information Act and 17 CFR 145.9, information supplied in this Subpart C Election Form will be
included routinely in the public files of the Commission and will be made available for inspection by
any interested person.

APPLICATION AMENDMENTS

1. 17 CFR 39.31(b)(3) and (c)(4) require a derivatives clearing organization that has submitted a Subpart
C Election Form to promptly amend its Subpart C Election Form if it discovers a material omission or
error in, or if there is a material change in, the information provided to the Commission in the Subpart
C Election Form or other information provided in connection with the Subpart C Election Form.

2. When amending a Subpart C Election Form, a derivatives clearing organization must re-file the
Election and Certifications page, amended if necessary, and including all required executing
signatures, and attach thereto revised exhibits or other materials marked to show changes, as
applicable.

WHERE TO FILE

1. This Subpart C Election Form must be filed electronically with the Secretary of the Commission in the
format and manner specified by the Commission.

2. Any supplemental information must be filed electronically with the Division of Clearing and Risk, or
any successor division, in the format and manner specified by the Commission.
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COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION

SUBPART C ELECTION FORM

ELECTION AND CERTIFICATIONS

Exact Name of the Derivatives Clearing Organization
(as set forth in its charter, if an Applicant,
or as set forth in its most recent order of registration, if registered with the Commission)

Check here and complete sections 1 and 3 below, if the organization is an Applicant.

Check here and complete sections 2 and 3 below, if the organization currently is registered with
the Commission as a derivatives clearing organization.

The derivatives clearing organization named above hereby elects to become subject to the provisions
of subpart C of part 39 of the Commission’s regulations in the event that the Commission approves its
application for registration as a derivatives clearing organization.

The derivatives clearing organization and the undersigned each certify that, in the event that the
Commission approves the derivatives clearing organization’s application for registration and permits
its election to become subject to subpart C of part 39 of the Commission’s regulations:

a. The derivatives clearing organization will be in compliance with such regulations as of the
date set forth in the notice thereof provided by the Commission pursuant to 17 CFR
39.31(c)(2), except to the limited extent that the Commission has granted the derivatives
clearing organization an extension of time to comply with: (1) specified provisions of 17
CFR 39.34, pursuant to 17 CFR 39.34(d); and/or (2) specified provisions of 17 CFR 39.35
and/or 17 CFR 39.39, pursuant to 17 CFR 39.39(f);

b. The derivatives clearing organization will be in compliance with all provisions of 17 CFR
39.34, 39.35 and/or 39.39 for which the Commission, pursuant to 17 CFR 39.34(d) and/or 17
CFR 39.39(f), has granted an extension of time to comply in accordance with the terms of
such extensions; and

c. The derivatives clearing organization will remain in compliance with the provisions contained
in subpart C of part 39 of the Commission’s regulations until this election is rescinded
pursuant to 17 CFR 39.31(e).

By:

Name of Derivatives Clearing Organization

Manual Signature of Duly Authorized Person

Print Name and Title of Signatory
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2. The derivatives clearing organization named above hereby elects to become subject to the provisions
of subpart C of part 39 of the Commission’s regulations as of:

(“Effective Date™)
[insert date, which must be at least 10 business days after the date this Subpart C Election Form is
filed with the Commission].

The derivatives clearing organization and the undersigned each certify that:

a. As of the Effective Date set forth above, the derivatives clearing organization shall be in
compliance with subpart C of part 39 of the Commission’s regulations, except to the limited
extent that the Commission has granted the derivatives clearing organization an extension of
time to comply with: (1) specified provisions of 17 CFR 39.34, pursuant to 17 CFR 39.34(d);
and/or (2) specified provisions of 17 CFR 39.35 and/or 17 CFR 39.39, pursuant to 17 CFR
39.39(f):

b. The derivatives clearing organization will be in compliance with all provisions of 17 CFR
39.34, 39.35 and/or 39.39 for which the Commission, pursuant to 17 CFR 39.34(d) and/or 17
CFR 39.39(f), has granted an extension of time to comply in accordance with the terms of
such extensions; and

c. The derivatives clearing organization will remain in compliance with provisions contained in
subpart C of part 39 of the Commission’s regulations until this election is rescinded pursuant
to 17 CFR 39.31(e).

Name of Derivatives Clearing Organization

By:

Manual Signature of Duly Authorized Person

Print Name and Title of Signatory

%)

The derivatives clearing organization named above has duly caused this Subpart C Election Form
(which includes, as an integral part thereof, the Election and Certifications and all Disclosures and
Exhibits) to be signed on its behalf by its duly authorized representative as of the day of
, 20 . The derivatives clearing organization and the
undersigned each represent hereby that, to the best of their knowledge, all information contained in this
Subpart C Election Form is true, current and complete in all material respects. It is understood that all
required items including, without limitation, the Election and Certifications and Disclosures and
Exhibits, are considered integral parts of this Subpart C Election Form.

Name of Derivatives Clearing Organization
By:

Manual Signature of Duly Authorized Person

Print Name and Title of Signatory
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COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION
PART 39, SUBPART C ELECTION FORM

DISCLOSURES AND EXHIBITS

Each derivatives clearing organization that requests an election to become subject to the provisions set forth
in subpart C of part 39 of the Commission’s regulations shall provide the Disclosures and Exhibits set forth
below:

DISCLOSURES:

The derivatives clearing organization shall publish on its website in a readily identifiable location, the
following documents that are required to be completed pursuant to 17 CFR 39.37:

1. The derivatives clearing organization’s responses to the Disclosure Framework for Financial
Market Infrastructures (“Disclosure Framework™), published by the Committee on Payments and
Market Infrastructure (“CPMI”) and the Board of the International Organization of Securities
Commissions (“IOSCO”). The derivatives clearing organization’s responses must be completed
in accordance with section 2.0 and Annex A of the Disclosure Framework and must fully explain
how the derivatives clearing organization observes the Principles for Financial Market
Infrastructures (“PFMIs”) published by CPMI-IOSCO.

Provide the URL to the specific page on the derivatives clearing organization’s website
where its responses to the Disclosure Framework may be found:

2. The most recent quantitative disclosure prepared by the derivatives clearing organization that
satisfies the Public Quantitative Disclosure Standards for Central Counterparties published by
CPMI-IOSCO (“Quantitative Disclosure™).

If applicable, provide the URL to the specific page on the derivatives clearing organization’s
website where its Quantitative Disclosure may be found:

EXHIBITS:
EXHIBIT INSTRUCTIONS:

1. The derivatives clearing organization must include a Table of Contents listing each Exhibit
required by this Subpart C Election Form.

2. If the derivatives clearing organization is an Applicant, in its Form DCO, the derivatives clearing
organization may summarize such information and provide a cross-reference to the Exhibit in this
Subpart C Election Form that contains the required information.
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The derivatives clearing organization shall provide the following Exhibits to this Subpart C Election Form:
EXHIBIT A - COMPLIANCE WITH SUBPART C

Attach, as Exhibit A, a regulatory compliance chart that sets forth citations to the relevant rules,
policies, and procedures of the derivatives clearing organization that address §§ 39.32-39.39 of the
Commission’s regulations and a narrative summary of the manner in which the derivatives
clearing organization will comply with each regulation.

The narrative summary shall: (a) specifically and meaningfully explain the manner in which the
derivatives clearing organization will comply with each such regulation; (b) sufficiently integrate
references to documents contained in the exhibits to this Subpart C Election Form to clearly
convey the derivatives clearing organization’s policies and procedures with respect to each
regulation; and (c) readily identify within such exhibits those derivatives clearing organization
rules and governing documents that support the certifications set forth in this Subpart C Election
Form. The narrative summary may be included as part of the compliance chart required by
Exhibit A or a separate document within Exhibit A.

All citations and compliance summaries shall be separated by individual regulation and shall be
clearly labeled with the corresponding regulation.

EXHIBIT B — FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Attach, as Exhibit B, information and documents that demonstrate compliance with the financial
resource requirements set forth in § 39.33 of the Commission’s regulations, including but not
limited to:

a. Valuation of financial resources — Attach as Exhibit B-1, a demonstration that
assessments for additional guaranty fund contributions (i.e., guaranty fund contributions
that are not prefunded) are not included in calculating the financial resources available to
meet the derivatives clearing organization’s obligations under § 39.33(a) or § 39.11(a)(1).

b. Liquidity resources — Attach as Exhibit B-2, a demonstration that the derivatives clearing
organization maintains eligible liquidity resources as required under § 39.33(c).

c. Liquidity providers — Attach as Exhibit B-3, a demonstration that the derivatives clearing
organization’s liquidity providers meet the requirements as set forth in § 39.33(d).

d. Documentation of financial resources and liquidity resources — Attach as Exhibit B-4, a
demonstration that the derivatives clearing organization documents its supporting
rationale for, and has appropriate governance arrangements relating to, the amount of
total financial resources it maintains pursuant to § 39.33(a) and the amount of total
liquidity resources it maintains pursuant to § 39.33(c).

EXHIBIT C - SYSTEM SAFEGUARDS

Attach, as Exhibit C, information and documents that demonstrate compliance with the system
safeguards requirements set forth in § 39.34 of the Commission’s regulations, including but not
limited to:

a. Attach as Exhibit C-1, a demonstration that, notwithstanding § 39.18(c)(2), the business
continuity and disaster recovery plan described in § 39.18(c)(1) and the physical,
technological, and personnel resources described in § 39.18(c)(1) enable the derivatives
clearing organization to recover its operations and resume daily processing, clearing, and
settlement no later than two hours following the disruption, for any disruption including a
wide-scale disruption.
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b. Attach as Exhibit C-2, a demonstration that the derivatives clearing organization
maintains a degree of geographic dispersal of physical, technological and personnel
resources consistent with the requirements set forth in § 39.34(b).

c. Attach as Exhibit C-3, a demonstration that the derivatives clearing organization
conducts regular, periodic tests of its business continuity and disaster recovery plans and
resources and its capacity to achieve the required recovery time objective in the event of
a wide-scale disruption, and that the provisions of § 39.18(e) apply to such testing.

EXHIBIT D — DEFAULT RULES AND PROCEDURES FOR UNCOVERED LOSSES OR
SHORTFALLS

Attach, as Exhibit D, information and documents that demonstrate compliance with the
requirements for default rules and procedures for uncovered losses or shortfalls set forth in § 39.35
of the Commission’s regulations, including but not limited to:

a. Allocation of uncovered credit losses — Attach as Exhibit D-1, a demonstration that the
derivatives clearing organization has explicit rules and procedures that address fully any
loss arising from any individual or combined default relating to any clearing member’s
obligations to the derivatives clearing organization.

b. Allocation of uncovered liquidity shortfalls — Attach as Exhibit D-2, a demonstration that
the derivatives clearing organization has established rules and/or procedures that enable it
to promptly meet all of its settlement obligations, on a same day and, as appropriate,
intraday and multiday basis, in the context of the occurrence of the scenarios set forth in
§ 39.35(b)(1)(i) and (ii). The derivatives clearing organization must demonstrate how
such rules and procedures comply with the requirements of § 39.35(b)(2).

EXHIBIT E - RISK MANAGEMENT

Attach, as Exhibit E, information and documents that demonstrate compliance with the risk
management requirements set forth in § 39.36 of the Commission’s regulations, including but not
limited to:

a. Stress tests of financial resources — Attach as Exhibit E-1, a demonstration that the
derivatives clearing organization conducts stress tests of its financial resources in
accordance with the standards and practices set forth in § 39.36(a);

b. Sensitivity analysis of margin model — Attach as Exhibit E-2, a demonstration that the
derivatives clearing organization conducts on a monthly basis or more frequently as
appropriate, a sensitivity analysis of its margin models to analyze and monitor model
performance and overall margin coverage. The derivatives clearing organization shall
demonstrate that the sensitivity analysis is conducted on both actual and hypothetical
positions and in accordance with the requirements set forth in § 39.36(b)(2) and (3);

c. Stress tests of liquidity resources — Attach as Exhibit E-3, a demonstration that the
derivatives clearing organization conducts stress tests of its liquidity resources in
accordance with the standards and practices set forth in § 39.36(c);

d. Theoretical and empirical properties — Attach as Exhibit E-4, a demonstration that the
derivatives clearing organization conducts an assessment of the theoretical and empirical
properties of its margin model for all products it clears;

e. Validation — Attach as Exhibit E-5, a demonstration that the derivatives clearing
organization conducts on an annual basis, a full validation of its financial risk
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management model and its liquidity risk management model in accordance with the
requirements set forth in § 39.36(e);

f. Custody and investment risk — Attach as Exhibit E-6, a demonstration that the custody
and investment arrangements of the derivatives clearing organization’s own funds and
assets are subject to the same requirements as those specified in § 39.15 for the funds
and assets of clearing members, and apply to the derivatives clearing organization’s own
funds and assets to the same extent as if such funds and assets belonged to clearing
members; and

g. Settlement banks — Attach as Exhibit E-7, a demonstration that the derivatives clearing
organization, monitors, manages, and limits its credit and liquidity risks arising from its
settlement banks; establishes and monitors adherence to strict criteria for its settlement
banks that take account of, among other things, their regulation and supervision,
creditworthiness, capitalization, access to liquidity, and operational reliability; and
monitors and manages the concentration of credit and liquidity exposures to its settlement
banks.

EXHIBIT F — RECOVERY AND WIND-DOWN

Attach, as Exhibit F, information and documents that demonstrate compliance with the recovery
and wind-down requirements set forth in § 39.39 of the Commission’s regulations, including but
not limited to:

a. Recovery and wind-down plans — Attach as Exhibit F-1, a demonstration that the
derivatives clearing organization has separate plans that set forth in detail: recovery or
orderly wind-down, necessitated by uncovered credit losses or liquidity shortfalls, and
recovery or orderly wind-down, necessitated by general business risk, operational risk, or
any other risk that threatens the derivatives clearing organization’s viability as a going
concern. The demonstration shall also include how the plans comply with the
requirements of §39.39(c).

b. Financial resources to support recovery — Attach as Exhibit F-2, a narrative summary
that demonstrates how the financial statements filed with the Commission pursuant to §§
39.11 and 39.33 demonstrate that the derivatives clearing organization maintains
sufficient unencumbered liquid financial assets, funded by the equity of its owners, to
implement its recovery or wind-down plans. The narrative summary shall include a
description of how the derivatives clearing organization complies with the requirements
of § 39.39(d).

¢. Additional financial resources — Attach as Exhibit F-3, a demonstration that the
derivatives clearing organization maintains viable plans for raising additional financial
resources as required under § 39.39(e).

[85 FR 4891, Jan. 27, 2020]
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